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Before subscribing for Shares, each investor will be required to confirm that they have received the relevant key investor information documents (“KIID”).

The KIIDs and the latest annual and any semi-annual reports of the ICAV are available to download on the website.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Board of Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2024

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is pleased to present the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements of JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV (the “Fund”)
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Board of Directors

Lorcan Murphy (Independent Non-Executive Director, Chair and Irish resident. A member of the Board since July 2017) is an Independent Non-Executive
Director and marketing and distribution consultant for a number of Irish and UK companies providing 20 years’ knowledge of global mutual funds, spanning
operational management, risk management, compliance, product development and asset gathering. He is former Head of Private Wealth, EMEA and former
Head of Pooled Funds Group with Barclays Global Investors Ltd. Mr Murphy has been admitted to the Institute of Chartered Accountantsin Ireland and has a
Bachelor of Business Science degree (Economics major) from Trinity College Dublin.

Samantha McConnell (Independent Non-Executive Director and Irish resident. A member of the Board since April 2020) has over 25 years’ experience in the
investment and pensions industry covering administration, investment services, change and integration management. She now acts as a full time
independent, non-executive director on a wide range of Boards including fund, MiFID, AIFIM and SuperManco entities both in Ireland and Europe. She is the
chair of a number of entities including a Super Manco and a MIFID entity. Ms McConnell was previously a non-executive director for CFA Ireland and was also
executive director of Willis Human Capital & Benefits (Willis Towers Watson’s MiFID regulated entity in Ireland).

Ms McConnell holds a first-class honours degree in commerce from University College Dublin and graduated first in Ireland in the ACCA exams. She is a CFA
Charterholder, a holder of the Institute of Directors Diploma in Company Direction where she graduated first in UK & Ireland and was awarded the Graduate
of Merit award from the Institute of Directors as well as the LIA’s Pension Trustee Practitioner Gold Medal.

Stephen Pond (Connected Non-Executive Director. A member of the Board since September 2024) is the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Administrative
Officer of EMEA, JPMorgan Asset Management, as well as the business manager for the EMEA Sales business. He joined JPMorgan Asset Management in New
Yorkin 2004 and moved to London in 2007. Prior to joining JPMorgan Asset Management, he was an analyst on the JPMorgan Chase corporate management
training programme, having first joined the company as an intern in 2001. Mr Pond has been a CFA charterholder since 2009 and holds a BA in Economics
from the College of William and Mary in Williamsburg, VA, USA.

Travis Spence (Connected Non-executive Director. A member of the Board since September 2024) is the Global Head of ETFs at JPMorgan Asset
Management, and is also a member of EMEA Sales Leadership. Prior to this role, Mr. Spence was the International Head of the Fixed Income Investment
Specialist team, responsible for insights, product development and fixed income portfolios across EMEA and Asia. Mr Spence has lived in New York,
Singapore, Hong Kong, and London, and worked across the Asia region for 20 years. With over 18 years at JPMorgan Asset Management, Mr Spence built and
led the short-term fixed income business in Asia, oversaw its largest distribution relationships in Asia, served on a variety of regional and global
management committees and has been involved in the firm’s sustainability efforts since 2016. Prior to joining JPMorgan, Mr Spence spent 10 years in the
Corporate & Investment Bank at Citi.

Bronwyn Wright (Independent Non-Executive Director and Irish resident. A member of the Board since July 2017) is a former Managing Director for a global
financial institution, having worked in Capital Markets and Banking, where she was Head of Securities and Fund Services for Ireland with responsibility for the
management, growth and strategic direction of the securities and fund services business which included funds, custody, security finance and global agency
and trust. Due to her role in managing, leading and growing the European fiduciary business, Ms Wright has extensive knowledge of regulatory requirements
and best market practice in the UK, Luxembourg, Jersey and Ireland. She has sat and chaired the boards of the applicable legal vehicles for the fiduciary
businesses in each jurisdiction. Due to her engagement in due diligence exercises she also understands the Nordics, Germany and Asia. She has also been
engaged in pre-acquisition due diligence in Asia and led a post-acquisition integration across EMEA.

Ms Wright holds a degree in Economics and Politics as well as a Masters degree in Economics from University College Dublin. Ms Wright is past chairperson of
the Irish Funds Industry Association Committee for Trustee Services. Ms Wright has contributed to the Irish Funds educational development in various
capacities, including co-author of a Diploma in Mutual Funds, virtual web based lectures in financial services and as part of an executive committee for a PhD
finance programme. She has written numerous industry articles and chairs and participates in industry seminars in Europe and the US.

Structure of the Fund

The Fund is a variable capital investment company, organised as an “Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicle (“ICAV”)”, under the laws of Ireland. The
Board has appointed JPMorgan Asset Management (Europe) S.a r.l. (“JPMAME”) as Management Company of the Fund. The Fund is organised as an
“umbrella” with a number of Sub-Funds each of which has its own investment objective, policies and restrictions.

The Fund was authorised as an ICAV by the Central Bank of Ireland (“Central Bank” or “CBI”) on 18 July 2017.

The objective of the ICAV is the collective investment in transferable securities and/or other liquid financial assets of capital raised from the public, operating
on the principle of risk spreading in accordance with the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities)
Regulations 2011 (as amended) (the “UCITS Regulations”).

The Fund qualifies as an Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (“UCITS”) under the EC Directive 2009/65/EC of 13 July 2009 and is
subject to the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 (the “ICAV Act”) and the UCITS Regulations. The Fund may therefore be offered for sale in
European Union Member States, subject to notification in countries other than Ireland. In addition, applications to register the Fund and its Sub-Funds may
be made in other countries.

As of 31 December 2024, the Fund comprises 49 Sub-Funds, with 45 being active and 4 which had not launched by year end. All of the Sub-Funds and Share
Classes are registered for offer and distribution in Ireland and a number of the Sub-Funds and Share Classes are registered for distribution in the following
jurisdictions: Austria, Belgium, Croatia, Chile, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Italy, Liechtenstein,
Luxembourg, The Netherlands, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Singapore, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom.

Certain share classes of all 45 Sub-Funds, are listed on one or more of the following exchanges: Euronext Dublin, Lima Stock Exchange, London Stock
Exchange, Borsa Italiana, Deutsche Borse, Six Swiss Exchange, Mexican Stock Exchange (BMV) and Cboe Europe.

Role and Responsibility of the Board of Directors

The Directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and the ICAV Act, the UCITS
Regulations and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as adopted by the European Union.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that accounting records as outlined in Sections 109-113 of the ICAV Act are kept by the Fund. To achieve this,
JPMAME have appointed Brown Brothers Harriman Fund Administration Services (Ireland) Limited as administrator of the Fund (the “Administrator”). The
accounting records are maintained at the offices of the Administrator at 30 Herbert Street, Dublin 2, Ireland.

The ICAV Act requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the ICAV Act, the Directors have elected to prepare the
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. The Directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Sub-Funds as of the
financial year end date, and of the profit or loss of the Sub-Funds for the financial year, and otherwise comply with the ICAV Act.
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In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:
select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

state whether they have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, identify those standards, and note the effect and the
reasons for any material departure from those standards; and

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Fund will continue in business.

The financial statements are published on the Management Company’s website. The Directors, together with the Management Company, are responsible for
the maintenance and integrity of the financial information included on this website. Legislation in Ireland governing the presentation and dissemination of
the financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring the maintenance of adequate accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any given time, the
assets, liabilities, financial position, and profit or loss of the Sub-Funds, and which enables them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the ICAV
Act and the UCITS Regulations. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Fund. In
this regard they have entrusted the assets of the Fund to Brown Brothers Harriman Trustee Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Depositary”) for safe-keeping.
The Directors have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The
Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report that complies with the requirements of the ICAV Act.

Board Governance

A management agreement between the Fund and JPMAME sets out the matters delegated by the Board to the Management Company. This includes
management of the Fund’s assets and the provision of administration, registration, domiciliation agent and marketing services. All other matters are
reserved for approval by the Board and a schedule clarifying the matters reservedisin place between the Board and the Management Company. The matters
reserved for the Board include determination of each Sub-Fund’s investment objective and policies, investment restrictions and powers, amendments to the
Prospectus and Supplements, reviewing and approving key investment and financial data, including the annual accounts, and appointing and reviewing the
services provided by the Management Company, Auditor and Depositary.

Prior to each Board meeting the Directors receive detailed and timely information allowing them to prepare for the items under discussion during the
meeting. For each quarterly meeting, the Board requests, and receives reports from the Management Company, the investment managers and risk
management, as well as proposals for changes to existing Sub-Funds or proposals to launch new ones, as appropriate. Senior representatives from each of
these functions attend Board meetings by invitation to enable the Directors to question the reports presented to them.

The Directors take decisions in the interests of the Fund and its shareholders as a whole, and refrain from taking part in any deliberation or decision which
creates a conflict of interest between their personal interests and those of the Fund and its shareholders. The subject of conflicts of interest is documented in
the Prospectus and the Management Company’s policy on conflicts of interest is available for inspection on the website:
https://am.jpmorgan.com/content/dam/jpm-am-aem/emea/lu/en/communications/lux-communication/conflicts-of-interest-ce-en.pdf

The Board can take independent professional advice if necessary and at the Fund’s expense.

Board Composition

The Board is chaired by Mr Murphy and currently consists of three Independent Non-Executive Directors and two Connected Non-Executive Directors. The
Board defines a Connected Non-Executive Director as someone who is employed by JPMorgan Chase & Co. or any of its affiliates, but who is not directly
involved in the primary business of the Fund, which in this case is investment management, and an Independent Non-Executive Director as someone who is
free of any business, family or other relationship with the Fund or JPMorgan Chase & Co. or any of its affiliates.

In appointing a Director the Board takes into account the relative mix and composition of the Board, which as a whole has a breadth of investment
knowledge, financial skills, as well as other experience relevant to the Fund’s business.

The Board does not limit the number of years a Director may serve, but it does take into account the nature and requirements of the fund industry and of the
Fund’s business when appointing Directors. The terms each Director’s appointment are set out in a letter of appointment.

At the Board Meeting on 18 June 2024 the Directors resolved to appoint Mr Stephen Pond and Mr Travis Spence as Connected Non-Executive Directors. Their
appointments became effective, following regulatory approval from the Central Bank, on 25 September 2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively.

Mr Daniel Watkins resigned from the Board, effective 29 November 2024.

Induction and Training

All new Directors receive an induction incorporating relevant information regarding the Fund and their duties and responsibilities as a Director. In addition,
the Board actively keeps up to date with developments relevant to the Fund and has ensured that a formal training programme is in place.

Board Evaluation
The Board carries out an annual review of its performance, which is formally documented each year.

Board Remuneration

The Board believes that the remuneration of its members should reflect the responsibilities and experience of the Board as a whole and be fair and
appropriate given the size, complexity and investment objectives of the Fund. The remunerationis reviewed on an annual basis. The Chair is paid EUR 54,000
and the other Directors EUR 48,000 per annum. The Connected Non-Executive Directors have agreed to waive their remuneration. No element of the
remuneration paid by the Fund to the Directors is performance related.

Board Meetings and Committees

The Board meets quarterly but if necessary additional meetings will be arranged. Given the scope and nature of the business of the Fund, the Board does not
consider it necessary to have a formal Audit or Remuneration Committee, or indeed any other standing committees. However, this is kept under review. All
Board related matters are therefore currently approved by the Board or, where there are specific matters that need further consideration, a Sub-Committee
of the Board may be formed for that specific purpose. Such circumstances could be where the Board requests amendments to the Prospectus and where it is
not appropriate to wait until the next quarterly Board meeting for approval. These Sub-Committee meetings typically consist of a minimum of two Directors.

There were seven Board meetings held during the year. Four of these were quarterly Board meetings where, amongst other matters, the agenda included
items highlighted under the section titled “Role and Responsibility of the Board of Directors.” The remainder were ad hoc Board meetings.
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Internal Control

Investment management and all administrative services are provided by the Management Company or its delegates, and custody of assets is provided by the
Depositary. The Board’s system of internal control therefore primarily comprises monitoring the services provided by the Management Company and the
Depositary. This includes the operational and compliance controls established by them to meet the Fund’s obligations to shareholders as set out in the
Prospectus, Instrument of Incorporation, and all relevant regulations. The Management Company formally reports to the Board on a quarterly basis on the
various activities it is responsible for and in addition shall inform the Board without delay of any material administrative or accounting matters.

Corporate Governance and Irish Funds Industry Association Code of Conduct

The Board is responsible for ensuring a high level of corporate governance and considers that the Fund has complied with the best practices in the Irish funds
industry and the Listing Rules of Euronext Dublin, the London Stock Exchange, Borsa Italiana, Deutsche Borse, the Six Swiss Exchange, Mexican Stock
Exchange (BMV) and Choe Europe, where applicable.

In particular, the Board has adopted the Irish Funds Industry Association Corporate Governance Code for Collective Investment Schemes and Management
Companies (the “Code”) which sets provisions on good governance in the following areas:

Composition of the Board

Chairperson

Independent Directors

Role of the Board

Appointments

Meetings

Reserved Powers

Compliance

. Delegates

10. Risk Management, Audit, Control & Compliance

000N OO W N

The Board considers that the Fund has been in compliance with the principles of the Code in all material aspects throughout the financial year ended
31 December 2024. The Board will undertake an annual review of ongoing compliance with the Code.

The Code can be obtained from the Irish Funds website at
https://files.irishfunds.ie/1432820468-corporate-governance-code-for-collective-investment-schemes-and-management-companies.pdf

Proxy Voting Policy

The Board delegates responsibility for proxy voting to the Management Company. The Management Company manages the voting rights of the shares
entrusted in a prudent and diligent manner, based exclusively on the reasonable judgement of what will best serve the financial interests of clients. As far as
practicable, the Management Company will vote at all of the meetings called by companies in which they are invested.

A copy of the J.P. Morgan Asset Management Global Proxy Voting Policy is available from the Fund’s registered office upon request or on the website:
https://am.jpmorgan.com/content/dam/jpm-am-aem/global/en/institutional/communications/lux-communication/corporate-governance-principles-an
d-voting-guidelines.pdf

Directors and Officers Indemnity Insurance

The Fund’s Instrument of Incorporation indemnifies the Directors against expenses reasonably incurred in connection with any claim against them arising in
the course of their duties or responsibilities, provided they have not acted fraudulently or dishonestly. To protect shareholders against any such claim, the
Board has taken out Directors and Officers Indemnity Insurance, which indemnifies the Directors against certain liabilities arising in the course of their duties
and responsibilities, but does not cover against any negligent, fraudulent or dishonest actions on their part.

Review of Performance and Fund Business
As at the year end, the Fund’s net assets amounted to USD 37.3 billion.
A review of the Fund’s performance and activities for the year ended 31 December 2024 is included in the Investment Manager’s Report.

Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The principal risks faced by the Fund are the investment risks associated with the portfolio of investments of each of the Sub-Funds and the operational risks
associated with their management and administration.

The main risks of the Sub-Funds and the policies and procedures to manage financial risks are outlined in Note 10.

Directors’ Interests in Shares of the Fund
No Director, nor the Company Secretary, had any beneficial interest in the shares of the Fund during the year.

Other than as disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements, there were no contracts or agreements of any significance in relation to the business of the
Fund in which the Directors had any interest, as defined in the ICAV Act, at any time during the year.

Transactions with Connected Persons

The UCITS Regulations require that any transaction carried out with the Fund by a manager or depositary to the UCITS, the delegates or sub-delegates of the
manager or depositary, and any associated or group companies of such a manager, depositary, delegate or sub-delegate (“connected persons”) must be
carried out as if negotiated at arm’s length. Transactions must be in the best interests of the shareholders.

The Directors are satisfied that there are arrangements (evidenced by written procedures) in place, to ensure that the obligations set out in Regulation 41(1)
of the Central Bank UCITS Regulations are applied to all transactions with connected persons, and are also satisfied that transactions with connected parties
entered into during the year complied with these obligations.

The connected persons are the Management Company and the Investment Manager; the Administrator and the Depositary. The relevant fees charged by
these connected persons are detailed in Note 12.
Key Performance Indicators

The key performance indicators monitored for each Sub-Fund include the performance of the Sub-Funds and compliance with investment restrictions and
risk limits. The performance of the Sub-Funds is reviewed in the Investment Manager’s Reports on pages 6 to 11.
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Distributions
All distributions declared for the Sub-Funds during the year are disclosed in Note 13.

Employees
The Fund had no employees during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Future Developments
The Fund will continue to act as an investment vehicle as set out in the Prospectus.

Independent Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors, were appointed in accordance with the ICAV Act and have expressed their
willingness to continue in office.

Annual General Meeting

The Board have exercised their discretion and dispensed with annual general meetings in accordance with the ICAV Act and the Fund’s Instrument of
Incorporation.

Privacy Policy

The Management Company complies with a privacy policy that has been issued by J.P. Morgan Asset Management, which can be accessed at
Www.jpmorgan.com/emea-privacy-policy. This policy has been updated to comply with the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”).
Environmental Social Governance (“ESG”)

In accordance with Article 11(1) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088, for financial products promoting environmental or social characteristics and objectives,
details of these are shown in Appendix 7.

Significant events

Please refer to Notes 19 and 20 and to Appendix 6 for details of the significant events during the year and after the year end.

On behalf of the Board

Lorcan Murphy Bronwyn Wright
Director Director
Date: 22 April 2025 Date: 22 April 2025
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF

In 2024, the European Central Bank (ECB) initiated an easing cycle, cutting rates by a full percentage point to stimulate growth amid manufacturing
challenges and weakening consumer demand. The Eurozone showed early signs of recovery with increased economic activity and a resilient labour market,
but persistent inflation, especially in services, led to a cautious monetary policy. Growth risks intensified as manufacturing weakness spread to services,
compounded by political uncertainties in France and Germany. Despite these challenges, the ECB’s rate cuts were expected to mitigate declining growth
impacts. Corporate fundamentals in Europe mirrored the US recovery path, with banks showing stability due to strong capital and liquidity, while
non-financials faced sector-specific challenges, particularly in consumer and auto sectors. The IG market experienced strong demand, driven by retail
inflows and favourable yields, with significant EUR-denominated debt issuance. IG credit spreads tightened, with banks outperforming industrials, making
the European market attractive compared to the US.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF

Inthe US, economic resilience is highlighted by solid consumer spending and a recovering labour market, providing a positive outlook despite mixed signals.
The Federal Reserve’s recent rate cut reflects a cautious yet supportive monetary policy, with corporate fundamentals remaining robust. While some sectors
face challenges from regulatory pressures, technical conditions support stable spreads, and investor demand for high-quality credits remains strong. US
credit spreads are well-behaved despite record issuance, indicating stability.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF

The year 2024 was a dynamic year for Asia Pacific equities, characterised by a mix of economic optimism, geopolitical tensions and policy shifts. While the
year began positively, with strong US economic growth supporting Asian equities, geopolitical conflicts, increased trade tensions and policy uncertainties
following the recent US presidential election weighed on investor sentiment and resulted in capital outflows as the year progressed. Despite these
challenges, significant policy announcements, including China’s stimulus measures, provided a measure of short-term respite.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF

While the onshore Chinese market delivered double digit returns in 2024 in USD terms, the headline number obscures the extent to which the gains were
condensed within a brief period in the third quarter. The year as a whole was characterised by the failure of the economy to reignite; a series of policy
interventions which aimed to stabilise the situation but which were often subdued; and the way in which that tussle impacted investor sentiment.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF

In 2024, the MSCI Emerging Markets Index (EM) achieved positive returns of 7.5% in USD terms, though this was a decrease from the 9.8% gain in 2023. This
performance was overshadowed by the impressive rise in U.S. equities, as U.S. exceptionalism continued for another year. The primary drag on emerging
markets occurred in the fourth quarter of 2024, which erased the strong gains from the third quarter. Despite the Federal Reserve beginning to ease
monetary policy in the third quarter and incremental stimulus efforts in China, emerging markets struggled to maintain their performance. This was due to a
combination of global challenges, such as a strong U.S. dollar and trade war concerns, as well as domestic issues in regions like Latin America, China and
Korea. These challenges were further exacerbated following the Trump victory, impacting market sentiment.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF

Japanese markets experienced a year of growth driven by foreign investment and continued improvement in corporate governance. The market had been
buoyed by macro tailwinds such as yen weakness, US rate expectations, corporate governance reforms and wage inflation. In August, the market saw a sharp
decline (around 25%) fromits high on the back of the BoJ's interest rate hike, concerns surrounding a U.S. economic downturn due to weak U.S. employment
dataand the resulting unwinding of short positions on the yen. Soon after this, the Japanese stock market stabilised, but uncertainties surrounding domestic
politics and the U.S. presidential election, led the market to remain range-bound for the latter part of the year.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF

In 2024, risk assets performed impressively overall, led by the resilient theme of economic exceptionalism in the US and further enhanced by emerging
market equities amidst a late rally in Chinese stocks and strong results from India and Taiwan. The picture across other major regions looked significantly
weaker; European economic momentum was hurt by limited exposure to Al, poor performance of the manufacturing sector and political turmoil. Both global
value and growth stocks performed well but strong US mega cap tech performance saw growth stocks dominate for the second consecutive year. However,
US economic momentum did begin to feed through into a broadening of earnings expectations, which is set to continue in 2025. Developed market central
banks largely began normalising policy in 2024, though resilient growth and sticky inflation saw markets par back rate cut expectations, particularly in the
us.

The Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF slightly outperformed its benchmark index. Meanwhile, performance relative to the broader developed market
index was challenged, primarily driven by a relative underweight to the strongly performing technology sector.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF

2024 saw US economic performance decouple from the other major regions. Despite concerns over the summer, US economic exceptionalism remained
largely intact. GDP growth averaged 2.6% quarter on quarter annualised over the first three quarters of 2024. The S&P 500 was the top performing equity
market with returns of 25%, and while the ‘Magnificent Seven’ artificial intelligence (Al) stocks still delivered outsized returns, economic momentum did feed
through into a broadening of earnings expectations which is set to continue in 2025.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF

The Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF delivered positive returns in 2024, consistent with the strong returns seen across global developed
equity markets. Performance remained in line with the benchmark though underperformed the broad market. Securities held in the healthcare and
consumer discretionary sectors contributed positively to performance. Relative to the broader market, stock selection within the information technology
and consumer staples sectors detracted over the year. With the rate cutting cycle not beginning until late into the year, leaning into companies aligned to
renewable energy detracted from performance amidst the higher for longer interest rate environment.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF

Despite a weak start to 2024, as China grappled with falling property prices and weak consumer confidence, Chinese equities ended the year in positive
territory following the announcement of the Chinese stimulus package in September. Against this backdrop, the Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS
ETF was positive in 2024, though marginally underperformed its tracking index and the broader Chinese market. From a relative performance perspective,
security selectionin the industrials, healthcare and financials sectors contributed strongly to performance. By contrast, stock selection in the real estate and
consumer staples sectors were the main detractors from performance.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF

Equity markets performed strongly across 2024, as US mega-cap technology stocks continued to dominate. The Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF showed
promising performance, despite being underweight to US mega-cap technology stocks given their misalignment to the theme, outperforming the broad
market index for much of 2024. However, the final quarter of the year proved challenging as performance was adversely impacted by the news of Trump’s
re-election. We saw continued strong performance from companies in the sustainable construction theme, such as insulation companies that benefitted
from high energy prices. Electrification companies focused on technological innovation also delivered strong performance in 2024, further helped by
continued policy support. Sustainable agricultural names remained challenged as commodity prices dampened.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - USD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF

The EUR, GBP and USD ultra-short income ETFs outperformed their benchmarks gross of fees in 2024. All three strategies benefitted from a tightening in
credit spreads. The EUR and USD strategies also benefitted from their ability to actively extend duration beyond that of a money market fund and their
benchmarks, up to a maximum of one year. Their active duration management in a volatile yield environment helped them to outperform. Looking forward,
we expect further rate cuts from central banks in 2025 and believe active duration management will remain key to generating outperformance as market
pricing for the number of expected rate cuts evolves.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF
The Sub-Funds were launched in November and December 2024, respectively, and we will provide performance details at the next reporting cycle.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF

High Yield bonds were one of the best performing fixed income asset classes in 2024, with the U.S. high yield and European high yield markets returning
8.20% (USD) and 7.83% (EUR) respectively. Returns in both the markets were primarily driven by lower quality names (CCC and lower), with lower quality
USHY significantly outperforming. Sector fundamentals remain resilient, albeit weaker and coming of a historically strong base, with leverage and coverage
ratios better than long-term averages. We expect that carry should continue to be the dominant driver of returns in 2025, and while valuations don’t appear
cheap, high all-in yields and breakeven levels still make high yield bonds attractive for long-term investors. We continue to witness a supportive technical
backdrop. Going into 2025, we expect similar levels of gross supply with a slight uptick in net supply due to a pick-up in M&A activity.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF

In 2024, European equities experienced volatility amid geopolitical tensions and economic shifts. The ECB cut rates to 3% as inflation eased to 2.2% by
November. Despite manufacturing challenges, GDP growth was projected at 0.8%. Political instability across the region and Donald Trump’s re-election
added uncertainty. However, European equities remained undervalued compared to U.S. counterparts, offering growth potential. The outlook for 2025 is
cautiously optimistic, with Al and fiscal policies driving opportunities.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - UK Equity Core UCITS ETF

In 2024, UK equities showed resilience, with strong performance in the first half driven by easing inflation and robust domestic demand, while the second
half faced challenges from tax hikes and economic uncertainties. The Bank of England cut rates twice, and despite volatility, we are cautiously optimistic
moving into the new year. We remain focused on selecting companies with attractive valuations, delivering high returns on capital coupled with positive
momentum and management teams focused on disciplined capital allocation.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF
The Sub-Fund was launched in December 2024, and we will provide performance details at the next reporting cycle.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF

2024 was a remarkable year for global equity markets. Sustained economic strength in the US supported developed market equities, while a late rally in
Chinese equities, along with strong performance from India and Taiwan, bolstered emerging market equities through the year. 2024 saw US economic
performance decouple from the other major regions. Despite concerns over the summer, US economic exceptionalism remained largely intact. Conversely,
fEurop%an econlomic momentum weakened over the year. UK equities marginally outperformed their continental counterparts as the economy recovered
rom the 2023 lows.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1 yr UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF

In the first half of 2024, global economies experienced broad-based disinflation, prompting central banks to begin normalising monetary policies. However,
the process proved challenging, particularly outside Europe, as resilient growth and persistent inflation led investors to temper expectations for rapid rate
cuts. Inthe US, the economy showed resilience with strong consumer spending and a robust labour market, despite persistent inflation in the shelter sector.
The Federal Reserve maintained a hawkish stance before starting a rate-cutting cycle in September to address rising unemployment and declining consumer
confidence. Meanwhile, the Eurozone saw strategic monetary policy shifts, with the European Central Bank cutting rates mid-year amid fluctuating growth
and inflation pressures, particularly in energy and food. The UK economy demonstrated resilience, with the Bank of England adopting a cautious approach
due to persistent inflation and a tight labour market, delaying rate cuts despite strong service sector performance.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF

In addition to the above comments on the US, UK and EU, the Bank of Japan began normalising monetary policy with its first-rate hike in 17 years, ending
negative interest rates while maintaining an accommodative stance to support growth. By year-end, rising domestic demand and inflation led the BoJ to
signal potential rapid rate hikes if economic conditions improved.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF

Exports, investments in infrastructure and manufacturing were the key supporting pillars for China’s 5% GDP growth in 2024. Economic momentum showed
a U-turn as consumption slowed from Q2 but rebounded on policy support in Q4. Policy makers intensified supports to consumption via goods trade-in
program since August, and visible boost up to retail sales was seen afterwards. Housing market remained in the search of a bottom, and observed a policy
driven rebound of transaction volume after September Politburo meeting. Chinese government announced a large size of local government debt swap plan
for 2024 and the next few years, aiming to ease fiscal pressure on local government. PBoC continued with its monetary policy easing via policy rate cut and
required reserve ratio cut in 2024. Against such a backdrop, local rates rallied meaningfully while currency remained weak. We expect the Chinese
authorities will continue to set their growth target at ~5% in March 2025, but lower growth may be accepted if trade tensions escalate meaningfully. We
expect net exports to become a drag on growth in 2025. However, the negative contribution from exports is expected to be mitigated by higher domestic
demand, boosted by expansionary fiscal arrangements and continued monetary easing.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Equity Active UCITS ETF

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Nasdaq Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF

US equity markets posted a strong performance in 2024. This was marked with resilient consumer spending supporting a fourth consecutive year of
above-trend growth. The unemployment rate stabilised after rising during the first half of 2024. Inflation also made meaningful progress towards +2.0% in
2024, allowing the Fed to kick off its rate-cutting cycle. The markets continued to experience significant gains, following the US election results, driven by
expectations of tax cuts and expansionary fiscal policies.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF

High quality fixed income markets benefitted from a resilient US economy and the start of central bank cutting cycles in most developed markets, and
generated positive returns in 2024. The broad Bloomberg Global Aggregate Index posted a return of 1.68% for the year, while Green, Social and
Sustainability (GSS) bonds participated fully in the positive performance as the Bloomberg Global Aggregate GSS Index returned 2.09%.

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF

2024 was another impressive year for risk assets. Continued US strength helped developed market equities deliver high returns, and a late rally in Chinese
equities, coupled with strong results from India and Taiwan, helped emerging market equities deliver excellent performance. Strong risk asset performance
carried over into fixed income markets. Emerging Markets (EM) high yield bonds were the top-performing sector, as a combination of high all-in yields and
tightening spreads boosted returns. Developed market central banks started normalising policy in 2024, but resilient growth and sticky inflation meant
markets pared back expectations for how quickly rate cuts would be delivered, particularly in the US. Against this backdrop, global government bonds
performed negatively in 2024. Emerging markets sovereign and corporate bonds had a healthy 2024. High yield was the dominant component for both
markets, while investment grade valuations remained tight for most of the year.



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Investment Manager’s Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Sub-Fund tracking errors

Standalone / Expected Annual

Sub-Fund Index tracking tracking
Standalone / Sub-Fund name number Launch date tracking? errors error % Comments
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders China C458681 17/03/2022  Yes up to 2.00% 0.47%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders EUR  C175317 15/02/2018  Yes up to 1.00% 0.03%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders EUR  C182003 25/04/2019  Yes up to 1.00% 0.05%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Govt Bond UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders UK~ C178895 06/06/2018  Yes up to 1.00% 0.99%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US ~ C187895 03/04/2019  Yes up to 1.00% 0.02%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Equity UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US ~ C477169 09/08/2022  Yes up to 0.30% 0.07%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US ~ C190324 09/07/2019  Yes up to 1.00% 0.04%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Treasury Bond 0-1 yr UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US (443859 17/02/2021  Yes up to 1.00% 0.06%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US (178896 06/06/2018  Yes up to 1.00% 0.05%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US ~ C182016 25/04/2019  Yes up to 1.00% 0.16%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Treasury Bond UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Carbon Transition C491198 06/12/2022  Yes up to 1.00% 0.24%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Carbon Transition (C430452 04/11/2020  Yes up to 1.00% 0.02%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Equity (190300 09/07/2019  Yes up to 1.00% 0.04%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Multi-Factor UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - USD Emerging (174035 15/02/2018  Yes up to 2.00% 0.29%  The performance of the Sub-Fund has been consistently in line with that
Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF of the index and within our tolerance levels
Sub-Fund Performance
Share Class Currency Launch date 1Year 3 Years 5 Years Since inception
JPM AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usob 15/02/2022 8.34% - - -4.54%
JPM AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usob 15/02/2022 8.34% - - -4.54%
JPM All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF - CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 10/12/2024 - - - -2.68%
JPM All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 10/12/2024 - - - -1.59%
JPM All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 10/12/2024 - - - -2.52%
JPM All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usop 10/12/2024 - - - -2.99%
JPM All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usob 10/12/2024 - - - -2.99%
JPM BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 05/05/2022 9.01% - - 14.50%
JPM BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF - GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 06/09/2023 10.49% - - 12.85%
JPM BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 17/03/2022 4.74% - - 0.38%
JPM BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usob 17/03/2022 4.74% - - 0.38%
JPM BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF - USD Hedged (dist) usob 05/05/2022 11.29% - - 20.81%
JPM BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 15/02/2018 3.03% 1.25% 0.38% 0.60%
JPM BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 25/04/2019 1.63% -11.40% -10.35% -6.29%
JPM BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF - GBP (dist) GBP 06/06/2018 1.96% -0.24% -0.35% 1.63%
JPM BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 03/04/2019 24.60% 27.09% 93.86% 120.38%
JPM BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 03/04/2019 24.60% 27.09% 93.86% 120.38%
JPM BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usop 09/08/2022 13.98% - - 26.45%
JPM BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 09/08/2022 13.98% - - 26.45%
JPM BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1yr UCITS ETF - MXN Hedged (acc) MXN 19/11/2019 11.58% 34.88% 49.44% 50.57%
JPM BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1 yr UCITS ETF - USD (acc) uso 09/07/2019 5.20% 11.55% 12.35% 13.41%
JPM BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF - MXN Hedged (acc) MXN 17/02/2021 11.63% 35.46% - 41.05%
JPM BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usob 17/02/2021 5.22% 12.03% - 12.00%
JPM BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF - MXN Hedged (acc) MXN 17/07/2020 10.28% 26.00% - 33.86%
JPM BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 06/06/2018 3.94% 4.15% 6.72% 12.39%
JPM BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF - GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 16/05/2019 0.06% -11.10% -6.81% -3.68%
JPM BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usop 25/04/2019 0.35% -9.35% -4.21% 0.87%
JPM Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usp 06/12/2022 19.06% - - 6.71%
JPM Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 15/10/2024 - - - 4.92%
JPM Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 20/01/2022 18.68% - - 22.19%
JPM Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 04/11/2020 17.17% 17.73% - 61.45%
JPM China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usob 15/02/2022 9.59% - - -23.19%
JPM China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (dist) uso 15/02/2022 9.59% - - -23.19%
JPM Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usp 14/06/2022 8.88% - - 31.73%
JPM EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 06/12/2018 4.48% 2.19% 2.65% 5.26%



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Investment Manager’s Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Sub-Fund Performance (continued)

Share Class Currency Launch date 1Year 3 Years 5 Years Since inception
JPM EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 06/12/2018 4.56% -2.36% -1.35% 4.81%
JPM EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR (dist) EUR 15/10/2024 - - 0.76%
JPM EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF - GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 09/11/2021 6.03% 1.57% 0.75%
JPM EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 10/12/2024 - - -0.10%
JPM EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF - EUR (dist) EUR 10/12/2024 - - -0.10%
JPM EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF - GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 10/12/2024 - - 0.00%
JPM EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 06/06/2018 3.98% 6.94% 6.32% 6.12%
JPM Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 10/10/2018 7.59% 13.55% 40.10% 69.50%
JPM Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR (dist) EUR 15/09/2021 7.57% 13.53% 21.13%
JPM Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 10/12/2024 - - -2.33%
JPM Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF - EUR (dist) EUR 10/12/2024 - - -2.33%
JPM Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 06/09/2023 6.36% - 12.20%
JPM Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 26/04/2022 8.78% - 32.18%
JPM Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR (dist) EUR 26/04/2022 8.78% - 32.19%
JPM GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF - GBP (acc) GBP 03/04/2019 5.11% 10.99% 12.15% 13.12%
JPM GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF - GBP (dist) GBP 06/06/2018 5.11% 10.99% 12.15% 13.91%
JPM Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF - CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 18/01/2024 - - 0.65%
JPM Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 11/10/2023 1.64% - 7.06%
JPM Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF - GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 11/10/2023 3.06% - 9.08%
JPM Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usop 11/10/2023 -1.62% - 6.26%
JPM Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 11/10/2023 -1.58% - 6.30%
JPM Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF - USD Hedged (acc) usob 11/10/2023 3.38% - 9.47%
JPM Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 15/10/2024 - - -1.03%
JPM Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usob 06/12/2018 6.54% -9.09% 6.08% 26.94%
JPM Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 15/09/2021 6.53% -9.10% -12.37%
JPM Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 09/07/2019 10.46% 12.39% 46.49% 56.01%
JPM Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usob 30/11/2023 8.08% - 9.65%
JPM Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF - USD (dist) uso 30/11/2023 8.08% - 9.65%
JPM Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF - CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 17/05/2022 3.80% - 7.36%
JPM Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (dist) EUR 17/05/2022 6.36% - 12.57%
JPM Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF - GBP Hedged (dist) GBP 24/04/2020 7.96% 6.74% 27.72%
JPM Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF - MXN Hedged (acc) MXN 03/06/2020 14.75% 31.24% 58.64%
JPM Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 04/02/2020 6.44% 6.31% 14.46%
JPM Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usop 26/10/2022 6.44% - 23.39%
JPM Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF - USD Hedged (acc) usob 13/05/2020 8.18% 9.33% 29.88%
JPM Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 15/10/2024 - - 4.13%
JPM Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 08/12/2021 19.39% 20.77% 22.02%
JPM Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 08/12/2021 20.76% 24.92% 26.22%
JPM Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 10/10/2018 18.32% 22.28% 77.18% 107.00%
JPM Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 15/09/2021 18.31% 22.27% 28.04%
JPM Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF - CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 09/08/2023 15.02% - 21.67%
JPM Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 09/08/2023 23.86% - 32.91%
JPM Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 09/08/2023 17.72% - 25.69%
JPM Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usob 09/08/2023 16.11% - 25.31%
JPM Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 09/08/2023 16.11% - 25.31%
JPM Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 23/02/2023 3.00% - 7.11%
JPM Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usp 23/02/2023 -1.45% - 5.75%
JPM Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 09/08/2022 21.84% - 55.22%
JPM Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 17/05/2022 24.03% - 66.74%
JPM Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - JPY (acc) JPY 07/10/2022 20.99% - 54.57%
JPM Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 29/03/2022 8.53% - 16.31%
JPM Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (dist) uso 29/03/2022 8.53% - 16.31%
JPM Nasdaq Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 29/10/2024 - - 3.09%
JPM Nasdaq Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 29/10/2024 - - 3.10%
JPM UK Equity Core UCITS ETF - GBP (acc) GBP 14/06/2022 9.71% - 23.62%
JPM UK Equity Core UCITS ETF - GBP (dist) GBP 14/06/2022 9.71% - 23.62%
JPM US Equity Active UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 18/01/2024 - - 23.04%
JPM US Equity Active UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 18/01/2024 - - 24.97%
JPM US Equity Active UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 18/01/2024 - - 24.97%
JPM US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usob 29/10/2024 - - -1.04%
JPM US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usop 29/10/2024 - - -1.02%
JPM US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 18/01/2024 - - 29.28%
JPM US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 18/01/2024 - - 31.03%
JPM US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usob 18/01/2024 - - 31.03%
JPM US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 26/04/2022 19.65% - 31.95%
JPM US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 15/10/2024 - - 6.06%
JPM US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 29/03/2022 22.51% - - 23.80%
JPM US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 10/10/2018 24.48% 29.06% 101.12% 138.33%



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Investment Manager’s Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Sub-Fund Performance (continued)

Share Class Currency Launch date 1Year 3 Years 5 Years Since inception
JPM US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usop 16/12/2019 24.48% 29.06% 101.12% 103.84%
JPM US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF - CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 09/08/2023 18.09% - - 27.06%
JPM US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF - EUR (acc) EUR 06/09/2023 31.19% - - 38.57%
JPM US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 09/08/2023 20.94% - - 31.33%
JPM US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 09/08/2023 22.98% - - 34.68%
JPM US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usob 09/08/2023 22.98% - - 34.68%
JPM US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 18/01/2024 - - - 15.62%
JPM US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 18/01/2024 - - - 17.50%
JPM US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 18/01/2024 - - - 17.50%
JPM USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 09/11/2021 0.33% -12.76% - -14.07%
JPM USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF - GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 20/01/2022 1.79% - - -6.53%
JPM USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usob 06/12/2018 2.09% -6.84% 0.41% 16.33%
JPM USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usob 09/09/2020 2.09% -6.84% - -6.03%
JPM USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF - CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 21/01/2020 -2.21% -16.14% - -17.70%
JPM USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 10/10/2018 0.26% -12.04% -12.44% 0.15%
JPM USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF - GBP Hedged (dist) GBP 03/12/2019 1.70% -8.50% -7.86% -5.61%
JPM USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF - MXN Hedged (acc) MXN 03/06/2020 8.29% 12.88% - 30.61%
JPM USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usob 03/12/2019 2.05% -5.63% -3.21% -0.72%
JPM USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 15/02/2018 2.05% -5.63% -3.21% 11.57%
JPM USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF - CHF Hedged (dist) CHF 26/11/2024 - - - -0.68%
JPM USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF - EUR Hedged (dist) EUR 26/11/2024 - - - -0.43%
JPM USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF - GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 26/11/2024 - - - -0.25%
JPM USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 26/11/2024 - - - -0.27%
JPM USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 26/11/2024 - - - -0.27%
JPM USD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF - USD (acc) usb 03/04/2019 5.55% 12.08% 14.77% 17.40%
JPM USD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF - USD (dist) usb 15/02/2018 5.55% 12.08% 14.77% 21.05%

Past performance is no indication of current or future performance.
The performance data do not take account of the commissions and costs incurred on the issue and redemption of units.



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Report of the Depositary to the Shareholders
For the year ended 31 December 2024

We have enquired into the conduct of the JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV (the “Fund”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 in our capacity as Depositary to
the Fund.

This report including the opinion has been prepared for and solely for the Shareholders in the Fund, in accordance with Part 5 of the European Communities
(Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011, as amended, (“the UCITS Regulations”), and for no other purpose. We
do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown.
Responsibilities of the Depositary

Our duties and responsibilities are outlined in Part 5 of the UCITS Regulations. One of those duties is to enquire into the conduct of the Fund in each annual
accounting period and report thereon to the Shareholders. Our report shall state whether, in our opinion, the Fund has been managed in that period in
accordance with the provisions of the Fund’s Instrument of Incorporation of the Fund and the UCITS Regulations. It is the overall responsibility of the Fund to
comply with these provisions. If the Fund has not so complied, we as Depositary must state why this is the case and outline the steps which we have taken to
rectify the situation.

Basis of Depositary Opinion

The Depositary conducts such reviews as it, in its reasonable opinion, considers necessary in order to comply with its duties as outlined in Part 5 of the UCITS
Regulations and to ensure that, in all material respects, the Fund has been managed (i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on its investment and
borrowing powers by the provisions of the Instrument of Incorporation of the Fund and the appropriate regulations and (ii) otherwise in accordance with the
Fund constitutional documentation and the appropriate regulations.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Fund has been managed during the year, in all material respects:

(i) inaccordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the Fund by the Instrument of Incorporation of the Fund, the UCITS
Regulations and the Central Bank UCITS Regulations, and

(i) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Instrument of Incorporation of the Fund, the UCITS Regulations and the Central Bank UCITS
Regulations.

Brown Brothers Harriman Trustee Services (Ireland) Limited, 30 Herbert Street, Dublin 2, Ireland

22 April 2025
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Independent auditors’ report to the shareholders of the Sub-Funds of JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV’s financial statements:

give atrue and fair view of the Sub-Funds’ assets, liabilities and financial position as at 31 December 2024 and of their results and cash flows for the year
then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 and the European
Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011 (as amended).

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements, which comprise:

the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2024;

the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;

the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended;

the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares for the year then ended;
the Schedule of Investments for each of the Sub-Funds as at 31 December 2024; and

the notes to the financial statements for each of the Sub-Funds, which include a description of the accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Board of Directors.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (“ISAs (Ireland)”) and applicable law.

Our responsibilities under ISAs (Ireland) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence

We remained independent of the ICAV in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Ireland, which
includes IAASA’s Ethical Standard as applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by IAASA’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the ICAV.
Other than those disclosed in note 5, we have provided no non-audit services to the ICAV in the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024.

13
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Our audit approach

Overview
Materiality
Overall materiality: 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis points) of Net Assets Value (“NAV”) at 31 December 2024 (2023:
o 31 December 2023) for each of the ICAV's Sub-Funds.
Materiality Performance materiality: 75% of overall materiality.
Audit scope
- The ICAV is an open-ended investment ICAV with variable capital and engages JPMorgan Asset Management
) (Europe) S.a.r.l (the “Management Company”) to manage certain duties and responsibilities with regards to the
Audit scope day-to-day management of the ICAV. We tailored the scope of our audit taking into account the types of
investments within the Sub-Funds, the involvement of the third parties, the accounting processes and controls,
and the industry in which the ICAV operates. We look at each of the Sub-Funds at an individual level.
X dit Key audit matters
o s valuation and existence of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

[N

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we
looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example the selection of pricing sources to value the investment portfolio. As in all of our
audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the
current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including
those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.
These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements
asawhole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by
our audit.

Key audit matter

Valuation and existence of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss.

See accounting policies 2(c), note 10.1(a) market risk, note 10.1(b) credit,
counterparty and global risk, and note 10.2 fair value estimation, of the
financial statements for further details.

The financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
included in the Statement of Financial Position of each Sub-Fund are held in
the Sub-Fund’s name at 31 December 2024.

The financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss included
inthe Statement of Financial Position of each Sub-Fund are measured at fair
value in line with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the European Union as disclosed in Note 2(c) of the financial statements.

Thisis considered a key audit matter as it represents the principal element of
the financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We obtained independent confirmation from the Depositary and external
counterparties (as applicable) of the investment portfolio held as at
31 December 2024, agreeing the amounts held to the accounting records.

For some forward currency contracts where we did not receive counterparty
confirmations, and which have already matured, we liquidated these to post
year end bank statements to verify that they were in existence as at
31 December 2024.

We tested the valuation of investments by independently agreeing to third
party vendor sources where possible. For some short-term investments
(commercial paper and certificates of deposit) which we could not price
using independent third-party vendors, we engaged internal experts to
perform an independent valuation and compared their results to the
portfolio.

For some equity positions where we could not price using independent
third-party vendors, we obtained and reviewed management’s price
support.

We considered the related disclosures within the financial statements and
concluded that they were appropriate.

No material issues were identified from the results of these procedures.
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How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into
account the structure of the ICAV, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which it operates.

The Board of Directors control the affairs of the ICAV and are responsible for the overall investment policy which is determined by them. The ICAV engages
the Management Company to manage certain duties and responsibilities with regards to the day to day management of the ICAV. The Management Company
has delegated certain responsibilities to J.P. Morgan Investment Inc., JPMorgan Asset Management (UK) Limited and JPMorgan Asset Management (Japan)
Limited, and JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia Pacific) Limited (the ‘Investment Managers’), and Brown Brothers Harriman Fund Administration Services
(Ireland) Limited (the ‘Administrator’). The financial statements, which remain the responsibility of the Board of Directors, are prepared on their behalf by
the Administrator. The ICAV has appointed Brown Brothers Harriman Trustee Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Depositary”) to act as Depositary of the ICAV’s
assets. In establishing the overall approach to our audit we assessed the risk of material misstatement at a Sub-Fund level, taking into account the nature,
likelihood and potential magnitude of any misstatement. As part of our risk assessment, we considered the ICAV’s interaction with the Administrator, and we
assessed the control environment in place at the Administrator.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together with
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial
statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements of each of the ICAV’s Sub-Funds as follows:

Overall materiality and how we determined it 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis points) of Net Assets Value (“NAV”) at
31 December 2024 (2023: 31 December 2023) for each of the ICAV’s
Sub-Funds.

Rationale for benchmark applied We have applied this benchmark because the main objective of the ICAV is to
provide investors with a total return at a sub-fund level, taking account of the
capital and income returns.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements
exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of
account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% of overall
materiality.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment and aggregation risk and the
effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our normal range was appropriate.

We agreed with the Board of Directors that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above 5 basis points of each sub-fund’s NAV,
for NAV per share impacting differences (2023: 5 basis points of each sub-fund’s NAV, for NAV per share impacting differences) as well as misstatements
below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

15



.

pwe

Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Sub-Funds’ ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

Reviewing the liquidity profile of the assets and liahilities, for any significant mismatches, as detailed in note 10 Financial risk management - Liquidity
risk;

Agreeingthe liquidity terms surrounding the ICAV and Sub-Funds’ ability to manage liquidity risk through redemption limits, if necessary, as per note 10
Financial risk management - Liquidity risk, to the legal documents;

Performing subsequent event testing around capital activity to determine whether material redemption requests have been presented to the
Sub-Funds; and

Discussing management’s plans to assess if there is a plan to terminate any of the Sub-Funds.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the Sub-Funds’ ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Sub-Funds’ ability to continue as a going
concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance
thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether thereisa
material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these
responsibilities.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015
requires us to also report the opinion as described below:
Board of Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Board of Directors’ Report for the year ended
31 December 2024 is consistent with the financial statements.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Role and Responsibility of the Board of Directors set out on pages 2 and 3, the directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Sub-Funds’ ability to continue as going concerns, disclosing as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the ICAV or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted inaccordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined
above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the ICAV and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to breaches
of Irish legislation and Central Bank of Ireland regulations, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the
financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements such as the Irish
Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 and the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities)
Regulations 2011 (as amended). We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements
(including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to management override of controls.

Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

Inquiry of management to identify any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations;

Identifying and testing journal entries, where any such journal entries, that met our specific risk based criteria, were identified;

Designing audit procedures to incorporate unpredictability;

Reviewing relevant minutes of the meetings of the board of directors; and

Reviewing financial statement disclosures and agreeing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example,
forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing techniques. However, it
typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for
testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population from
which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA website at:
https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/h2389013-1cf6-458h-9h8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of auditors responsibilities for audit.pdf.
This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
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Use of this report

Thisreport, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the shareholders of each of the Sub-Funds as a body in accordance with section 120 of
the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

Other required reporting

Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 exception reporting

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by section 117 of that Act have not been made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

We were appointed by the Board of Directors on 8 October 2018 to audit the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 and subsequent
financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 7 years, covering the years ended 31 December 2018 to 31 December 2024.

Paul Martin

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin

23 April 2025
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2024

AC Asia Pacific ex Japan
Research Enhanced Index
Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
usb

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral
Cash

Cash equivalents

Cash collateral received*

Amounts due from brokers

Dividend receivable

Interest receivable

Securities sold awaiting settlement

Receivable for shares issued

Other receivables**

Total Assets

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Bank overdraft

Fees and expenses payable

Securities purchased awaiting settlement

Payable for shares redeemed

Distributions payable

Other payables**

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares

0n behalf of the Board of Directors:

Director: Lorcan Murphy
22 April 2025

Director: Bronwyn Wright
22 April 2025

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

ww NN

—
0o

37,213,861

141,618

35,321

18,561

37,409,361

(22,417)

(11,945)

(34,362)

37,374,999

**Qther receivables are principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital

gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

All Country Research

BetaBuilders China

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Enhanced Index Equity Aggregate Bond EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr UsS Equity
Active UCITS ETF (1) UCITS ETF 1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usb EUR EUR GBP usb
24,900,575 68,246,279 16,761,024 14,608,306 35,859,682 25,586,015
167,891 162,209 8,528 9,845 16,576 498
- - - - - 77,831
- 14,536
11,498 - - - - 13,644
- 762,565 115,239 159,453 239,097 -
79,440 1,692,786 - 933,790 3,904,876
49,821 - - - -
- 75 16
25,209,225 70,863,839 16,884,791 15,711,394 40,020,306 25,692,540
(68,042) (224,860) (2,886)
- - - - - (498)
(3,254) (31,353) (3,163) (2,658) (4,195) (1,690)
(89,178) (1,358,522) - - (2,961,402) -
(50,159) - (936,396) (840,809)
- - (100,695)
(210,633) (1,614,735) (3,163) (939,054) (3,907,101) (5,074)
24,998,592 69,249,104 16,881,628 14,772,340 36,113,205 25,687,466

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

BetaBuilders

us Small Cap
Equity UCITS ETF
usb

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 228,512,252
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral 2 -
Cash 3 33,224
Cash equivalents 3 2,143,412
Cash collateral received* 18 -
Amounts due from brokers 395,038
Dividend receivable 170,786
Interest receivable -
Securities sold awaiting settlement 91,662
Receivable for shares issued -
Other receivables** 4,988

Total Assets

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Bank overdraft

Fees and expenses payable

Securities purchased awaiting settlement

Payable for shares redeemed

Distributions payable

Other payables**

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares

0n behalf of the Board of Directors:

Director: Lorcan Murphy
22 April 2025

Director: Bronwyn Wright
22 April 2025

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

231,351,362

(99,150)

(50,694)
(90,233)

(240,077)

231,111,285

**Qther receivables are principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital

gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

Carbon Transition
China Equity (CTB)

Carbon Transition
Global Equity (CTB)

0-1yr UCITS ETF 0-3 Months UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usp usp usb usb usp
3,308,873,963 906,118,497 106,111,656 72,997,215 7,461,345 929,182,833
85,057 41,738,038 2,897 1,894 11,502 511,566
178,563,517 40,187,696 98,342 76,910 - 1,625,794
33,869,704 12,656,000 - - -
- - - 268,259
- - - - 1,794 683,420
5,271,828 823,073 633,083 540,893 - -

278,095,205 153,310,541 2,646,138 2,282,604

- - - 659,986

13,064 5,720 593 459
3,804,772,338 1,154,839,565 109,492,709 76,559,961 7,474,641 932,271,872
(91,306,935) (23,306,184) (71,596) (808,174) (182,075)
(13,685) - - (171) - -
(511,887) (137,565) (11,115) (13,085) (4,392) (299,564)
(474,786,912) (239,636,193) (2,704,290) (509,702) - -

- - - (2,172,160)

(33,871,436) (12,656,000)

(600,490,855) (275,735,942) (2,787,001) (3,503,292) (4,392) (481,639)
3,204,281,483 879,103,623 106,705,708 73,056,669 7,470,249 931,790,233

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

China A Research

Enhanced Index Equity

(ESG) UCITS ETF

Notes usb

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral
Cash

Cash equivalents

Cash collateral received*

Amounts due from brokers

Dividend receivable

Interest receivable

Securities sold awaiting settlement

Receivable for shares issued

Other receivables**

27,191,709

230,195

ww NN

—
0o

Total Assets 27,421,904

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2

Bank overdraft 3 -
Fees and expenses payable 4 (22,332)
Securities purchased awaiting settlement -
Payable for shares redeemed

Distributions payable

Other payables**

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares) (22,332)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares 27,399,572

0n behalf of the Board of Directors:

Director: Lorcan Murphy
22 April 2025

Director: Bronwyn Wright
22 April 2025

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

**Qther receivables are principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital
gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Climate Change EUR Corporate Bond EUR Corporate Bond EUR High Yield EUR Ultra-Short
Solutions 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Research Enhanced Index Bond Active Income
UCITS ETF Index (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF
usb EUR EUR EUR EUR
48,913,010 197,766,536 406,513,381 31,822,672 752,808,399
674,512 625,163 1,735,341 277,422 565,251
693,055 - - 327,777 115,366,545
18,479 - - - -

- 2,233,364 5,177,666 524,300 4,027,735

2,915,945 3,535,686 3,837 89,539

- - - 251

50,299,056 203,541,008 416,962,074 32,956,008 872,857,720
- - (57,251) (27,852) (511,764)

(41,769) (13,172) (26,451) (7,678) (255,640)
(553,595) (3,143,985) (4,667,790) (132,807) (3,965,151)
(595,364) (3,157,157) (4,751,492) (168,337) (4,732,555)
49,703,692 200,383,851 412,210,582 32,787,671 868,125,165

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

Europe Research
Enhanced Index Equity
(ESG) UCITS ETF

EUR

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral
Cash

Cash equivalents

Cash collateral received*

Amounts due from brokers

Dividend receivable

Interest receivable

Securities sold awaiting settlement

Receivable for shares issued

Other receivables**

Total Assets

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Bank overdraft

Fees and expenses payable

Securities purchased awaiting settlement

Payable for shares redeemed

Distributions payable

Other payables**

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares

0n behalf of the Board of Directors:

Director: Lorcan Murphy
22 April 2025

Director: Bronwyn Wright
22 April 2025

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

ww NN
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1,802,383,385
62,226
14,867,689

2,397,913

220,769

1,819,931,982

(761,795)

(166,125)

(927,920)

1,819,004,062

**Qther receivables are principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital

gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Europe Research Enhanced Eurozone Research GBP Ultra-Short Global Aggregate Global Emerging Markets Global Equity
Index Equity SRI Paris Enhanced Index Equity Income Bond Active Research Enhanced Index Multi-Factor
Aligned Active UCITS ETF (3) (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
EUR EUR GBP usb usb usb
9,601,292 356,270,760 155,878,526 180,167,473 1,412,710,214 174,868,462
69,222 75,342 - 717,262 870,510 139,096
- 1,792,024 14,388,639 14,675,874 3,400,000 176,155
- - - - 636,329
- - 1,965,316 - 59,856
222 311,267 - - 2,135,213 342,241

- - 1,819,414 2,077,142 -

- - 688,655
1,219
9,670,736 358,449,393 172,086,579 199,603,067 1,419,804,592 176,223,358
(128,210 (7,513) (4,952,939) (12,001)
- - (109,790) - - .
(1,395) (140,887) (50,677) (86,880) (757,122) (57,418)
- - (760,356) (11,070,806) - -
(444,395) _ ;
- (1,284,934) (637,754)
(1,395) (269,097) (1,372,731) (16,110,625) (2,042,056) (707,173)
9,669,341 358,180,296 170,713,848 183,492,442 1,417,762,536 175,516,185

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

Global Equity
Premium Income Active
UCITS ETF
usb

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 365,726,972
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral 2 61,936,829
Cash 3 1,490,953
Cash equivalents 3 6,514,505
Cash collateral received* 18 -
Amounts due from brokers -
Dividend receivable 457,619
Interest receivable -
Securities sold awaiting settlement -
Receivable for shares issued 7,898

Other receivables**

Total Assets

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Bank overdraft

Fees and expenses payable

Securities purchased awaiting settlement

Payable for shares redeemed

Distributions payable

Other payables**

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares

0n behalf of the Board of Directors:

Director: Lorcan Murphy
22 April 2025

Director: Bronwyn Wright
22 April 2025

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

436,134,776

(478,880)

(221,507)
(773,822)

(2,145,404)

(3,619,613)

432,515,163

**Qther receivables are principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital

gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Global High Yield Global Research Global Research Enhanced Green Social Japan Research
Corporate Bond Enhanced Index Equity Index Equity SRI Paris Sustainable Bond Enhanced Index Equity
Multi-Factor UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF
usb usb usb usb usb
261,153,355 8,381,178,284 378,018,424 36,321,394 462,669,498
1,571,130 2,011,855 284,210 532,191 5,743,324
1,247,394 65,005,697 3,800,000 749,134 -
- - - 239,654 -
- 6,488,226 294,179 - 503,402
4,555,528 - 457 328,544 -
37,863 32,704,940 - 2,385 247
46,614 - - - 719,377
268,611,884 8,487,389,002 382,397,270 38,173,302 469,635,848
(2,064,319) (24,736,873) (65,187) (474,633) (288,564)
(154,071) (3,421,508) (135,614) (17,330) (187,586)
(491,605) (32,353,810) - (172,920) -
- - - - (716,809)

- (1,232) - -
(2,709,995) (60,513,423) (200,801) (664,883) (1,192,959)
265,901,889 8,426,875,579 382,196,469 37,508,419 468,442,889

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

Nasdaq Equity Premium
Income Active
UCITS ETF (4)

Notes usb
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 631,078,621
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral 2 210,527,147
Cash 3 -
Cash equivalents 3 17,815,411
Cash collateral received* 18 -
Amounts due from brokers -
Dividend receivable 108,868
Interest receivable -
Securities sold awaiting settlement
Receivable for shares issued
Other receivables**
Total Assets 859,530,047
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2 (1,613,810)
Bank overdraft 3 (16,738)
Fees and expenses payable 4 (250,472)
Securities purchased awaiting settlement -
Payable for shares redeemed -
Distributions payable (3,308,116)

Other payables**

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares

0n behalf of the Board of Directors:

Director: Lorcan Murphy
22 April 2025

Director: Bronwyn Wright
22 April 2025

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

(5,189,136)

854,340,911

**Other receivablesare principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital

gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

(4) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

UK Equity Us Equity us Equity Premium US Growth US Research Enhanced
Core Active Income Active Equity Active Index Equity
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF (6) UCITS ETF (5) (ESG) UCITS ETF
GBP usop usb usb usb
263,350,641 14,133,639 24,193,428 24,909,323 12,757,616,211
- - 5,387,177 - -
562,580 358,393 - 8,934 -
4,161,830 - 290,809 606,203 28,233,945
242,510 - - - -
623,312 6,636 25,921 1,060 8,565,604
726,506 341 191,748
1,758 - -
269,669,137 14,498,668 29,897,676 25,525,520 12,794,607,508
(48,450) (128,116) (23,180) (88,025) (4,710,499)
- - (1,010 (367) (183,139)
(105,732) (8,051) (13,660) (16,285) (4,197,120)
(557,195) - (4,016) - -
(156,122) - (191,771)
. - (120,197) )

(453,248) (275,619) -
(1,320,747) (411,786) (162,063) (104,677) (9,282,529)
268,348,390 14,086,882 29,735,613 25,420,843 12,785,324,979

(5) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(6) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

US Research Enhanced
Index Equity SRI Paris
Aligned UCITS ETF

usb
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 444,607,586
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral 2 -
Cash 3 686,916
Cash equivalents 3 -
Cash collateral received* 18
Amounts due from brokers -
Dividend receivable 223,187

Interest receivable

Securities sold awaiting settlement
Receivable for shares issued

Other receivables**

Total Assets

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Bank overdraft

Fees and expenses payable

Securities purchased awaiting settlement

Payable for shares redeemed

Distributions payable

Other payables**

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares

0n behalf of the Board of Directors:

Director: Lorcan Murphy
22 April 2025

Director: Bronwyn Wright
22 April 2025

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

445,517,689

(112,348)

(118,987)

(231,335)

445,286,354

**Qther receivables are principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital

gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

us value usD Corporate Bond USD Emerging USD High Yield usD Ultra-Short
Equity Active Research Enhanced Index Markets Sovereign Bond Active Income
UCITS ETF (7) (ESG) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (8) UCITS ETF
usb usop usb usbp usb
19,737,297 40,029,791 539,579,975 23,910,436 448,198,822
8,931 1,378 540,587 9,174 84,050,327
820,736 692,718 2,791,218 737,559 55,433,123
- - 136,850 - -
- 141,749 - -
12,372 - - - -
- 451,796 9,516,050 397,674 4,280,846
- 820,382 3,100,359 - -
- - 353 -
- 2,732 -
20,579,336 42,137,814 555,668,124 25,054,843 591,963,118
(55,645) (362,827) (8,078,582) (109,963)
(643) - - - -
(13,214) (13,263) (378,236) (10,800) (110,377)
- (1,217,514) - - (7,922,000)
- - (695,621) - (433,806)
- - (601,854) - R
(69,502) (1,593,604) (9,754,293) (120,763) (8,466,183)
20,509,834 40,544,210 545,913,831 24,934,080 583,496,935

(7) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(8) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2023

AC Asia Pacific ex Japan
Research Enhanced Index
Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
usp

BetaBuilders China
Aggregate Bond
UCITS ETF

usp

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral
Cash

Cash equivalents

Cash collateral received*

Amounts due from brokers

Dividend receivable

Interest receivable

Securities sold awaiting settlement

Receivable for shares issued

Other receivables**

Total Assets

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Bank overdraft

Fees and expenses payable

Securities purchased awaiting settlement

Payable for shares redeemed

Distributions payable

Other payables**

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

ww NN

—
0o

25,312,287

130,844

7,887
41,919

117,224,943

229,541

1,536,563

25,492,937

118,991,047

(11,747)

(376,054)

(50,807)

(11,747)

(426,861)

25,481,190

118,564,186

**Qther receivables are principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital

gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr us Equity us Small Cap
1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Equity UCITS ETF
EUR EUR GBP usb usb
37,558,414 34,671,467 51,748,447 18,064,031 128,496,760
4,013 27,259 36,368 162 19,579
- - - 60,776 -
- - - 9,998 205,058
- - - 15,380 124,026
237,393 325,555 284,693 - -
1,360,457 93,414 4,007,648 1,633 30,877
- 655 - - 213
503 - 364 60 622
39,160,780 35,118,350 56,077,520 18,152,040 128,877,135
(614,579) - - (2,129) -
(8,306) (4,409) (6,148) (1,299) (12,068)
(717,640) (94,398) (3,848,275) - -

- - (148,162) -

- - - (92)
(1,340,525) (98,807) (4,002,585) (3,520) (12,068)
37,820,255 35,019,543 52,074,935 18,148,520 128,865,067

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond
0-1yr UCITS ETF

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond
0-3 Months UCITS ETF

Notes usb usb
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 2,889,702,440 458,332,199
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral 2 - -
Cash 3 2,506,329 34,615
Cash equivalents 3 - 528,622
Cash collateral received* 18 18,696,888 2,666,142
Amounts due from brokers - -
Dividend receivable - -
Interest receivable 2,446,833 216,016
Securities sold awaiting settlement 435,211,239 117,932,123
Receivable for shares issued 531,386 528,410
Other receivables** 12,751 3,359
Total Assets 3,349,107,866 580,241,486
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2 (1,453,537) (95,360)
Bank overdraft 3 - -
Fees and expenses payable 4 (401,334) (53,633)

Securities purchased awaiting settlement
Payable for shares redeemed
Distributions payable

Other payables**

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

(485,819,048)

(18,696,888)

(122,243,001)

(2,666,142)

(506,370,807)

(125,058,136)

2,842,737,059

455,183,350

**Qther receivables are principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital

gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Carbon Transition

Carbon Transition

China A Research

Climate Change

us Treasury Bond us Treasury Bond China Equity (CTB) Global Equity (CTB) Enhanced Index Equity Solutions
1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usb usb usb usb usb
99,858,360 254,174,463 4,474,225 1,083,216,711 24,697,956 18,077,708
69,572 1,050,406 4,942 642,431 203,863 75,347
- 211,298 - 597,819 - 228,733
- 19,410 -
- - 5,246 802,878 14,212
458,304 1,708,464 - - -
4,217,121 3,184,370 -
7,924 753,350 7,303
316 419 -
104,611,597 261,082,770 4,484,413 1,085,286,552 24,901,819 18,396,000
(735) (658,010) (38,457)
- - - (664) - -
(11,351) (37,483) (2,542) (308,404) (16,092) (15,111)
(4,223,261) (6,307,925) - - - -
(4,235,347) (7,003,418) (2,542) (347,525) (16,092) (15,111)
100,376,250 254,079,352 4,481,871 1,084,939,027 24,885,727 18,380,889

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

EUR Corporate Bond
1-5 yr Research Enhanced
Index (ESG) UCITS ETF

EUR Corporate Bond
Research Enhanced Index
(ESG) UCITS ETF

EUR EUR
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 104,028,220 219,829,526
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral 2 - -
Cash 3 318,072 811,794
Cash equivalents 3 - -
Cash collateral received* 18
Amounts due from brokers -
Dividend receivable - -
Interest receivable 1,040,621 2,189,755
Securities sold awaiting settlement 634,484 1,160,654
Receivable for shares issued - 9,916
Other receivables** -
Total Assets 106,021,397 224,001,645
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - (89,340)
Bank overdraft - -
Fees and expenses payable (6,145) (13,334)
Securities purchased awaiting settlement (782,671) (1,550,923)
Payable for shares redeemed - -
Distributions payable -
Other payables** -
Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares) (788,816) (1,653,597)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares

105,232,581

222,348,048

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

**Qther receivables are principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital
gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

EUR Ultra-Short

Europe Research Enhanced

Eurozone Research

GBP Ultra-Short

Global Aggregate

Global Emerging Markets

Income Index Equity Enhanced Index Equity Income Bond Active Research Enhanced Index
UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (1) Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
EUR EUR EUR GBP usb usb
782,026,113 960,284,937 152,755,811 148,912,941 40,441,262 1,169,604,410
1,065,325 1,057,824 206,476 99,804 1,310,645 1,009,332
70,920,435 6,008,943 697,814 29,274,460 903,936 2,383,315
210,600 - - 226,472 -
- 808,614 84,034 - - 2,743,515
3,073,362 - - 1,004,581 353,668 -
20,133 98 17,874,546 - 139
- 9,768,012 521 6,158,806
234 - - 224
857,316,202 977,928,428 171,619,202 179,291,786 49,395,152 1,175,740,572
(47,760) (19,237) (7,151) (506,934)
(176,945) (307,943) (59,361) (52,160) (18,577) (534,589)
- (6,430,615) - (989,511) (2,460,709) (258,692)
- (18,033,120) - (1,782,213) -
- (627,651) - -
- (1,126,487) (5,120,156)
(224,705) (6,738,558) (18,111,718) (1,676,473) (5,894,920) (5,913,437)
857,091,497 971,189,870 153,507,484 177,615,313 43,500,232 1,169,827,135

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

Global Equity Global Equity
Multi-Factor Premium Income Active
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2)
usb usb
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 154,872,204 15,214,377
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral 2 - 2,642,706
Cash 3 158,211 806,499
Cash equivalents 3 2,950 -
Cash collateral received* 18 -
Amounts due from brokers 13,965 -
Dividend receivable 351,514 10,477
Interest receivable - -
Securities sold awaiting settlement - 33,495
Receivable for shares issued - 3,115,916
Other receivables** 738 -
Total Assets 155,399,582 21,823,470
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - (111,010)
Bank overdraft - -
Fees and expenses payable (45,305) (3,400)
Securities purchased awaiting settlement (102) (2,592,104)
Payable for shares redeemed - (562,359)
Distributions payable - -
Other payables** - (656,594)
Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares) (45,407) (3,925,467)
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares 155,354,175 17,898,003

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

**Other receivablesare principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital

gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Global High Yield Corporate
Bond Multi-Factor

Global Research
Enhanced Index Equity

Global Research Enhanced
Index Equity SRI Paris

Green Social
Sustainable Bond

Japan Research
Enhanced Index Equity

UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF (4) (ESG) UCITS ETF
usb usp usp usop usop
151,440,261 3,861,103,853 42,741,996 38,566,244 136,301,585
3,440,267 315,276 554,519 623,703 50,213
345,918 26,858,138 - 104,586 467,590
2,115,663 - - - -
- - - 160,837 292,202
- 3,379,656 36,106 - 157,900
2,480,562 - - 292,266 -
305,405 944 - - -
130,707 2,254,619 - 1,086,808 183,921
2,964 - - - -
160,261,747 3,893,912,486 43,332,621 40,834,444 137,453,411
(772,804) (8,569,036) (19,520) (156,115) (76,503)
(88,823) (1,351,569) (12,946) (19,356) (50,201)
(2,591,935) (120,540) - (1,063,631) -
(74,556) (2,240,801) - - (185,803)
(3,106,926) - (312,035) (204,068)
(6,635,044) (12,281,946) (344,501) (1,443,170) (312,507)
153,626,703 3,881,630,540 42,988,120 39,391,274 137,140,904

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

(4) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

RMB Ultra-Short UK Equity
Income Core
UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF
usb GBP
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 - 136,297,115
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral 2 - -
Cash 3 12,852 182,745
Cash equivalents 3 - 1,140,383
Cash collateral received* 18 -
Amounts due from brokers - 26,802
Dividend receivable - 336,317
Interest receivable 20,979 -
Securities sold awaiting settlement -
Receivable for shares issued - -
Other receivables** 534
Total Assets 33,831 137,983,896
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -
Bank overdraft - -
Fees and expenses payable (9,261) (52,922)
Securities purchased awaiting settlement - -
Payable for shares redeemed -
Distributions payable -
Other payables** (24,570)
Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares) (33,831) (52,922)
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares - 137,930,974

*Represents cash collateral received as at the year end in relation to securities lending transactions.

**Other receivables are principally comprised of securities lending income receivable as at the year end. Other payables are principally comprised of the adjustments to account for balances in the name
of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Regulations”), capital

gains tax payable and cash collateral balances due to the Securities Lending Agent as at the year end.

(5) Sub-Fund liquidated on 12 December 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Financial Position (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

US Research Enhanced

US Research Enhanced

usD Corporate Bond

uSD Emerging

usD ultra-Short

Index Equity Index Equity SRI Paris Research Enhanced Index Markets Sovereign Income

(ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF (6) (ESG) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

usb usop usb usb usb

5,175,143,026 14,985,044 60,669,784 562,132,140 207,129,845

56,268 21,227 34,777 776,467 6,083,550

12,003,938 - 388,150 2,870,161 22,533,362

- - - 3,006,600 -

- - 145,500 - 185,261

4,187,318 7,222 - - -

- - 623,781 9,107,441 1,577,600

- - 154,397 - -

23,769,794 - - - 2,071,526

80 - 20 5,862 1,212

5,215,160,424 15,013,493 62,016,409 577,898,671 239,582,356
(241,599) (30,867) (292,610) (3,198,963)

(241,075) - (108) - -

(1,537,431) (4,143) (17,825) (358,203) (70,230)

(23,517,176) - (740,842) - -

(158,455) - - - -

- - - (591,329) (622,718)

- - - (3,006,600) (400,318)

(25,695,736) (35,010) (1,051,385) (7,155,095) (1,093,266)

5,189,464,688 14,978,483 60,965,024 570,743,576 238,489,090

(6) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2024

AC Asia Pacific ex Japan
Research Enhanced Index
Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF

Notes usb
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 1,231,182
Dividend income 2 980,933
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 -
Interest income 2 4,796
Securities lending income 2,18 -
Other income
Total operating income/(loss) 2,216,911
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (107,627)
Total operating expenses (107,627)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense (670)
Distributions 2,13 (100,592)
Total finance costs (101,262)
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax 2,008,022
Withholding tax 2 (95,825)
Capital gain tax 2 (89,338)
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 1,822,859

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

All Country Research BetaBuilders China BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders
Enhanced Index Equity Aggregate Bond EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr UsS Equity
Active UCITS ETF (1) UCITS ETF 1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usb EUR EUR GBP usb

(831,822) 5,592,313 (38,865) (615,470) (708,184) 4,481,251

17,484 - - - - 313,280

- 2,816,986 763,897 561,195 1,763,297 -

461 3,299 728 874 1,884 637

- - 1,720 42 2,134 861

3,716 631 484 625 785

(813,877) 8,416,314 728,111 (52,875) 1,059,756 4,796,814

(3,254) (310,148) (27,835) (18,749) (35,242) (9,191)

(3,254) (310,148) (27,835) (18,749) (35,242) (9,191)

(1,197) - - (74) -

(880,753) - - (1,750,366) (16,577)

(881,950) - - (1,750,440) (16,577)

(817,131) 7,224,216 700,276 (71,624) (725,926) 4,771,046

(2,576) - - - - (43,330)

(819,707) 7,224,216 700,276 (71,624) (725,926) 4,727,716

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

BetaBuilders

us Small Cap
Equity UCITS ETF
Notes usb
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 19,792,066
Dividend income 2 2,461,977
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 -
Interest income 2 67,389
Securities lending income 2,18 55,351
Other income 1,731
Total operating income/(loss) 22,379,014
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (244,915)
Total operating expenses (244,915)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense (79)
Distributions 2,13 (1,198,649)
Total finance costs (1,198,728)
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax 20,935,371
Withholding tax 2 (353,211)
Capital gain tax 2 -
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 20,582,160

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

Carbon Transition
China Equity (CTB)

Carbon Transition
Global Equity (CTB)

0-1yr UCITS ETF 0-3 Months UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usp usp usb usb usp
(400,150,573) (74,678,140) (784,834) (7,492,440) 1,078,214 184,136,150
2,240,629 719,068 769 8,485 198,103 22,041,441
167,018,301 36,137,394 3,864,077 5,853,774 - -
176,919 285,632 8,191 3,163 963 63,096
281,723 33,722 4,534 7,291 - -
17,442 6,867 595 4,052 1,969
(230,415,559) (37,495,457) 3,093,332 (1,615,675) 1,277,280 206,242,656
(3,154,978) (643,868) (61,480) (136,558) (22,793) (2,159,435)
(3,154,978) (643,868) (61,480) (136,558) (22,793) (2,159,435)
(16,149) (126) 172)
(16,149) - - - (126) (172)
(233,586,686) (38,139,325) 3,031,852 (1,752,233) 1,254,361 204,083,049
(12,162) (2,944,720)

(233,586,686) (38,139,325) 3,031,852 (1,752,233) 1,242,199 201,138,329

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

China A Research
Enhanced Index Equity
(ESG) UCITS ETF

Notes usb
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 2,423,634
Dividend income 2 947,860
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 -
Interest income 2 16,648
Securities lending income 2,18 -
Other income 1,454
Total operating income/(loss) 3,389,596
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (120,541)
Total operating expenses (120,541)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense -
Distributions 2,13 (159,233)
Total finance costs (159,233)
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax 3,109,822
Withholding tax 2 (94,786)
Capital gain tax 2 -
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 3,015,036

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Climate Change EUR Corporate Bond EUR Corporate Bond EUR High Yield EUR Ultra-Short
Solutions 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Research Enhanced Index Bond Active Income
UCITS ETF Index (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF
usb EUR EUR EUR EUR
894,181 1,929,479 7,098,069 (295,793) 3,768,397
476,653 - - - -
- 5,242,876 10,534,591 74,213 29,696,139
4,567 11,244 25,818 344 252,814
337 1,507 5,291 - 3,221
1,375,738 7,185,106 17,663,769 (221,236) 33,720,571
(181,630) (60,727) (130,311) (7,678) (1,514,113)
(181,630) (60,727) (130,311) (7,678) (1,514,113)
(136) - - -
(136) - - - -
1,193,972 7,124,379 17,533,458 (228,914) 32,206,458
(38,036) (21,662) (46,579) -
1,155,936 7,102,717 17,486,879 (228,914) 32,206,458

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Europe Research
Enhanced Index Equity
(ESG) UCITS ETF

Notes EUR
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 31,633,337
Dividend income 2 48,416,267
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 -
Interest income 2 9,305
Securities lending income 2,18 -
Other income 5,397
Total operating income/(loss) 80,064,306
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (3,669,273)
Total operating expenses (3,669,273)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense (104)
Distributions 2,13 (1,066,999)
Total finance costs (1,067,103)
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax 75,327,930
Withholding tax 2 (3,588,922)
Capital gain tax 2 -
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 71,739,008

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Europe Research Enhanced Eurozone Research GBP Ultra-Short Global Aggregate Global Emerging Markets Global Equity
Index Equity SRI Paris Enhanced Index Equity Income Bond Active Research Enhanced Index Multi-Factor
Aligned Active UCITS ETF (3) (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
EUR EUR GBP usb usb usb

(247,915) 7,861,023 (265,039) (7,791,326) 27,963,263 16,699,697

347 9,988,760 423,633 156,624 40,745,202 5,777,616

- - 8,997,914 4,744,860 - -

72 4,191 40,707 54,238 101,127 10,453

- - - - - 24,076

2,099 1,363 4,538 3,938 970

(247,496) 17,856,073 9,198,578 (2,831,066) 68,813,530 22,512,812

(1,395) (771,811) (322,086) (345,604) (3,417,163) (378,058)

(1,395) (771,811) (322,086) (345,604) (3,417,163) (378,058)

- - (2,893) (37,922) (181)

(36,017) (6,117,576) (54,215) (136,630) -

- (36,017) (6,117,576) (57,108) (174,552) (181)

(248,891) 17,048,245 2,758,916 (3,233,778) 65,221,815 22,134,573

(18) (558,102) (34,394) (20,399) (4,563,387) (679,732)

- - - - 541,368 -

(248,909) 16,490,143 2,724,522 (3,254,177) 61,199,796 21,454,841

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

50



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Global Equity
Premium Income Active
UCITS ETF
Notes usb
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 (1,138,775)
Dividend income 2 3,877,493
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 -
Interest income 2 21,346
Securities lending income 2,18 -
Other income 18,962
Total operating income/(loss) 2,779,026
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (587,479)
Total operating expenses (587,479)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense (1,517)
Distributions 2,13 (9,225,818)
Total finance costs (9,227,335)
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax (7,035,788)
Withholding tax 2 (421,756)
Capital gain tax 2 -

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations

(7,457,544)

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Global High Yield Global Research Global Research Enhanced Green Social Japan Research
Corporate Bond Enhanced Index Equity Index Equity SRI Paris Sustainable Bond Enhanced Index Equity
Multi-Factor UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF
usb usb usb usb usb

(2,112,355) 742,837,767 19,785,816 (2,242,993) 14,361,597
50,612 107,746,152 3,510,152 12,605 7,514,881
16,467,529 - - 1,428,219 -
34,446 71,978 85,065 24,792 13,590

20,087 - - - -

4,106 13,137 1,231 1,298 1,292
14,464,425 850,669,034 23,382,264 (776,079) 21,891,360
(787,776) (13,948,857) (500,297) (111,072) (879,551)
(787,776) (13,948,857) (500,297) (111,072) (879,551)

(3,511) - (118) - (464)
(5,054,283) (4,565,745) (157,634) - (240,680)
(5,057,794) (4,565,745) (157,752) - (241,144)
8,618,855 832,154,432 22,724,215 (887,151) 20,770,665

- (12,785,521) (450,685) - (1,125,392)

8,618,855 819,368,911 22,273,530 (887,151) 19,645,273

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Nasdaq Equity Premium
Income Active
UCITS ETF (4)

Notes usb
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 3,003,193
Dividend income 2 607,695
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 -
Interest income 2
Securities lending income 2,18
Other income
Total operating income/(loss) 3,610,888
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (250,761)
Total operating expenses (250,761)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense (1,325)
Distributions 2,13 (3,308,116)
Total finance costs (3,309,441)
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax 50,686
Withholding tax 2 (85,182)
Capital gain tax 2 -
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations (34,496)

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(4) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

UK Equity Us Equity us Equity Premium US Growth US Research Enhanced
Core Active Income Active Equity Active Index Equity

UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF (6) UCITS ETF (5) (ESG) UCITS ETF
GBP usop usb usb usb
8,689,969 1,479,113 (460,564) 3,220,235 1,637,168,585
7,550,903 101,244 77,190 84,725 116,522,547
9,684 5,703 226 3,604
11,153 - - -

1,131 863 136 60,989
16,262,840 1,586,923 (383,374) 3,305,322 1,753,755,725
(513,731) (33,532) (13,951) (68,265) (17,935,546)
(513,731) (33,532) (13,951) (68,265) (17,935,546)
(59) (463) (33) (10,825)
(1,237,271) (120,197) - (2,149,801)
(1,237,330) (120,660) 33) (2,160,626)
14,511,779 1,553,391 (517,985) 3,237,024 1,733,659,553
(35,162) (15,690) (10,852) (9,759) (16,398,074)
14,476,617 1,537,701 (528,837) 3,227,265 1,717,261,479

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(5) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(6) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

US Research Enhanced
Index Equity SRI Paris
Aligned UCITS ETF

Notes usb
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 30,582,814
Dividend income 2 2,588,323
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 -
Interest income 2 14,081
Securities lending income 2,18 -
Other income 821
Total operating income/(loss) 33,186,039
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (426,693)
Total operating expenses (426,693)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense (713)
Distributions 2,13 (3,692)
Total finance costs (4,405)
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax 32,754,941
Withholding tax 2 (371,950)
Capital gain tax 2 -
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 32,382,991

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

us value usD Corporate Bond USD Emerging USD High Yield usD Ultra-Short
Equity Active Research Enhanced Index Markets Sovereign Bond Active Income
UCITS ETF (7) (ESG) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (8) UCITS ETF
usb usop usb usbp usb
1,329,750 (1,807,796) (47,093,699) (320,013) 398,437
263,223 11,929 161,197 327 1,196,285

- 2,611,579 39,061,014 169,729 14,360,324

230 7,678 31,039 48 266,690

- - 81,668 - -

75 6l 46,550 4,871

1,593,278 823,451 (7,712,231) (149,909) 16,226,607
(60,636) (101,244) (2,456,673) (10,800) (539,240)
(60,636) (101,244) (2,456,673) (10,800) (539,240)
(37) (40) (363) (513)

- (56,991) (7,679,769) (5,896,859)

37) (57,031) (7,680,132) - (5,897,372)
1,532,605 665,176 (17,849,036) (160,709) 9,789,995
(35,522) (10,996)
1,497,083 665,176 (17,849,036) (160,709) 9,778,999

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(7) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(8) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2023

AC Asia Pacific ex Japan
Research Enhanced Index

BetaBuilders China
Aggregate Bond

Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

Notes usb usb
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 316,597 3,588,171
Dividend income 2 708,039 -
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 - 2,614,583
Interest income 2 5,379 3,534
Securities lending income 2,18 - -
Other income 1,120 1,517
Total operating income/(loss) 1,031,135 6,207,805
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (73,645) (259,465)
Total operating expenses (73,645) (259,465)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense (107) -
Distributions 2,13 (92,176) (820,688)
Total finance costs (92,283) (820,688)
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax 865,207 5,127,652
Withholding tax 2 (66,124)
Capital gain tax 2 (5,081)
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 794,002 5,127,652

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders
EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr us Equity us Small Cap
1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Equity UCITS ETF
EUR EUR GBP usb usb

934,873 1,210,233 659,873 5,270,379 10,568,197

- - - 335,185 495,632

856,341 490,806 1,216,339 - -

1,385 3,730 1,776 927 789

4,203 3 2,573 866 16,909

1,912 2,740 305 729 513
1,798,714 1,707,512 1,880,866 5,608,086 11,082,040
(51,370) (18,318) (33,007) (8,103) (38,498)
(51,370) (18,318) (33,007) (8,103) (38,498)

- - (2,745) (18) -

- - (1,123,034) (21,925) (199,826)

- - (1,125,779) (21,943) (199,826)

1,747,344 1,689,194 722,080 5,578,040 10,843,716

- - - (47,653) (72,220)

1,747,344 1,689,194 722,080 5,530,387 10,771,496

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond
0-1yr UCITS ETF

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond
0-3 Months UCITS ETF

Notes usb usb
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 380,256,414 19,146,281
Dividend income 2 - 228,059
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 112,903,101 11,191,973
Interest income 2 1,972,891 102,722
Securities lending income 2,18 504,542 11,978
Other income 25,452 5,698
Total operating income/(loss) 495,662,400 30,686,711
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (2,243,674) (185,408)
Total operating expenses (2,243,674) (185,408)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense (48)
Distributions 2,13 -
Total finance costs (48) -
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax 493,418,678 30,501,303
Withholding tax 2 -
Capital gain tax 2
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 493,418,678 30,501,303

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Carbon Transition

Carbon Transition

China A Research

Climate Change

us Treasury Bond us Treasury Bond China Equity (CTB) Global Equity (CTB) Enhanced Index Equity Solutions
1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usb usb usb usb usb
1,149,121 9,266,735 (604,526) 135,380,022 (4,136,331) 1,213,038
- 12,029 113,678 16,861,821 393,591 333,007
2,860,440 7,927,543 - - - -
9,185 11,186 478 92,777 8,772 3,738
1,346 2,650 - - - -
622 8,614 4,234 660
4,020,714 17,228,757 (490,370) 152,338,854 (3,733,308) 1,549,783
(57,876) (210,706) (17,604) (1,470,741) (73,168) (93,548)
(57,876) (210,706) (17,604) (1,470,741) (73,168) (93,548)
(128) (65) - (127)
- - (82,427) -
- (128) - (65) (82,427) (127)
3,962,838 17,017,923 (507,974) 150,868,048 (3,888,903) 1,456,108
(8,490) (2,324,934) (39,421) (37,753)
3,962,838 17,017,923 (516,464) 148,543,114 (3,928,324) 1,418,355

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

EUR Corporate Bond
1-5 yr Research Enhanced
Index (ESG) UCITS ETF

EUR Corporate Bond
Research Enhanced Index
(ESG) UCITS ETF

Notes EUR EUR
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 2,527,805 10,626,397
Dividend income 2 - -
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 1,903,319 3,872,146
Interest income 2 8,704 13,548
Securities lending income 2,18 - -
Other income 2,702 3,419
Total operating income/(loss) 4,442,530 14,515,510
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (43,086) (143,699)
Total operating expenses (43,086) (143,699)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense
Distributions 2,13 -
Total finance costs R R
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax 4,399,444 14,371,811
Withholding tax 2 (5,988) (14,572)
Capital gain tax 2 - -
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 4,393,456 14,357,239

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

EUR Ultra-Short

Europe Research Enhanced

Eurozone Research

GBP Ultra-Short

Global Aggregate

Global Emerging Markets

Income Index Equity Enhanced Index Equity Income Bond Active Research Enhanced Index

UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (1) Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF

EUR EUR EUR GBP usb usb

4,523,324 65,049,766 19,633,846 1,298,614 2,836,068 57,137,794

- 15,886,669 3,303,764 598,509 5,974 33,631,097

26,955,648 - - 4,097,442 326,721 -

823,852 4,248 2,835 1,498,765 4,653 62,167
7,886 3,240 349 6,511 401

32,310,710 80,943,923 22,940,794 7,499,841 3,173,817 90,831,058

(853,223) (1,347,586) (289,038) (178,063) (22,929) (3,292,636)

(853,223) (1,347,586) (289,038) (178,063) (22,929) (3,292,636)

: - (1,748) (259)

(51,089) (42,076) (4,140,804) (96,541)

- (51,089) (42,076) (4,142,552) - (96,800)

31,457,487 79,545,248 22,609,680 3,179,226 3,150,888 87,441,622

(1,269,052) (194,266) (4,949) (4,060,112)

- - - (4,357,045)

31,457,487 78,276,196 22,415,414 3,179,226 3,145,939 79,024,465

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

62



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Global Equity Global Equity
Multi-Factor Premium Income Active
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2)
Notes usb usb
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 13,063,689 194,681
Dividend income 2 4,090,627 20,977
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 - -
Interest income 2 9,172 503
Securities lending income 2,18 12,975 -
Other income 209
Total operating income/(loss) 17,176,672 216,161
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (239,623) (3,400)
Total operating expenses (239,623) (3,400)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense (122)
Distributions 2,13 -
Total finance costs (122) -
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax 16,936,927 212,761
Withholding tax 2 (484,947) (4,353)
Capital gain tax 2 - -
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 16,451,980 208,408

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Global High Yield Corporate
Bond Multi-Factor

Global Research
Enhanced Index Equity

Global Research Enhanced
Index Equity SRI Paris

Green Social
Sustainable Bond

Japan Research
Enhanced Index Equity

UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF (4) (ESG) UCITS ETF
usb usp usp usop usop
12,747,489 472,331,935 2,608,716 1,115,071 14,950,880
29,828 42,944,432 191,975 16,713 2,015,388
13,482,733 - - 1,117,492 -
32,274 42,687 3,746 16,792 9,895
58,821 - - - -
6,853 18,562 347 2,570 970
26,357,998 515,337,616 2,804,784 2,268,638 16,977,133
(623,790) (5,370,918) (27,376) (92,466) (213,372)
(623,790) (5,370,918) (27,376) (92,466) (213,372)
(2,930) (53) - (46) (89)
(7,680,596) (211,877) (1,251) - (121,301)
(7,683,526) (211,930) (1,251) (46) (121,390)
18,050,682 509,754,768 2,776,157 2,176,126 16,642,371
- (5,299,754) (28,739) (103) (298,828)
18,050,682 504,455,014 2,747,418 2,176,023 16,343,543

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

(4) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

RMB Ultra-Short UK Equity
Income Core
UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF
Notes usb GBP
Investment income
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 (1,723,846) (171,797)
Dividend income 2 - 3,903,598
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 1,107,330 -
Interest income 2 46,999 6,097
Securities lending income 2,18 - 1,011
Other income 562 3,943
Total operating income/(loss) (568,955) 3,742,852
Expenses
Fees and expenses 5 (134,234) (238,077)
Total operating expenses (134,234) (238,077)
Finance costs
Overdraft expense (954) (129)
Distributions 2,13 (456,298) (562,379)
Total finance costs (457,252) (562,508)
Net income/(loss) from operations before tax (1,160,441) 2,942,267
Withholding tax 2 - (19,474)
Capital gain tax 2 -
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations (1,160,441) 2,922,793

The net income arose solely from continuing operations, except for the RMB Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above

Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(5) Sub-Fund liquidated on 12 December 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

US Research Enhanced

US Research Enhanced

usD Corporate Bond

uSD Emerging

usD ultra-Short

Index Equity Index Equity SRI Paris Research Enhanced Index Markets Sovereign Income
(ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF (6) (ESG) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usop usb usb usb
757,055,662 1,230,491 2,720,648 25,141,297 1,218,419
50,060,558 67,317 17,358 78,133 1,036,955
- - 3,510,778 28,790,409 9,199,037
5,660 452 9,824 35,603 626,800
, - - 102,988 -
53,779 304 1,884 10,640 6,213
807,175,659 1,298,564 6,260,492 54,159,070 12,087,424
(6,296,074) (8,888) (146,894) (1,859,889) (424,226)
(6,296,074) (8,888) (146,894) (1,859,889) (424,226)
(2,572) - (247) (14,269) (72)
(1,126,304) - (88,926) (4,613,470) (5,832,524)
(1,128,876) - (89,173) (4,627,739) (5,832,596)
799,750,709 1,289,676 6,024,425 47,671,442 5,830,602
(7,063,582) (10,783) - -
792,687,127 1,278,893 6,024,425 47,671,442 5,830,602

The net income arose solely from continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses for the year other than as set out in the above Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(6) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares
For the year ended 31 December 2024

AC Asia Pacific ex Japan
Research Enhanced Index
Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF

Notes usb
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 25,481,190
Share transactions
Issue of shares 8 19,537,242
Redemption of shares 8 (9,466,292)
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions 10,070,950
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 1,822,859
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year 37,374,999

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

All Country Research BetaBuilders China BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders
Enhanced Index Equity Aggregate Bond EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr UsS Equity
Active UCITS ETF (1) UCITS ETF 1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usb EUR EUR GBP usb

118,564,186 37,820,255 35,019,543 52,074,935 18,148,520

25,868,458 108,592,524 4,946,775 39,514,370 15,711,666 21,648,681

(50,159) (165,131,822) (26,585,678) (59,689,949) (30,947,470) (18,837,451)

25,818,299 (56,539,298) (21,638,903) (20,175,579) (15,235,804) 2,811,230

(819,707) 7,224,216 700,276 (71,624) (725,926) 4,727,716

24,998,592 69,249,104 16,881,628 14,772,340 36,113,205 25,687,466

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

BetaBuilders

us Small Cap

Equity UCITS ETF

Notes usb

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 128,865,067
Share transactions

Issue of shares 8 124,644,917

Redemption of shares 8 (42,980,859)

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions 81,664,058

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 20,582,160

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year 231,111,285

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

Carbon Transition
China Equity (CTB)

Carbon Transition
Global Equity (CTB)

0-1yr UCITS ETF 0-3 Months UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usop usop usop usop usop usop
2,842,737,059 455,183,350 100,376,250 254,079,352 4,481,871 1,084,939,027
1,279,605,117 1,001,237,519 64,071,777 163,974,515 1,746,179 391,826,555
(684,474,007) (539,177,921) (60,774,171) (343,244,965) - (746,113,678)
595,131,110 462,059,598 3,297,606 (179,270,450) 1,746,179 (354,287,123)
(233,586,686) (38,139,325) 3,031,852 (1,752,233) 1,242,199 201,138,329
3,204,281,483 879,103,623 106,705,708 73,056,669 7,470,249 931,790,233

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

China A Research
Enhanced Index Equity
(ESG) UCITS ETF

Notes usp
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 24,885,727
Share transactions
Issue of shares 8 13,746,098
Redemption of shares 8 (14,247,289)
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions (501,191)
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 3,015,036
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year 27,399,572

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Climate Change EUR Corporate Bond EUR Corporate Bond EUR High Yield EUR Ultra-Short
Solutions 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Research Enhanced Index Bond Active Income
UCITS ETF Index (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF

usb EUR EUR EUR EUR
18,380,889 105,232,581 222,348,048 857,091,497
42,577,743 134,596,156 280,519,531 38,584,677 400,559,163
(12,410,876) (46,547,603) (108,143,876) (5,568,092) (421,731,953)
30,166,867 88,048,553 172,375,655 33,016,585 (21,172,790)
1,155,936 7,102,717 17,486,879 (228,914) 32,206,458
49,703,692 200,383,851 412,210,582 32,787,671 868,125,165

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Europe Research
Enhanced Index Equity
(ESG) UCITS ETF

Notes EUR
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 971,189,870
Share transactions
Issue of shares 8 943,288,043
Redemption of shares 8 (167,212,859)
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions 776,075,184
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 71,739,008
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year 1,819,004,062

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Europe Research Enhanced Eurozone Research GBP Ultra-Short Global Aggregate Global Emerging Markets Global Equity
Index Equity SRI Paris Enhanced Index Equity Income Bond Active Research Enhanced Index Multi-Factor
Aligned Active UCITS ETF (3) (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
EUR EUR GBP usb usb usb

153,507,484 177,615,313 43,500,232 1,169,827,135 155,354,175

9,918,250 301,242,470 85,111,723 301,945,711 425,043,216 74,540,709

- (113,059,801) (94,737,710) (158,699,324) (238,307,611) (75,833,540)

9,918,250 188,182,669 (9,625,987) 143,246,387 186,735,605 (1,292,831)

(248,909) 16,490,143 2,724,522 (3,254,177) 61,199,796 21,454,841

9,669,341 358,180,296 170,713,848 183,492,442 1,417,762,536 175,516,185

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Global Equity

Premium Income Active

UCITS ETF

Notes usp

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 17,898,003
Share transactions

Issue of shares 8 507,461,517

Redemption of shares 8 (85,386,813)

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions 422,074,704

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations (7,457,544)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year 432,515,163

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Global High Yield Global Research Global Research Enhanced Green Social Japan Research
Corporate Bond Enhanced Index Equity Index Equity SRI Paris Sustainable Bond Enhanced Index Equity
Multi-Factor UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF
usb usb usb usb usb

153,626,703 3,881,630,540 42,988,120 39,391,274 137,140,904
721,053,800 5,225,523,872 378,549,166 43,573,461 501,317,551
(617,397,469) (1,499,647,744) (61,614,347) (44,569,165) (189,660,839)
103,656,331 3,725,876,128 316,934,819 (995,704) 311,656,712

8,618,855 819,368,911 22,273,530 (887,151) 19,645,273
265,901,889 8,426,875,579 382,196,469 37,508,419 468,442,889

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Nasdaq Equity Premium
Income Active
UCITS ETF (4)

Notes usp
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year
Share transactions
Issue of shares 8 857,984,212
Redemption of shares 8 (3,608,805)
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions 854,375,407
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations (34,496)
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year 854,340,911

(4) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

UK Equity Us Equity us Equity Premium US Growth US Research Enhanced
Core Active Income Active Equity Active Index Equity

UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF (6) UCITS ETF (5) (ESG) UCITS ETF
GBP usop usb usb usb
137,930,974 5,189,464,688
165,239,682 17,426,896 32,064,465 28,169,334 7,311,770,669
(49,298,883) (4,877,715) (1,800,015) (5,975,756) (1,433,171,857)
115,940,799 12,549,181 30,264,450 22,193,578 5,878,598,812
14,476,617 1,537,701 (528,837) 3,227,265 1,717,261,479
268,348,390 14,086,882 29,735,613 25,420,843 12,785,324,979

(5) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(6) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

US Research Enhanced
Index Equity SRI Paris
Aligned UCITS ETF

Notes usb
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 14,978,483
Share transactions
Issue of shares 8 579,188,645
Redemption of shares 8 (181,263,765)

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions 397,924,880

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 32,382,991

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year 445,286,354

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

79



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

us value usD Corporate Bond USD Emerging USD High Yield usD Ultra-Short
Equity Active Research Enhanced Index Markets Sovereign Bond Active Income
UCITS ETF (7) (ESG) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (8) UCITS ETF
usb usop usb usbp usb
60,965,024 570,743,576 - 238,489,090

22,056,271 37,870,008 609,017,163 25,144,986 526,248,609
(3,043,520) (58,955,998) (615,997,872) (50,197) (191,019,763)
19,012,751 (21,085,990) (6,980,709) 25,094,789 335,228,846
1,497,083 665,176 (17,849,036) (160,709) 9,778,999
20,509,834 40,544,210 545,913,831 24,934,080 583,496,935

(7) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(8) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares
For the year ended 31 December 2023

AC Asia Pacific ex Japan
Research Enhanced Index

BetaBuilders China
Aggregate Bond

Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

Notes usp usp

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 20,174,925 84,272,601
Share transactions

Issue of shares 8 5,727,327 71,263,946

Redemption of shares 8 (1,215,064) (42,100,013)

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions 4,512,263 29,163,933

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 794,002 5,127,652

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year 25,481,190 118,564,186

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders
EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr us Equity us Small Cap
1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Equity UCITS ETF
EUR EUR GBP usb usb

55,527,189 15,407,001 37,778,587 18,513,811 19,365,012
13,150,553 68,556,348 17,219,894 21,390,017 111,538,871
(32,604,831) (50,633,000) (3,645,626) (27,285,695) (12,810,312)
(19,454,278) 17,923,348 13,574,268 (5,895,678) 98,728,559
1,747,344 1,689,194 722,080 5,530,387 10,771,496
37,820,255 35,019,543 52,074,935 18,148,520 128,865,067

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond
0-1yr UCITS ETF

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond
0-3 Months UCITS ETF

Notes usp usp
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 2,460,554,164 106,593,528
Share transactions
Issue of shares 8 907,023,393 467,683,403
Redemption of shares 8 (1,018,259,176) (149,594,884)

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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493,418,678

318,088,519
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders BetaBuilders Carbon Transition Carbon Transition China A Research Climate Change

us Treasury Bond us Treasury Bond China Equity (CTB) Global Equity (CTB) Enhanced Index Equity Solutions
1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usb usb usb usb usb

92,157,298 211,484,436 4,998,335 203,081,941 8,532,899 13,388,080
53,052,428 212,636,977 781,647,502 22,257,418 4,588,238
(48,796,314) (187,059,984) (48,333,530) (1,976,266) (1,013,784)
4,256,114 25,576,993 733,313,972 20,281,152 3,574,454
3,962,838 17,017,923 (516,464) 148,543,114 (3,928,324) 1,418,355
100,376,250 254,079,352 4,481,871 1,084,939,027 24,885,727 18,380,889

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

EUR Corporate Bond
1-5 yr Research Enhanced
Index (ESG) UCITS ETF

EUR Corporate Bond
Research Enhanced Index
(ESG) UCITS ETF

Notes EUR EUR
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 22,501,124 122,657,250
Share transactions
Issue of shares 8 101,826,873 118,219,513
Redemption of shares 8 (23,488,872) (32,885,954)

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

EUR Ultra-Short Europe Research Enhanced

Eurozone Research

GBP Ultra-Short

Global Aggregate

Global Emerging Markets

Income Index Equity Enhanced Index Equity Income Bond Active Research Enhanced Index
UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (1) Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
EUR EUR EUR GBP usb usb
1,183,139,306 315,342,187 93,900,904 121,032,726 833,421,561
623,217,218 601,764,162 111,801,870 149,710,893 65,907,194 306,735,865

(980,722,514)

(24,192,675)

(74,610,704)

(96,307,532)

(25,552,901)

(49,354,756)

(357,505,296) 577,571,487 37,191,166 53,403,361 40,354,293 257,381,109
31,457,487 78,276,196 22,415,414 3,179,226 3,145,939 79,024,465
857,091,497 971,189,870 153,507,484 177,615,313 43,500,232 1,169,827,135

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Global Equity Global Equity
Multi-Factor Premium Income Active
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2)
Notes usb usb

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 87,190,108

Share transactions

Issue of shares 8 51,712,087 19,946,445
Redemption of shares 8 - (2,256,850)
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions 51,712,087 17,689,595
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations 16,451,980 208,408
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year 155,354,175 17,898,003

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Global High Yield Corporate
Bond Multi-Factor

Global Research
Enhanced Index Equity

Global Research Enhanced
Index Equity SRI Paris

Green Social
Sustainable Bond

Japan Research
Enhanced Index Equity

UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF (4) (ESG) UCITS ETF
usb usp usp usop usop
216,836,117 1,110,348,350 57,753,939
486,235,366 2,858,404,771 43,220,764 51,828,068 122,824,196
(567,495,462) (591,577,595) (2,980,062) (14,612,817) (59,780,774)
(81,260,096) 2,266,827,176 40,240,702 37,215,251 63,043,422
18,050,682 504,455,014 2,747,418 2,176,023 16,343,543
153,626,703 3,881,630,540 42,988,120 39,391,274 137,140,904

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

RMB Ultra-Short UK Equity

Income Core

UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF

Notes usp GBP

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the beginning of the year 49,511,703 11,420,506
Share transactions

Issue of shares 8 282,436 134,777,331

8 (48,633,698) (11,189,656)

Redemption of shares
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from share transactions

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares from operations

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares at the end of the year

(5) Sub-Fund liquidated on 12 December 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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(48,351,262)

(1,160,441)

123,587,675

2,922,793
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

US Research Enhanced

US Research Enhanced

usD Corporate Bond

uSD Emerging

usD ultra-Short

Index Equity Index Equity SRI Paris Research Enhanced Index Markets Sovereign Income
(ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF (6) (ESG) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usop usb usb usb
1,999,402,530 89,584,285 382,052,907 225,210,094
3,148,942,843 15,293,105 89,752,826 583,607,828 245,105,035
(751,567,812) (1,593,515) (124,396,512) (442,588,601) (237,656,641)
2,397,375,031 13,699,590 (34,643,686) 141,019,227 7,448,394
792,687,127 1,278,893 6,024,425 47,671,442 5,830,602
5,189,464,688 14,978,483 60,965,024 570,743,576 238,489,090

(6) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2024

AC Asia Pacific ex Japan
Research Enhanced Index
Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF

usb
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations 1,822,859
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions 100,592
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (11,901,574)
(Increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral -
(Increase)/decrease in cash collateral received -
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers 7,887
Decrease/(increase) in dividend receivable 6,598
Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable -
(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement (18,561)
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables -
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable 10,670
Increase/(decrease) in securities purchased awaiting settlement -
Increase/(decrease) in other payables 11,945
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (9,959,584)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 19,537,242
Redemptions of shares (9,466,292)
Distributions paid (100,592)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 9,970,358
Net increase/(decrease) in cash for the year 10,774
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 130,844
Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 141,618
Supplementary information
Dividend received 987,531
Interest received 4,796
Interest paid (670)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

All Country Research

BetaBuilders China

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Enhanced Index Equity Aggregate Bond EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr UsS Equity
Active UCITS ETF (1) UCITS ETF 1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usb EUR EUR GBP usb
(819,707) 7,224,216 700,276 (71,624) (725,926) 4,727,716
880,753 1,750,366 16,577

(24,900,575) 48,978,664 20,797,390 20,063,161 15,888,765 (7,521,984)
- (4,538)

(11,498) - - - - 1,736

- 773,998 122,154 166,102 45,596 -

(79,440) (1,692,786) 1,360,457 (840,376) 102,772 1,633

_ - 503 - 289 44

68,042 (151,194) - - - 2,886
3,254 (19,454) (5,143) (1,751) (1,953) 391

89,178 1,358,522 (717,640) (94,398) (886,873) -

- - - - (92)

(25,650,746) 57,352,719 22,257,997 19,221,114 16,173,036 (2,775,631)
25,818,637 108,592,524 4,946,775 39,515,025 15,711,666 21,648,681

- (165,131,822) (26,585,678) (58,753,553) (30,106,661) (18,837,451)

(880,753) - - (1,797,833) (16,577)

25,818,637 (57,420,051) (21,638,903) (19,238,528) (16,192,828) 2,794,653
167,891 (67,332) 619,094 (17,414) (19,792) 19,022

- 229,541 (610,566) 27,259 36,368 58,809

167,891 162,209 8,528 9,845 16,576 77,831
5,986 - - - - 315,016

461 3,594,283 886,779 728,171 1,810,777 637

- (1,197) - - (74) -

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

BetaBuilders

us Small Cap
Equity UCITS ETF
usb
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations 20,582,160
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions 1,198,649

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:

(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(Increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral
(Increase)/decrease in cash collateral received

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers

Decrease/(increase) in dividend receivable

Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable

(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement

Decrease/(increase) in other receivables

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable

Increase/(decrease) in securities purchased awaiting settlement
Increase/(decrease) in other payables

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares
Redemptions of shares

Distributions paid

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash for the year
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year

Supplementary information
Dividend received

Interest received

Interest paid

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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(100,015,492)

(189,980)
(46,760)

(60,785)
(4,366)

99,150
38,626
90,233

(78,308,565)

124,645,130
(42,980,859)
(1,198,649)

80,465,622

2,157,057
19,579

2,176,636

2,415,217
67,889
@9)



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond

Carbon Transition
China Equity (CTB)

Carbon Transition
Global Equity (CTB)

0-1yr UCITS ETF 0-3 Months UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usop usop usop usop usop usop
(233,586,686) (38,139,325) 3,031,852 (1,752,233) 1,242,199 201,138,329
(419,171,523) (447,786,298) (6,253,296) 181,177,248 (2,987,120) 154,033,878
(15,172,816) (9,989,858) -
- - - (248,849)
- - - - 3,452 119,458
(2,824,995) (607,057) (174,779) 1,167,571 - -
157,116,034 (35,378,418) 1,570,983 901,766
(313) (2,361) (277) (40)
89,853,398 23,210,824 70,861 150,164 - 143,618
110,553 83,932 (236) (24,398) 1,850 (8,840)
(11,032,136) 117,393,192 (1,518,971) (5,798,223) - -
15,174,548 9,989,858 - -
(419,533,936) (381,225,511) (3,273,863) 175,821,855 (1,739,619) 355,177,594
1,280,136,503 1,001,765,929 64,079,701 164,067,879 1,746,179 391,833,858
(684,474,007) (539,177,921) (60,774,171) (341,072,805) - (746,113,678)
595,662,496 462,588,008 3,305,530 (177,004,926) 1,746,179 (354,279,820)
176,128,560 81,362,497 31,667 (1,183,071) 6,560 897,774
2,506,329 563,237 69,572 1,261,704 4,942 1,239,586
178,634,889 81,925,734 101,239 78,633 11,502 2,137,360
2,240,629 719,068 769 8,485 201,555 22,160,899
164,370,225 35,815,969 3,697,489 7,024,508 963 63,096
(16,149) - - - (126) (172)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

China A Research
Enhanced Index Equity
(ESG) UCITS ETF

usb
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations 3,015,036
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions 159,233
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (2,493,753)
(Increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral -
(Increase)/decrease in cash collateral received
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers
Decrease/(increase) in dividend receivable
Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable
(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable 6,240
Increase/(decrease) in securities purchased awaiting settlement -
Increase/(decrease) in other payables
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 686,756
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 13,746,098
Redemptions of shares (14,247,289)
Distributions paid (159,233)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (660,424)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash for the year 26,332
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 203,863
Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 230,195
Supplementary information
Dividend received 947,860
Interest received

Interest paid

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Climate Change EUR Corporate Bond EUR Corporate Bond EUR High Yield EUR Ultra-Short
Solutions 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Research Enhanced Index Bond Active Income
UCITS ETF Index (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF
usb EUR EUR EUR EUR
1,155,936 7,102,717 17,486,879 (228,914) 32,206,458
(30,835,302) (93,738,316) (186,683,855) (31,822,672) 29,217,714
- - - - 210,600

(4,267) - - - -

- (1,192,743) (2,987,911) (524,300) (954,373)

- (2,281,461) (2,375,032) (3,837) (69,406)

- - - 234

- - (32,089) 27,852 464,004

26,658 7,027 13,117 7,678 78,695
553,595 2,361,314 3,116,867 132,807 3,965,151
(29,103,380) (87,741,462) (171,462,024) (32,411,386) 65,119,077
42,577,743 134,596,156 280,529,447 38,584,677 400,558,912
(12,410,876) (46,547,603) (108,143,876) (5,568,092) (421,731,953)
30,166,867 88,048,553 172,385,571 33,016,585 (21,173,041)
1,063,487 307,091 923,547 605,199 43,946,036
304,080 318,072 811,794 - 71,985,760
1,367,567 625,163 1,735,341 605,199 115,931,796
472,386 - - - B
4,567 4,061,377 7,572,498 (449,743) 28,994,580

(136) - - - -

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Europe Research
Enhanced Index Equity
(ESG) UCITS ETF

EUR
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations 71,739,008
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions 1,066,999
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (842,098,448)
(Increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral -
(Increase)/decrease in cash collateral received
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers -
Decrease/(increase) in dividend receivable (1,589,299)
Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable -
(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement 98
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables -
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable 453,852
Increase/(decrease) in securities purchased awaiting settlement

Increase/(decrease) in other payables

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares
Redemptions of shares

Distributions paid

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash for the year
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year

Supplementary information
Dividend received

Interest received

Interest paid

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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(6,430,615)

(776,858,405)

952,835,286
(167,046,734)
(1,066,999)

784,721,553

7,863,148
7,066,767

14,929,915

46,826,968
9,305
(104)



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Europe Research Enhanced Eurozone Research GBP Ultra-Short Global Aggregate Global Emerging Markets Global Equity
Index Equity SRI Paris Enhanced Index Equity Income Bond Active Research Enhanced Index Multi-Factor
Aligned Active UCITS ETF (3) (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
EUR EUR GBP usb usb usb
(248,909) 16,490,143 2,724,522 (3,254,177) 61,199,796 21,454,841
36,017 6,117,576 54,215 136,630
(9,601,292) (203,514,949) (6,965,585) (139,726,211) (243,105,804) (19,996,258)
- (636,329)
- - (1,738,844) - (45,891)
(222) (227,233) - - 608,302 9,273
- - (814,833) (1,723,474) - -
17,874,546 - 139 (688,655) -
- 224 - (481)
- 108,973 362 4,446,005 - 12,001
1,395 81,526 (1,483) 68,303 222,533 12,113
- - (229,155) 8,610,097 (258,692) (102)
- (1,126,487) (3,835,222) 637,754
(9,849,028) (169,150,977) 831,404 (134,390,210) (185,721,112) 1,446,921
9,918,250 301,242,991 85,111,723 308,104,517 425,043,216 74,540,709
- (131,092,921) (94,737,710) (160,481,537) (238,307,611) (75,833,540)
(36,017) (6,300,832) (54,215) (136,630) -
9,918,250 170,114,053 (15,926,819) 147,568,765 186,598,975 (1,292,831)
69,222 963,076 (15,095,415) 13,178,555 877,863 154,090
- 904,290 29,374,264 2,214,581 3,392,647 161,161
69,222 1,867,366 14,278,849 15,393,136 4,270,510 315,251
125 9,761,527 423,633 156,624 41,353,504 5,786,889
72 4,191 8,223,788 3,075,624 101,127 10,453
- - - (2,893) (37,922) (181)

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Global Equity
Premium Income Active
UCITS ETF
usb
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations (7,457,544)
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions 9,225,818
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (350,512,595)

(Increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral
(Increase)/decrease in cash collateral received

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers

Decrease/(increase) in dividend receivable

Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable

(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement

Decrease/(increase) in other receivables

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable

Increase/(decrease) in securities purchased awaiting settlement
Increase/(decrease) in other payables

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares
Redemptions of shares

Distributions paid

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash for the year
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year

Supplementary information
Dividend received

Interest received

Interest paid

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

99

(59,294,123)

(447,142)

33,495

367,870
218,107
(1,818,282)
(656,594)

(410,340,990)

510,569,535
(85,949,172)
(7,080,414)

417,539,949

7,198,959
806,499

8,005,458

3,430,351
21,346
(1,517)



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Global High Yield Global Research Global Research Enhanced Green Social Japan Research
Corporate Bond Enhanced Index Equity Index Equity SRI Paris Sustainable Bond Enhanced Index Equity
Multi-Factor UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF
usb usb usb usb usb
8,618,855 819,368,911 22,273,530 (887,151) 19,645,273
5,054,283 4,565,745 157,634 - 240,680
(109,713,094) (4,520,074,431) (335,276,428) 2,244,850 (326,367,913)
2,115,663 - - - -
- - - (78,817) 292,202
- (3,108,570) (258,073) - (345,502)
(2,074,966) - (457) (36,278) -
267,542 (32,703,996) - (2,385) (247)
2,964 - - - -
1,291,515 16,167,837 45,667 318,518 212,061
65,248 2,069,939 122,668 (2,026) 137,385
(2,100,330) 32,233,270 - (890,711) -
(3,106,926) 1,232 (312,035) (204,068)
(99,579,246) (3,681,480,063) (313,247,494) 461,932 (306,186,061)
721,137,893 5,227,778,491 378,549,166 44,660,269 500,782,095
(617,472,025) (1,501,888,545) (61,614,347) (44,569,165) (189,129,833)
(5,054,283) (4,565,745) (157,634) - (240,680)
98,611,585 3,721,324,201 316,777,185 91,104 311,411,582
(967,661) 39,844,138 3,529,691 553,036 5,225,521
3,786,185 27,173,414 554,519 728,289 517,803
2,818,524 67,017,552 4,084,210 1,281,325 5,743,324
50,612 104,637,582 3,252,079 12,605 7,169,379
14,427,009 71,978 84,608 1,416,733 13,590
(3,511) - (118) - (464)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Nasdaq Equity Premium
Income Active
UCITS ETF (4)

usb
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations (34,496)
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions 3,308,116
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (631,078,621)

(Increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral
(Increase)/decrease in cash collateral received

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers

Decrease/(increase) in dividend receivable

Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable

(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement

Decrease/(increase) in other receivables

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable

Increase/(decrease) in securities purchased awaiting settlement
Increase/(decrease) in other payables

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares
Redemptions of shares

Distributions paid

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash for the year
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year

Supplementary information
Dividend received

Interest received

Interest paid

(4) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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(210,527,147)

(108,868)

1,613,810
250,472

(836,576,734)

857,984,212
(3,608,805)

854,375,407

17,798,673

17,798,673

498,827

(1,325)



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

UK Equity Us Equity us Equity Premium US Growth US Research Enhanced
Core Active Income Active Equity Active Index Equity
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF (6) UCITS ETF (5) (ESG) UCITS ETF
GBP usop usb usb usb
14,476,617 1,537,701 (528,837) 3,227,265 1,717,261,479
1,237,271 - 120,197 - 2,149,801

(127,053,526)

(14,133,639)

(24,193,428)

(24,909,323)

(7,582,473,185)

(5,387,177) -
(215,708) - . ) _
(286,995) (6,636) (25,921) (1,060) (4,378,286)
(1,224) - - ) 30
48,450 128,116 23,180 88,025 4,468,900
52,810 8,051 13,660 16,285 2,659,689
557,195 - 4,016 - (23,517,176)
453,248 275,619 - - -
(110,731,862) (12,190,788) (29,974,310) (21,578,808) (5,883,828,698)
164,513,176 17,426,896 32,064,124 28,169,334 7,335,348,715
(49,142,761) (4,877,715) (1,800,015) (5,975,756) (1,433,138,541)
(1,237,271) - - - (2,149,801)
114,133,144 12,549,181 30,264,109 22,193,578 5,900,060,373
3,401,282 358,393 289,799 614,770 16,231,675
1,323,128 - - - 11,819,131
4,724,410 358,393 289,799 614,770 28,050,806
7,263,908 94,608 51,269 83,665 112,144,261
9,684 5,703 - 226 3,604
(59) - (463) (33) (10,825)

(5) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(6) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

US Research Enhanced
Index Equity SRI Paris
Aligned UCITS ETF

usb
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations 32,382,991
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions 3,692
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (429,622,542)
(Increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral -
(Increase)/decrease in cash collateral received
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers -
Decrease/(increase) in dividend receivable (215,965)
Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable -
(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 81,481
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable 114,844
Increase/(decrease) in securities purchased awaiting settlement -
Increase/(decrease) in other payables
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (397,255,499)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 579,188,645
Redemptions of shares (181,263,765)
Distributions paid (3,692)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 397,921,188
Net increase/(decrease) in cash for the year 665,689
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 21,227
Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 686,916
Supplementary information
Dividend received 2,372,358
Interest received 14,081
Interest paid (713)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

us value usD Corporate Bond USD Emerging USD High Yield usD Ultra-Short
Equity Active Research Enhanced Index Markets Sovereign Bond Active Income
UCITS ETF (7) (ESG) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (8) UCITS ETF
usb usop usb usbp usb
1,497,083 665,176 (17,849,036) (160,709) 9,778,999

- 56,991 7,679,769 - 5,896,859
(19,737,297) 20,639,993 22,552,165 (23,910,436) (241,068,977)
- - 2,869,750 - -

- 3,751 - - 185,261

(12,372) - - - -

- 171,985 (408,609) (397,674) (2,703,246)

- (665,985) (3,100,359) - -

20 3,130 - 1,212

55,645 70,217 4,879,619 109,963 -
13,214 (4,562) 20,033 10,800 40,147

- 476,672 - - 7,922,000

- - (2,404,746) - (400,318)
(18,183,727) 21,414,258 14,241,716 (24,348,056) (220,348,063)
22,056,271 37,870,008 609,016,810 25,144,986 528,320,135
(3,043,520) (58,955,998) (615,997,872) (50,197) (191,019,763)
- (56,991) (7,575,477) - (6,085,771)

19,012,751 (21,142,981) (14,556,539) 25,094,789 331,214,601
829,024 271,277 (314,823) 746,733 110,866,538

- 422,819 3,646,628 - 28,616,912

829,024 694,096 3,331,805 746,733 139,483,450
250,851 11,929 161,197 327 1,196,285

230 2,791,242 38,683,444 (227,897) 11,923,768

(37) (40) (363) - (513)

(7) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(8) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2023

AC Asia Pacific ex Japan
Research Enhanced Index

BetaBuilders China
Aggregate Bond

Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usbp

Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations 794,002 5,127,652
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions 92,176 820,688
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (5,583,388) (34,009,776)
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral - -
Decrease/(increase) in cash collateral received -
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers 108,798
(Increase)/decrease in dividend receivable (6,464) -
(Increase)/decrease in interest receivable - (439,407)
(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement - 1,877,145
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables - -
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (212,913)
(Decrease) in amounts due to brokers - -
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable 3,730 17,328
(Decrease)/increase in securities purchased awaiting settlement (1,016) (1,504,496)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables - -
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (4,592,162) (28,323,779)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 5,742,308 71,263,946
Redemptions of shares (1,215,064) (42,100,013)
Distributions paid (92,176) (820,688)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 4,435,068 28,343,245
Net (decrease)/increase in cash for the year (157,094) 19,466
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 287,938 210,075
Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 130,844 229,541
Supplementary information
Dividend received 701,575 -
Interest received 5,379 2,178,710
Interest paid (107) -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr us Equity us Small Cap
1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Equity UCITS ETF
EUR EUR GBP usb usb
1,747,344 1,689,194 722,080 5,530,387 10,771,496
1,123,034 21,925 199,826
17,649,827 (19,413,144) (14,175,194) 377,855 (109,218,203)
6,299 -
3,140 (204,228)
- - - (1,068) (104,716)
55,631 (184,933) (96,348) - -
938,829 260,669 (622,503) (1,633) (22,394)
(305) - (364) 32 (612)
(1,303) (763)
(1,382) 2,008 1,467 56 7,495
(1,589,094) (258,786) 496,645 - -

’ . R (6,207)
18,800,850 (17,904,992) (12,551,183) 5,929,483 (98,572,099)
13,150,553 68,556,114 17,219,894 21,390,017 111,538,870
(32,604,831) (50,633,000) (3,645,626) (27,285,695) (12,810,312)
- - (1,013,042) (21,925) (199,826)
(19,454,278) 17,923,114 12,561,226 (5,917,603) 98,528,732
(653,428) 18,122 10,043 11,880 (43,367)
42,862 9,137 26,325 46,929 62,946
(610,566) 27,259 36,368 58,809 19,579
- - - 334,117 390,916
913,357 309,603 1,121,767 927 789
- - (2,745) (18) -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond
0-1yr UCITS ETF

BetaBuilders
US Treasury Bond
0-3 Months UCITS ETF

usb usb
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations 493,418,678 30,501,303
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions -
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (408,522,014) (350,890,754)
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral - -
Decrease/(increase) in cash collateral received (47,736) 2,138,258
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers - -
(Increase)/decrease in dividend receivable - -
(Increase)/decrease in interest receivable (56,997) (108,024)
(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement (297,146,196) (92,880,942)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables 10,685 (37)
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (33,615,521) (2,546,805)
(Decrease) in amounts due to brokers - -
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable 35,990 34,060
(Decrease)/increase in securities purchased awaiting settlement 358,400,348 98,821,935
Increase/(decrease) in other payables 45,737 (2,138,258)
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 112,522,974 (317,069,264)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 906,492,007 467,154,993

Redemptions of shares
Distributions paid

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash for the year
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year

Supplementary information
Dividend received

Interest received

Interest paid

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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(1,018,259,176)

(149,594,884)

(111,767,169)

317,560,109

755,805 490,845
1,750,524 72,392
2,506,329 563,237
- 228,059
114,818,995 11,186,671
(48) -



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV

Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Carbon Transition

Carbon Transition

China A Research

Climate Change

us Treasury Bond us Treasury Bond China Equity (CTB) Global Equity (CTB) Enhanced Index Equity Solutions

1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

usb usb usb usb usb usb

3,962,838 17,017,923 (516,464) 148,543,114 (3,928,324) 1,418,355
82,427

(8,085,805) (43,761,186) 510,561 (880,352,615) (16,211,446) (5,046,391)

731,118 -

- - (2,512) N

- = (5,246) (696,562) (9,716)

(88,021) (344,607) - - -
2,344,656 1,541,585 4,419 424 -
(316) (280) - - 4,498

(34,140) 30,702 17,905

129 2,234 1,399 286,339 10,681 2,793

(2,344,194) 1,735,286 (4,989) (70,542) - (22,598)

- (731,753) (8,945) - -

(4,244,853) (23,778,978) (19,265) (732,274,449) (20,042,164) (3,657,557)

53,044,504 211,883,627 781,642,469 22,257,418 4,588,956

(48,796,314) (187,059,984) (48,333,530) (1,976,266) (1,013,784)

_ _ - (82,427) -

4,248,190 24,823,643 - 733,308,939 20,198,725 3,575,172

3,337 1,044,665 (19,265) 1,034,490 156,561 (82,385)

66,235 217,039 24,207 205,096 47,302 386,465

69,572 1,261,704 4,942 1,239,586 203,863 304,080

- 12,029 108,432 16,165,259 393,591 323,291

2,781,604 7,594,122 478 92,777 8,772 3,738

- (128) - (65) - (127)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

EUR Corporate Bond
1-5 yr Research Enhanced
Index (ESG) UCITS ETF

EUR Corporate Bond
Research Enhanced Index
(ESG) UCITS ETF

EUR EUR
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations 4,393,456 14,357,239
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions -
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (81,736,976) (98,271,360)
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral - -
Decrease/(increase) in cash collateral received -
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers -
(Increase)/decrease in dividend receivable - -
(Increase)/decrease in interest receivable (869,975) (1,175,171)
(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement (117,353) 1,404,379
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables - -
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (481,302)
(Decrease) in amounts due to brokers - -
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable (2,849) (30,154)
(Decrease)/increase in securities purchased awaiting settlement 280,169 (565,979)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables - -
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (78,053,528) (84,762,348)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 101,826,873 118,209,597

Redemptions of shares
Distributions paid

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash for the year
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year

Supplementary information
Dividend received

Interest received

Interest paid

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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(23,488,872)

(32,885,954)

78,338,001 85,323,643
284,473 561,295
33,599 250,499
318,072 811,794
1,042,048 2,710,523



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

EUR Ultra-Short

Europe Research Enhanced

Eurozone Research

GBP Ultra-Short

Global Aggregate

Global Emerging Markets

Income Index Equity Enhanced Index Equity Income Bond Active Research Enhanced Index
UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (1) Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
EUR EUR EUR GBP usb usb
31,457,487 78,276,196 22,415,414 3,179,226 3,145,939 79,024,465
51,089 42,076 4,140,804 96,541
180,305,197 (647,671,817) (59,534,105) (87,893,773) (40,441,262) (346,443,084)
(210,600) - - (226,472) -
- (104,359) 86,398 - - (533,180)
(1,063,839) - - (636,578) (353,668) -
403,489 (98) (17,874,546) 27,160 (139)
1,346 - - - (224)
(2,841,660) 19,237 (420,533) 506,934
18,228 186,078 23,844 33,009 18,577 172,957
(11,977,841) 6,425,873 (1,386) 989,511 2,460,709 (303,357)
- - - - 1,126,487 4,037,541
196,091,807 (562,837,038) (54,823,068) (80,581,174) (33,763,119) (263,948,117)
627,167,550 591,996,150 111,801,349 149,710,893 59,748,388 306,770,517
(980,722,514) (24,192,675) (56,577,584) (96,307,532) (23,770,688) (49,354,756)
- (51,089) (42,076) (3,677,085) - (96,541)
(353,554,964) 567,752,386 55,181,689 49,726,276 35,977,700 257,319,220
(157,463,157) 4,915,348 358,621 (30,854,898) 2,214,581 (6,628,897)
229,448,917 2,151,419 545,669 60,229,162 - 10,021,544
71,985,760 7,066,767 904,290 29,374,264 2,214,581 3,392,647
- 15,782,310 3,390,162 598,509 5,974 33,097,917
26,715,661 4,248 2,835 4,959,629 (22,294) 62,167
- - - (1,748) - (259)

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Global Equity Global Equity
Multi-Factor Premium Income Active
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2)
usb usb
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations 16,451,980 208,408
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions -
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (68,033,923) (15,214,377)
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral - (2,642,706)
Decrease/(increase) in cash collateral received - -
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers 9,103 -
(Increase)/decrease in dividend receivable (131,618) (10,477)
(Increase)/decrease in interest receivable - -
(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement 1,677 (33,495)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables (433) -
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (4,713) 111,010
(Decrease) in amounts due to brokers - -
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable 18,433 3,400
(Decrease)/increase in securities purchased awaiting settlement - 2,592,104
Increase/(decrease) in other payables - 656,594
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (51,689,494) (14,329,539)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 51,712,357 16,830,529
Redemptions of shares - (1,694,491)
Distributions paid - -
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 51,712,357 15,136,038
Net (decrease)/increase in cash for the year 22,863 806,499
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 138,298 -
Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 161,161 806,499
Supplementary information
Dividend received 3,959,009 10,500
Interest received 9,172 503
Interest paid (122) -

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Global High Yield Corporate
Bond Multi-Factor

Global Research
Enhanced Index Equity

Global Research Enhanced
Index Equity SRI Paris

Green Social
Sustainable Bond

Japan Research
Enhanced Index Equity

UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF (4) (ESG) UCITS ETF
uso usD usb usb usp
18,050,682 504,455,014 2,747,418 2,176,023 16,343,543
7,680,596 211,877 1,251 - 121,301
60,467,944 (2,757,916,247) (42,741,996) (38,566,244) (78,914,216)
(530,131) - . ) ]

- - - (160,837) (292,202)

- (2,245,485) (36,106) - (84,896)

1,096,827 - - (292,266) -
7,980,708 3,751 - - 87
(1,291) - . ) _
(487,739) 6,611,235 19,520 156,115 42,932
(31,159) 923,826 12,946 19,356 28,536
(9,348,656) (6,186,097) - 1,063,631 -
1,521,394 - 312,035 204,068 (200,690)
86,399,175 (2,254,142,126) (39,684,932) (35,400,154) (62,955,605)
493,969,287 2,857,645,916 43,220,764 50,741,260 122,640,275
(571,922,375) (590,832,370) (2,980,062) (14,612,817) (59,594,971)
(7,680,596) (211,877) (1,251) - (121,301)
(85,633,684) 2,266,601,669 40,239,451 36,128,443 62,924,003
765,491 12,459,543 554,519 728,289 (31,602)
3,020,694 14,713,871 - - 549,405
3,786,185 27,173,414 554,519 728,289 517,803
29,828 40,698,947 155,869 16,713 1,930,492
14,611,834 42,687 3,746 842,018 9,895
(2,930) (53) - (46) (89)

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

(4) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

112



JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

RMB Ultra-Short UK Equity
Income Core
UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF
usb GBP
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares resulting from operations (1,160,441) 2,922,793
Adjustments to reconcile net increase/(decrease) to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:
Distributions 456,298 562,379
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 46,146,782 (125,083,789)
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral - -
Decrease/(increase) in cash collateral received - -
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers - (26,802)
(Increase)/decrease in dividend receivable - (303,927)
(Increase)/decrease in interest receivable 586,180 -
(Increase)/decrease in securities sold awaiting settlement - -
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables - (534)
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -
(Decrease) in amounts due to brokers - (932)
Increase/(decrease) in fees and expenses payable (13,014) 48,259
(Decrease)/increase in securities purchased awaiting settlement - -
Increase/(decrease) in other payables 24,570 (308,395)
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 46,040,375 (122,190,948)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 282,436 134,777,331
Redemptions of shares (48,633,698) (11,189,656)
Distributions paid (480,038) (562,379)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (48,831,300) 123,025,296
Net (decrease)/increase in cash for the year (2,790,925) 834,348
Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,803,777 488,780
Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 12,852 1,323,128
Supplementary information
Dividend received - 3,599,671
Interest received 1,740,509 6,097
Interest paid (954) (129)

(5) Sub-Fund liquidated on 12 December 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

US Research Enhanced

US Research Enhanced

usD Corporate Bond

uSD Emerging

usD ultra-Short

Index Equity Index Equity SRI Paris Research Enhanced Index Markets Sovereign Income
(ESG) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF (6) (ESG) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usop usb usb usb
792,687,127 1,278,893 6,024,425 47,671,442 5,830,602
1,126,304 - 88,926 4,613,470 5,832,524
(3,181,657,895) (14,985,044) 29,256,305 (179,297,454) 5,245,735
. - - (2,279,950) -

- - (18,086) - (150,666)

(2,607,245) (7,222) - - -

- - 339,983 (2,545,502) (286,389)

- - 2,206,001 7,174,818 -

(80) - ) 30,390 (1,212)

155,138 30,867 137,018 2,219,975 (17,938)
884,211 4,143 (8,644) 110,538 2,481
23,517,176 - 281,568 (13,976,225) -
(1,161,261) - - 2,279,575 400,318
(2,367,056,525) (13,678,363) 38,307,494 (133,998,923) 16,855,455
3,125,173,049 15,293,105 89,754,556 583,607,828 243,033,509
(751,409,357) (1,593,515) (126,501,410) (442,588,601) (237,656,641)
(1,126,304) - (88,926) (4,250,724) (5,459,912)
2,372,637,388 13,699,590 (36,835,780) 136,768,503 (83,044)
5,580,863 21,227 1,471,714 2,769,580 16,772,411
6,238,268 - (1,048,895) 877,048 11,844,501
11,819,131 21,227 422,819 3,646,628 28,616,912
47,453,313 60,095 17,358 78,133 1,036,955
5,660 452 3,860,585 26,280,510 9,539,448

(2,572) - (247) (14,269) (72)

(6) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV
Notes to the Audited Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. Organisation

The JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV (the “Fund” or the “ICAV”) was registered in Ireland pursuant to the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015
on 18 July 2017 under registration number C171821 and is authorized by the Central Bank of Ireland (the “Central Bank”) as an Undertaking for Collective
Investments in Transferable Securities (“UCITS”) pursuant to the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities)
Regulations, 2011 (as amended) (“UCITS Regulations”).

The ICAV has appointed JPMorgan Asset Management (Europe) S.a r.l., (the “Management Company”) as its management company pursuant to the
management agreement signed on 28 September 2017. The Management Company was incorporated in Luxembourg on 20 April 1988. The Management
Company is regulated by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier in Luxembourg and authorised to act as a management company to UCITS
and as an Alternative Investment Fund Manager (“AIFM”).

The objective of the ICAV is to invest in transferable securities in accordance with the UCITS Regulations. The ICAV has been structured as an umbrella fund
with segregated liability between Sub-Funds. Each Sub-Fund will bear its own liabilities, under applicable Irish law, none will have access to the assets of a
Sub-Fund in satisfaction of a liability of any other Sub-Fund. The Directors may establish Sub-Funds that will seek to track an Index (“Index Tracking
Sub-Funds”) or will be managed actively by the Management Company to seek to achieve a specific investment objective, which may include outperforming
an Index (“Actively Managed Sub-Funds”).

The portfolio of assets maintained for each Sub-Fund will be invested in accordance with the investment objectives and policies applicable to such Sub-Fund
as specified in the Prospectus and Supplements. Shares may be divided into different Share Classes to accommodate, amongst other things, different
dividend policies, charges, fee arrangements (including different fee structures), currencies, or to provide for foreign exchange hedging in accordance with
the policies and requirements of the Central Bank from time to time.

As at 31 December 2024, there were forty-nine registered Sub-Funds:

Actively Managed Sub-Funds:

- JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 15 February 2022)
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF (launched on 10 December 2024)
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 15 February 2022)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF (launched on 14 June 2022)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Emerging Markets Local Currency Bond Active UCITS ETF (launched on 5 March 2025)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - EUR Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF (launched on 21 January 2025)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 6 December 2018)
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 6 December 2018)
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - EUR Government Bond Active UCITS ETF (launched on 21 January 2025)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (launched on 10 December 2024)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF (launched on 6 June 2018)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 10 October 2018)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF (launched on 10 December 2024)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 26 April 2022)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF (launched on 6 June 2018)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF (launched on 11 October 2023)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 6 December 2018)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF (launched on 5 March 2025)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (launched on 30 November 2023)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF (launched on 4 February 2020)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 10 October 2018)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (launched on 9 August 2023)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF (launched on 23 February 2023)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 29 March 2022)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Nasdaq Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (launched on 29 October 2024)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - UK Equity Core UCITS ETF (launched on 14 June 2022)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Equity Active UCITS ETF (launched on 18 January 2024)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (launched on 29 October 2024)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF (launched on 18 January 2024)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 10 October 2018)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (launched on 9 August 2023)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF (launched on 18 January 2024)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF (launched on 6 December 2018)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (launched on 26 November 2024)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - USD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF (launched on 15 February 2018)
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1. Organisation (continued)

Index Tracking Sub-Funds:

- JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF (launched on 17 March 2022)
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF (launched on 15 February 2018)
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF (launched on 25 April 2019)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF (launched on 6 June 2018)
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF (launched on 3 April 2019)
JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF (launched on 9 August 2022)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1 yr UCITS ETF (launched on 9 July 2019)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF (launched on 17 February 2021)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF (launched on 6 June 2018)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF (launched on 25 April 2019)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF (launched on 6 December 2022)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF (launched on 4 November 2020)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF (launched on 9 July 2019)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF (launched on 15 February 2018)

JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - RMB Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF was liquidated on 12 December 2023 and was de-registered from the CBI on 29 January

2025. JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - RMB Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF had no activity during the year ended 31 December 2024 and therefore it is not
included in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Effective 14 August 2024, JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Active Global Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF changed its name to JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global
Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF, JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Active US Equity UCITS ETF changed its name to JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Equity
Active UCITS ETF, JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Active US Growth UCITS ETF changed its name to JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Growth Equity Active
UCITS ETF, JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Active US Value UCITS ETF changed its name to JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF
and JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Equity Premium Income UCITS ETF changed its name to JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Equity Premium
Income Active UCITS ETF.

2. Accounting policies

a. Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) and
applied in accordance with the provisions of the ICAV Act 2015, the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 Section 48 (1) UCITS Regulations
2015 (the “Central Bank Regulations”), and the UCITS Regulations.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and on a historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and financial
liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss.

The year-end valuation as of 31 December 2024 was completed as at 31 December 2024 which was the last business day of the year. The year-end valuation
as of 31 December 2023 was completed as at 29 December 2023 which was the last business day of the year.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Board to make estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liahilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting year. Although these estimates, assumptions and judgements are based on management’s best
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates, assumptions and judgements.

New Standards and amendments to existing standards

(i) Standards and amendments to existing standards effective 1 January 2024:

There are no standards, amendments to standards or interpretations that are effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2024 that have a material
effect on the financial statements of the ICAV.

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after 1 January 2024 and have not been early adopted:

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2024, and have not
been early adopted in preparing these financial statements.

The ICAV’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and amendments is set out below:

i) Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments - Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 (effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2026).

The International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) issued targeted amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 to respond to recent questions arising in
practice, and to include new requirements not only for financial institutions but also for corporate entities. Among other amendments, the IASB clarified the
date of recognition and derecognition of some financial assets and liabilities, with a new exception for some financial liabilities settled through an electronic
cash transfer system.

i) IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027)

The IASB issued the new standard on presentation and disclosure in financial statements, which replaces International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 1, with a
focus on updates to the statement of profit or loss.

The key new concepts introduced in IFRS 18 relate to:

the structure of the statement of profit or loss with defined subtotals;
the requirement to determine the most useful structured summary for presenting expenses in the statement of profit or loss;

required disclosures in a single note within the financial statements for certain profit or loss performance measures that are reported outside an entity’s
financial statements (that is, management-defined performance measures); and

enhanced principles on aggregation and disaggregation which apply to the primary financial statements and notes in general.
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a. Basis of preparation (continued)
New Standards and amendments to existing standards (continued)
(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective after 1 January 2024 and have not been early adopted (continued)

The ICAV is currently still assessing the effect of the forthcoming standard and amendments.
None of the new standards or amendments to standards are expected to have a material effect on the financial statements of the ICAV.

h. Foreign currency
(i) Functional and presentational currency

The financial statements are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Sub-Funds operate (the “presentational
currency”). The presentational currency is the same as the functional currency. The functional currencies for the Sub-Funds are presented in the following
table:

Sub-Funds Currency
AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF uso
All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF (1) uso
BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF usb
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF EUR
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF EUR
BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF GBP
BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF uso
BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF usop
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1yr UCITS ETF usb
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF uso
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF usb
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF usb
Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF uso
Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF uso
China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF uso
Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF usb
EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR
EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR
EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (1) EUR
EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF EUR
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF (1) EUR
Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR
GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF GBP
Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF usb
Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF usb
Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF usb
Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF uso
Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF usb
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF uso
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF uso
Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF usb
Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF uso
Nasdag Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (2) uso
UK Equity Core UCITS ETF GBP
US Equity Active UCITS ETF (3) usb
US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (2) uso
US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF (3) usb
US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF uso
US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF uso
US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF (3) usb
USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF uso
USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF usp
USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (4) uso
USD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF usp

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
(2) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.
(3) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

(i) Transactions and balances

Assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are translated into the functional currency using exchange rates prevailing on the date of
determination of the net asset value. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
date of the transaction. Resulting gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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c. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
(i) Classification
The Fund classifies its investments as financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial instruments include equities, collective investment schemes, bonds, futures, forwards and options. All derivatives in a net receivable position are
reported as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. All derivatives in a net payable position are reported as financial liabilities at fair value
through the profit or loss.

Financial assets that are not at fair value through profit or loss include cash and cash equivalents, margin cash, accrued income, receivable from securities
sold and other assets. Financial liabilities that are not at fair value through profit or loss include accrued expenses and other payables.

(i) Recognition and derecognition

Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for on the day the trade transaction takes place. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or the risks and rewards of ownership have all been substantially transferred. Financial liabilities are
derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. Realised gains and losses on disposals are reflected as “Net
gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(i) Measurement

Initial measurement

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value which equates to cost at the date of recognition. All transaction costs
forsuchinstruments are recognised directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred. Financial assets that are not at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at amortised cost.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial measurement, the Sub-Funds re-measure financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in the fair
value are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(iv) Fair value estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.

Investments

Each asset which is quoted, listed or traded on or under the rules of any Recognised Market shall be valued using the index method of valuations.
Accordingly, depending on the terms of the relevant index, such assets will be valued at (a) closing bid price, (b) last bid price, (c) last traded price, (d) closing
mid-market price or (e) last mid-market price on the relevant Recognised Market at the Valuation Point, as specified in the Relevant Supplement. Prices will
be obtained for this purpose by the Administrator from independent sources, such as recognised pricing services or brokers specialising in the relevant
markets.

If the investment is normally quoted, listed or traded on or under the rules of more than one Recognised Market, the relevant Recognised Market shall be
either (a) that which is the main market for the investment or (b) the market which the Management Company determines provides the fairest criteriain a
value for the security, as the Management Company may determine.

If prices for quoted, listed or traded investment on the relevant Recognised Market are not available at the relevant time, or are unrepresentative of its fair
value in the opinion of the Management Company, such investment shall be valued at such value as shall be estimated with care and in good faith as the
probable realisation value of the investment by a competent professional person, firm or corporation appointed for such purpose by the Management
Company and approved for the purpose by the Depositary. As at 31 December 2024, securities which were fair valued are identified with an asterisk (*) in the
Schedule of Investments. As at 31 December 2023, fair valued securities were held by the BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF, the BetaBuilders US Small Cap
Equity UCITS ETF, the Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF and the Global
Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF.

The value of any investment which is not normally quoted, listed or traded on or under the rules of a Recognised Market, will be valued at its probable
realisation value estimated with care and in good faith by the Management Company or by a competent person, firm or corporation appointed by the
Management Company and approved for such purpose by the Depositary.

Time deposits with credit institutions are valued at par which equates to fair value.

Investments in collective investment schemes are valued on the basis of the latest available net asset value per unit or share as published by the collective
investment scheme. The change in the net asset value of these units is recognised within “Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Forward Currency Contracts

Unrealised gains or losses on outstanding Forward Currency Contracts are valued on the basis of currency exchange rates prevailing at the relevant
valuation date. The changes in such amounts are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income under “Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. When a contract is closed, the realised gain/(loss) is recorded under “Net gain/(loss) in fair value
on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial Futures Contracts

Regulated financial futures contracts are valued at the exchange quoted settlement price. Initial margin deposits are made upon entering into the contracts and
can be either in cash or securities. During the period the contracts are open, changes in the value of the contracts are recognised as unrealised gains and losses
by “marking-to-market” on a daily basis to reflect the market value of the contracts at the end of each business day’s trading. Variation margin payments are
made or received, depending upon whether losses or gains are incurred. When a contract is closed, the Sub-Fund records a realised gain or loss equal to the
difference between the proceeds from, or cost of, the closing transaction and the initial cost of the contract in “Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Unrealised gains or losses are recorded under “Net gain/(l0ss)
in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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c. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)
Option Contracts

The fair value of open option positions is calculated and recorded by adjusting unrealised gain or loss on open contracts by amount of premium paid or
received. The fair value of the options which are dealt in on a securities market are the settlement price as determined by the market. When the exercise of an
option results in a cash settlement, the difference between the premium and the settlement proceeds is accounted for as a realised gain or loss. When
securities are acquired or delivered upon exercise of an option, the acquisition cost or sale proceeds are adjusted by the amount of the premium. When an
optionis closed, the difference between the premium and the cost to close the positionis accounted for as a realised gain or loss. When an option expires, the
premium isaccounted for as a realised gain for options written or as a realised loss for options purchased. Realised gain or loss and change in unrealised gain
or loss on option contracts are included “Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Non-cash collateral pledged to the counterparty in relation to the option contracts as at the reporting date, if any, is
recorded as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral” in the Statement of Financial Position.

d. Income recognition
(i) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the right to receive payment is established. Dividend income is shown gross
of any non-recoverable withholding tax, which is disclosed separately as withholding tax in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(i) Interest income and interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Interest is recognised on a time-proportionate basis using the effective interest method. Interest income includes interest from cash and cash equivalents.
Interest from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes interest from debt securities. The income is recorded gross of any withholding tax,
which is disclosed separately as withholding tax in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(iii) Securities lending income

Securities lending income is earned from lending securities owned by the Sub-Funds to a number of third party borrowers. Securities lending income is
recognised on an accrual basis. The information on securities lending income earned by the ICAV during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023 are detailed in Note 18 and the Securities Financing Transactions appendix. The securities lending income is accounted for on a cash basis on the 16th
day of each month following the month that the revenue was generated, net of lending fees paid to the lending agent. An element of the securities lending
income will include the proceeds related to the re-investment of cash collateral, if any. Cash collateral received in relation to securities lending transactions
as at the reporting date is recorded as Cash collateral received in the Statement of Financial Position.

e. Due from/to brokers

Margin and collateral cash received or provided by the Sub-Funds to a counterparty in relation to financial futures contracts, forward currency contracts and
option contracts, if any, are recorded as Due from/to brokers in the Statement of Financial Position. Margin cash is valued at amortised cost plus accrued
interest which approximates fair value.

f. Fees and expenses

All of the following fees and expenses in respect of a Sub-Fund or Share Class are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accruals basis
and are paid annually to the Management Company:

(i) Allthe ordinary operating and administrative expenses of the ICAV or Share Class, including, but not limited to, Directors’, Auditors’, legal advisors’,
Administrator’s, Depositary’s and other service providers’ fees and expenses. This also includes formation expenses such as organisation and
registration costs; accounting expenses covering fund accounting and administrative services; transfer agency expenses covering registrar and
transfer agency services; administrative services and domiciliary agent services; the fees and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the paying
agents and representatives; legal fees and expenses; ongoing registration, listing and quotation fees, including translation expenses; the cost of
publication of the Share prices and postage, telephone, facsimile transmission and other electronic means of communication; and the costs of
printing and distributing the Prospectus and Supplements, KIID(s), reports, accounts and any explanatory memoranda, any necessary translation
fees, aswell asan annual fund servicing fee which is retained by the Management Company in respect of the services that it provides to the ICAV; and

(i) The annual management and advisory fee.

The above fees and expenses will not exceed the relevant Total Expense Ratio (“TER”) described in the Prospectus. The actual fees and expenses charged to
each share class are detailed in Appendix 2 to this report. If expenses exceed the TER in relation to operating the funds, the Management Company will cover
any shortfall from its own assets. This will be separately disclosed as a “Fee Waiver” in the Notes to the Audited Financial Statements. Fees and expenses are
disclosed in Note 4 and 5.

Subject to the investment restrictions described in this Prospectus, Sub-Funds may invest in other UCITS eligible collective investment schemes, including
exchange traded funds managed by the Management Company or any other member of JPMorgan Chase & Co. In accordance with the Prospectus, no
double-charging of management and advisory fees will occur. The avoidance of a double-charge of the Annual Management and Advisory Fee on such assets
is achieved by either: a) excluding the assets from the net assets on which the Annual Management and Advisory Fee are calculated; or b) investing in
Undertakings via Share Classes that do not accrue an Annual Management and Advisory Fee or other equivalent fees payable to the relevant adviser’s group;
or ¢) the Annual Management and Advisory Fee being netted off by a rebate to the ICAV or Sub-Fund of the annual management and advisory fee (or
equivalent) charged to the underlying Undertakings; or d) charging only the difference between the Annual Management and Advisory Fee of the ICAV or
Sub-Fund and the Annual Management and Advisory Fee (or equivalent) charged to the underlying Undertakings.

g. Transaction costs

Transaction costs are defined as the incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial
liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of the financial instrument.
Transaction costs include brokerage fees and depositary agent fees relating to purchase or sale of financial instruments including derivatives (except OTC
derivatives).

For some financial instruments, such as debt securities and forward currency contracts, transaction costs are embedded in the price of the instruments and
are not separately identifiable. Identifiable transaction costs incurred during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are recognised as an
expense for financial reporting purposes in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Details of transaction costs for each Sub-Fund incurred during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 7.
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h. Net gains or losses on investments

Net gains or losses on investments include changes in fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities and the realised gains or losses from disposal of
financial assets and financial liabilities.

Realised gains and losses on sales of investments are calculated on the average book cost. The associated foreign exchange movement between the date of
purchase and date of sale of investments is included in realised gains and losses on investments. Unrealised gains and losses on holdings of investments are
calculated on the total book cost and include the associated unrealised gains and losses on foreign exchange.

i. Taxation

The dividend and interest income of the ICAV from some of its securities, as well as interest earned on its cash deposits in certain countries, may be subject to
withholding taxes and capital gain taxes at varying rates, which normally cannot be recovered. Investmentincome is recorded gross of withholding taxes and
capital gain taxes which are recognised as separate line items in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

j. Share policy

Shares in the Sub-Funds are redeemable at the option of the shareholders and are presented as “Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable
participating shares” in the Statement of Financial Position. They are carried at the redemption amount that would be payable at the year end date if the
shareholder exercised the right to redeem shares in the Sub-Funds and are classified as financial liabilities.

Each Sub-Fund may have either Accumulating Share Classes or Distributing Share Classes or both.

InvestorsinaSub-Fund are entitled to their share of the relevant Sub-Fund’s income and net realised gains on its investments. Each Sub-Fund typically earns
income in the form of dividends from stocks, interest from debt securities and, if any, securities lending income. Each Sub-Fund realises capital gains or
losses whenever it sells securities. Depending on the underlying market, if there are capital gains, the Sub-Fund may be subject to a capital gains tax in that
underlying market.

With respect to the Accumulating Share Classes in all Sub-Funds, the Directors have determined to accumulate all net investment income and net realised
capital gains attributable to such Accumulating Share Classes and therefore do not intend to declare dividends in respect of Shares in such Share Classes.

Pursuant to the Instrument of Incorporation, the Directors may declare dividends, in respect of Shares in any Distributing Share Class out of net income
(including dividend and interest income) and/or the excess of realised and unrealised gains over realised and unrealised losses in respect of investments of
the Sub-Funds.

Distributions are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as finance costs.

The ICAV classifies all Shares as financial liabilities. Under normal circumstances, Shares of the Sub-Funds with single Share Class would be treated as equity
in accordance with IAS 32 “Financial Statements: Presentation”. For such Sub-Funds, the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of
Redeemable Participating Shares would be referred to as Statement of Changes in Equity. Distributions, if any, would be presented in the Statement of
Changes in Equity as dividends paid.

3. Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts

Cash balances and overdrafts, if any, at year end are held either by Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. or on overnight deposit with a third party institution
approved by the Board or directly with a sub-custodian. Cash equivalents include deposits held at call and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with maturity period of three months or less and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Bank overdrafts are included within liabilities.

4. Fees and expenses payable
The following table analyses the fees and expenses payable as at 31 December 2024:

AC Asia Pacific ex All Country Research

Japan Research Enhanced Index BetaBuilders China BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders

Enhanced Index Equity Equity Active Aggregate Bond EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr

(ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (1) UCITS ETF 1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

uso usb usb EUR EUR GBP

Audit fees payable 10,227 626 10,590 9,471 9,471 8,006
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable 19,516 - 30,108 13,587 22,745 10,373

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable - - 1,550 - - -

Sundry fees payable* 6,370 4,734 5,482 5,031 5,023 4,076

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (13,696) (2,106) (16,377) (24,926) (34,581) (18,260)

Total fees and expenses payable 22,417 3,254 31,353 3,163 2,658 4,195

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.
(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

US Equity us Small Cap US Treasury Bond UsS Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond

UCITS ETF Equity UCITS ETF 0-1yr UCITS ETF 0-3 Months UCITS ETF 1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

usb usb usob usop usop usop

Audit fees payable 12,717 12,717 10,590 10,590 10,590 10,590
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable 16,413 31,719 98,022 40,647 18,959 23,690

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable - 3,249 282,251 50,553 - -

Sundry fees payable* 2,520 6,601 121,024 35,775 4,817 4,801

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (29,960) (3,592) - - (23,251) (25,996)

Total fees and expenses payable 1,690 50,694 511,887 137,565 11,115 13,085

Carbon Transition

Carbon Transition

China A Research
Enhanced Index

Climate Change

EUR Corporate Bond

1-5 yr Research

EUR Corporate Bond
Research

China Equity (CTB)  Global Equity (CTB) Equity (ESG) Solutions Enhanced Index Enhanced Index

UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF

usb usb usob usb EUR EUR

Audit fees payable 10,227 10,590 10,227 10,227 9,471 9,809
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable 36,001 20,053 27,954 17,897 26,103 37,744

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable - 217,834 - 6,888 - -

Sundry fees payable* 7,615 51,087 5,289 6,757 6,874 11,535

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (49,451) - (21,138) - (29,276) (32,637)

Total fees and expenses payable 4,392 299,564 22,332 41,769 13,172 26,451

Europe Research
Europe Research Enhanced Index  Eurozone Research

EUR High Yield EUR Ultra-Short Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Enhanced Index GBP Ultra-Short

Bond Active Income Equity (ESG) Aligned Active Equity (ESG) Income

UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR GBP

Audit fees payable 603 10,849 9,471 603 9,809 9,173
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable - 34,127 42,733 - 21,529 18,609

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable 1,797 176,445 575,008 - 95,358 13,948

Sundry fees payable* 5,278 34,219 134,583 6,914 16,813 8,947

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) - - - (6,122) (2,622) -

Total fees and expenses payable 7,678 255,640 761,795 1,395 140,887 50,677

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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4. Fees and expenses payable (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Global Emerging

Markets Research Global Equity Global High Yield Global Research
Global Aggregate Enhanced Index Global Equity Premium Corporate Bond Enhanced Index
Bond Active Equity (ESG) Multi-Factor Income Active Multi-Factor Equity (ESG)
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb uso usop uso usop uso
Audit fees payable 1,135 10,227 12,717 10,227 10,590 13,079
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and
Domiciliary Agency fees payable 54,640 122,701 18,162 58,452 45,444 191,272
Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -
Management and Advisory fees payable 26,175 476,442 17,583 138,632 92,447 2,597,683
Sundry fees payable* 23,271 147,752 8,956 20,316 13,893 619,474
Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (18,341) - - (6,120) (8,303) -
Total fees and expenses payable 86,880 757,122 57,418 221,507 154,071 3,421,508
Global Research Japan Research Nasdaq Equity
Enhanced Index Green Social Enhanced Index Premium UK Equity
Equity SRI Paris Sustainable Bond Equity (ESG) Income Active Core US Equity Active
Aligned UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (4)
usb usb usb usb GBP usb
Audit fees payable 10,590 10,590 10,590 1,324 8,006 1,135
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and
Domiciliary Agency fees payable 44,136 35,575 31,717 - 17,501 19,490
Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -
Management and Advisory fees payable 72,103 - 126,987 116,654 67,257 -
Sundry fees payable* 17,885 6,302 20,940 132,494 12,968 14,333
Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (9,100) (35,137) (2,648) - - (26,907)
Total fees and expenses payable 135,614 17,330 187,586 250,472 105,732 8,051
US Research US Research usD Corporate Bond
US Equity Premium us Growth Enhanced Index Enhanced Index usS value  Research Enhanced

Income Active Equity Active Equity (ESG) Equity SRI Paris Equity Active Index (ESG)

UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF (4) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (4) UCITS ETF

usb usb usb uso uso usp

Audit fees payable 1,324 1,135 10,590 10,590 1,135 10,590
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable - 18,082 305,002 29,272 17,309 28,990

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable - - 3,421,182 65,863 - -

Sundry fees payable* 28,273 14,352 461,034 18,577 14,342 6,368

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (15,937) (17,284) (688) (5,315) (19,572) (32,685)

Total fees and expenses payable 13,660 16,285 4,197,120 118,987 13,214 13,263

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
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4. Fees and expenses payable (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

USD Emerging usD High Yield usD ultra-Short

Markets Sovereign Bond Active Income

Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF

usb usp usb

Audit fees payable 10,590 626 11,703
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable 47,077 - 32,130

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable 303,615 843 49,720

Sundry fees payable* 25,749 36,472 16,824

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (8,795) (27,141) -

Total fees and expenses payable 378,236 10,800 110,377

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.
(5) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

The following table analyses the fees and expenses payable as at 31 December 2023:

AC Asia Pacific ex
Japan Research

BetaBuilders China

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Enhanced Index Equity Aggregate Bond EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr US Equity

(ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

usbp usb EUR EUR GBP usbp

Audit fees payable 10,389 10,389 9,594 9,594 8,313 10,389
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable 19,499 34,738 21,244 30,555 13,788 16,944

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable - 8,165 - - - -

Sundry fees payable* 7,824 7,989 425 - 92 419

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (25,965) (10,474) (22,957) (35,740) (16,045) (26,453)

Total fees and expenses payable 11,747 50,807 8,306 4,409 6,148 1,299

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Carbon Transition

us Small Cap UsS Treasury Bond UsS Treasury Bond us Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond China Equity (CTB)

Equity UCITS ETF 0-1yr UCITS ETF 0-3 Months UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

uso usb uso usbp uso uso

Audit fees payable 10,389 10,389 10,389 10,389 10,389 10,389
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable 19,892 35,819 37,295 25,045 22,787 7,444

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable - 258,570 1,134 - 3,716 -

Sundry fees payable* - 96,556 7,819 2,625 6,189 -

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (18,213) - (3,004) (26,708) (5,598) (15,291)

Total fees and expenses payable 12,068 401,334 53,633 11,351 37,483 2,542

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.
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4. Fees and expenses payable (continued)

As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

Carbon Transition

China A Research
Enhanced Index

Climate Change

EUR Corporate Bond
1-5 yr Research

EUR Corporate Bond
Research

EUR Ultra-Short

Global Equity (CTB) Equity (ESG) Solutions Enhanced Index Enhanced Index Income

UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

usbp usb usbp EUR EUR EUR

Audit fees payable 10,389 10,389 10,389 9,594 9,594 9,594
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable - 28,916 16,126 27,076 33,376 10,915

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable 215,513 - - - - 120,661

Sundry fees payable* 82,502 - - 1,376 3,080 35,775

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) - (23,213) (11,404) (31,901) (32,716) -

Total fees and expenses payable 308,404 16,092 15,111 6,145 13,334 176,945

Global Emerging
Europe Research Eurozone Research Markets Research

Enhanced Index Enhanced Index GBP Ultra-Short Global Aggregate Enhanced Index Global Equity

Equity (ESG) Equity (ESG) Income Bond Active Equity (ESG) Multi-Factor

UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (1) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

EUR EUR GBP usb usb uso

Audit fees payable 9,592 9,594 8,313 2,254 10,387 10,389
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable 6,185 16,328 17,428 168 - 2,252

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable 218,077 29,881 18,831 - 328,292 18,066

Sundry fees payable* 74,089 5,356 7,588 77,811 195,910 14,598

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) - (1,798) - (61,656) - -

Total fees and expenses payable 307,943 59,361 52,160 18,577 534,589 45,305

Global High Yield Global Research Global Research Japan Research

Global Equity Premium Corporate Bond Enhanced Index Enhanced Index Green Social Enhanced Index

Income Active Multi-Factor Equity (ESG) Equity SRI Paris Sustainable Bond Equity (ESG)

UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF  Aligned UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF (4) UCITS ETF

usb usb uso uso uso usob

Audit fees payable 799 10,389 10,387 3,795 9,801 10,389
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable - 37,966 17,454 - 43,689 29,459

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable - 37,949 1,020,501 - - 14,232

Sundry fees payable* 15,264 15,323 303,227 65,646 1,864 6,062

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (12,663) (12,804) - (56,495) (35,998) (9,941)

Total fees and expenses payable 3,400 88,823 1,351,569 12,946 19,356 50,201

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.

2) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.

(
(3) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.
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4. Fees and expenses payable (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

RMB US Research US Research  USD Corporate Bond

Ultra-Short UK Equity Enhanced Index Enhanced Index  Research Enhanced usD Emerging

Income Core Equity (ESG) Equity SRI Paris Index (ESG) Markets Sovereign

UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF (6) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF

usb GBP usbp usb usop usb

Audit fees payable 10,389 8,313 10,387 3,795 10,389 10,387
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable 22,549 - 73,400 - 26,404 30,333

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) - - - - - -

Management and Advisory fees payable - 28,879 1,265,817 - - 292,113

Sundry fees payable* 1,397 15,730 187,827 37,475 6,544 29,586

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (25,074) - - (37,127) (25,512) (4,216)

Total fees and expenses payable 9,261 52,922 1,537,431 4,143 17,825 358,203

usD Ultra-Short

Income

UCITS ETF

usb

Audit fees payable 10,387
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees payable 21,561

Directors’ fees payable (Note 12) -

Management and Advisory fees payable 27,419

Sundry fees payable* 10,863

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) -

Total fees and expenses payable 70,230

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.

(5) Sub-Fund liquidated on 12 December 2023.
(6) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

5. Fees and expenses

The following table analyses the fees and expenses charged in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2024:

AC Asia Pacific ex  All Country Research

Japan Research Enhanced Index BetaBuilders China BetaBuilders BetaBuilders BetaBuilders

Enhanced Index Equity Equity Active Aggregate Bond EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr

(ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (1) UCITS ETF 1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

uso usb uso EUR EUR GBP

Audit fees 11,635 712 12,048 10,774 10,774 9,108
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees 167,379 - 203,756 103,688 99,737 76,661

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,631 416 4,631 4,288 4,288 3,627

Management and Advisory fees - - 40,601 - 2,472 -

Sundry fees* 95,077 4,232 98,743 70,500 72,108 60,938

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (171,095) (2,106) (49,631) (161,415) (170,630) (115,092)

Total fees and expenses 107,627 3,254 310,148 27,835 18,749 35,242

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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5. Fees and expenses (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

US Equity us Small Cap US Treasury Bond UsS Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond

UCITS ETF Equity UCITS ETF 0-1yr UCITS ETF 0-3 Months UCITS ETF 1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

usb usb usob usop usop usop

Audit fees 14,468 14,468 12,048 12,048 12,048 12,048
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees 122,820 180,498 518,002 182,865 118,305 137,388

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,631 4,631 4,631 4,631 4,631 4,631

Management and Advisory fees - 20,649 1,806,139 213,008 - 3,020

Sundry fees* 77,389 91,405 814,158 232,013 79,177 86,155

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (210,117) (66,736) - (697) (152,681) (106,684)

Total fees and expenses 9,191 244,915 3,154,978 643,868 61,480 136,558

China A Research EUR Corporate Bond EUR Corporate

Carbon Transition

Carbon Transition

Enhanced Index

Climate Change

1-5 yr Research

Bond Research

China Equity (CTB)  Global Equity (CTB) Equity (ESG) Solutions Enhanced Index Enhanced Index

UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF

usb usb usob usb EUR EUR

Audit fees 11,635 12,048 11,635 11,635 10,774 11,159
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees 172,311 223,189 185,979 120,388 140,122 227,581

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,631 4,631 4,631 4,631 4,288 4,288

Management and Advisory fees - 1,615,186 - 17,884 - -

Sundry fees* 76,951 357,907 79,072 93,220 75,542 87,190

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (242,735) (53,526) (160,776) (66,128) (169,999) (199,907)

Total fees and expenses 22,793 2,159,435 120,541 181,630 60,727 130,311

Europe Research
Europe Research Enhanced Index  Eurozone Research

EUR High Yield EUR Ultra-Short Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Enhanced Index GBP Ultra-Short

Bond Active Income Equity (ESG) Aligned Active Equity (ESG) Income

UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR GBP

Audit fees 685 12,343 10,774 685 11,159 10,436
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees - 170,816 328,452 - 181,660 103,574

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 400 4,288 4,288 400 4,288 3,627

Management and Advisory fees 1,797 1,063,969 2,910,286 - 471,579 104,122

Sundry fees* 4,796 262,697 415,473 6,432 143,505 100,327

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) - - - (6,122) (40,380) -

Total fees and expenses 7,678 1,514,113 3,669,273 1,395 771,811 322,086

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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5. Fees and expenses (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Global Emerging
Markets Research

Global High Yield Global Research

Global Aggregate Enhanced Index Global Equity Global Equity Corporate Bond Enhanced Index Equity
Bond Active Equity (ESG) Multi-Factor Premium Income Multi-Factor (ESG)
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Active UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb uso usop uso usop uso
Audit fees 1,291 11,635 14,468 11,635 12,048 14,880
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and
Domiciliary Agency fees 331,939 514,573 97,252 208,017 247,349 936,511
Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,631 4,631 4,631 4,631 4,631 4,631
Management and Advisory fees 80,511 2,517,049 128,617 308,649 434,460 11,496,447
Sundry fees* 134,259 369,275 133,090 146,265 143,538 1,496,388
Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (207,027) - - (91,718) (54,250) -
Total fees and expenses 345,604 3,417,163 378,058 587,479 787,776 13,948,857
Global Research Japan Research Nasdaq Equity
Enhanced Index Green Social Enhanced Index Premium UK Equity
Equity SRI Paris Sustainable Bond Equity (ESG) Income Active Core US Equity Active
Aligned UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (4)
usob usb usb usb GBP usb
Audit fees 12,048 12,048 12,048 1,507 9,108 1,291
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and
Domiciliary Agency fees 231,873 197,913 201,186 - 96,299 56,840
Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,631 4,631 4,631 725 3,627 4,631
Management and Advisory fees 191,460 - 525,855 116,907 295,658 303
Sundry fees* 143,505 87,379 159,283 131,622 109,039 113,475
Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (83,220) (190,899) (23,452) - - (143,008)
Total fees and expenses 500,297 111,072 879,551 250,761 513,731 33,532
US Research US Research usD Corporate Bond
US Equity Premium us Growth Enhanced Index Enhanced Index us value  Research Enhanced

Income Active Equity Active Equity (ESG) Equity SRI Paris Equity Active Index (ESG)

UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF (4) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (4) UCITS ETF

uso usb usob usbp usop usop

Audit fees 1,507 1,291 12,048 12,048 1,291 12,048
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees - 69,443 1,158,376 145,208 70,620 179,707

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 725 4,631 4,631 4,631 4,631 4,631

Management and Advisory fees 255 4,341 14,659,872 204,779 4,186 -

Sundry fees* 27,401 118,167 2,100,619 144,138 117,017 102,031

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (15,937) (129,608) - (84,111) (137,109) (197,173)

Total fees and expenses 13,951 68,265 17,935,546 426,693 60,636 101,244

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
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5. Fees and expenses (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

USD Emerging usD High Yield usD ultra-Short

Markets Sovereign Bond Active Income

Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF

usb usp usb

Audit fees 12,048 712 13,314
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees 284,287 - 158,131

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,631 416 4,631

Management and Advisory fees 1,968,950 843 217,152

Sundry fees* 236,420 35,970 146,012

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (49,663) (27,141) -

Total fees and expenses 2,456,673 10,800 539,240

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.
(5) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

The following table analyses the fees and expenses charged in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2023:

AC Asia Pacific ex
Japan Research

BetaBuilders China

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Enhanced Index Equity Aggregate Bond EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr US Equity

(ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

usbp usb EUR EUR GBP usbp

Audit fees 11,068 11,068 10,221 10,221 8,857 11,068
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees 120,502 121,194 83,528 273,207 76,252 114,202

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,862 4,862 4,478 4,478 3,891 4,862

Management and Advisory fees - 33,782 - - - -

Sundry fees* 75,941 112,089 65,780 62,469 55,868 73,883

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (138,728) (23,530) (112,637) (332,057) (111,861) (195,912)

Total fees and expenses 73,645 259,465 51,370 18,318 33,007 8,103

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Carbon Transition

us Small Cap UsS Treasury Bond UsS Treasury Bond us Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond China Equity (CTB)

Equity UCITS ETF 0-1yr UCITS ETF 0-3 Months UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

uso usb uso usbp uso uso

Audit fees 11,068 11,068 11,068 11,068 11,068 11,068
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees 131,071 528,471 167,380 99,595 171,862 39,242

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,862 4,862 4,862 4,862 4,862 4,862

Management and Advisory fees - 1,035,549 1,134 - 3,716 -

Sundry fees* 67,210 663,724 86,968 80,193 92,301 72,450

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (175,713) - (86,004) (137,842) (73,103) (110,018)

Total fees and expenses 38,498 2,243,674 185,408 57,876 210,706 17,604

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.
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5. Fees and expenses (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued)

Carbon Transition

China A Research
Enhanced Index

Climate Change

EUR Corporate Bond
1-5 yr Research

EUR Corporate
Bond Research

EUR Ultra-Short

Global Equity (CTB) Equity (ESG) Solutions Enhanced Index Enhanced Index Income

UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

usbp usb usbp EUR EUR EUR

Audit fees 11,068 11,068 11,068 10,221 10,221 10,221
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees 434,106 141,526 59,193 135,323 189,828 273,127

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,862 4,862 4,862 4,478 4,478 4,478

Management and Advisory fees 756,444 - 808 - 716 256,978

Sundry fees* 264,261 67,897 68,692 65,527 79,347 308,419

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) - (152,185) (51,075) (172,463) (140,891) -

Total fees and expenses 1,470,741 73,168 93,548 43,086 143,699 853,223

Global Emerging
Europe Research Eurozone Research Markets Research

Enhanced Index Equity Enhanced Index GBP Ultra-Short Global Aggregate Enhanced Index Global Equity

(ESG) Equity (ESG) Income Bond Active Equity (ESG) Multi-Factor

UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (1) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF

EUR EUR GBP usb usb uso

Audit fees 10,219 10,221 8,857 2,402 11,066 11,068
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees 299,530 83,063 120,589 168 907,708 216,523

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,477 4,478 3,891 1,575 4,861 4,862

Management and Advisory fees 878,106 131,259 24,074 - 1,920,395 19,062

Sundry fees* 188,463 90,958 73,701 100,739 448,606 73,431

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (33,209) (30,941) (53,049) (81,955) - (85,323)

Total fees and expenses 1,347,586 289,038 178,063 22,929 3,292,636 239,623

Global Equity Global High Yield Global Research Global Research Japan Research

Premium Income Corporate Bond Enhanced Index Equity Enhanced Index Green Social Enhanced Index

Active Multi-Factor (ESG) Equity SRI Paris Sustainable Bond Equity (ESG)

UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF  Aligned UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF (4) UCITS ETF

uso usb uso usop usop usb

Audit fees 799 11,068 11,066 4,043 10,442 11,068
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees - 329,756 555,960 - 114,861 115,860

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 902 4,862 4,861 2,204 4,472 4,862

Management and Advisory fees - 248,461 3,972,560 - - 33,220

Sundry fees* 14,362 149,927 826,471 313,160 106,575 98,219

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (12,663) (120,284) - (292,031) (143,884) (49,857)

Total fees and expenses 3,400 623,790 5,370,918 27,376 92,466 213,372

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.

2) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.

(
(3) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.
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5. Fees and expenses (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued)

RMB US Research US Research  USD Corporate Bond

Ultra-Short UK Equity Enhanced Index Enhanced Index  Research Enhanced usD Emerging

Income Core Equity (ESG) Equity SRI Paris Index (ESG) Markets Sovereign

UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF (6) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF

usb GBP usbp usb usop usb

Audit fees 11,068 8,857 11,066 4,043 11,068 11,066
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees 68,209 94,488 718,362 - 201,896 325,131

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,862 3,801 4,861 2,204 4,862 4,861

Management and Advisory fees 1,719 78,312 4,742,866 - - 1,330,594

Sundry fees* 100,540 72,499 824,620 143,433 91,316 219,836

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) (52,164) (19,970) (5,701) (140,792) (162,248) (31,599)

Total fees and expenses 134,234 238,077 6,296,074 8,888 146,894 1,859,889

usD Ultra-Short

Income

UCITS ETF

usb

Audit fees 11,066
Depositary, Corporate, Administration and

Domiciliary Agency fees 163,316

Directors’ fees (Note 12) 4,861

Management and Advisory fees 111,508

Sundry fees* 133,475

Fee waiver (Note 2.f) -

Total fees and expenses 424,226

*Sundry Fees are principally comprised of tax related fees, registration, publication, mailing, printing fees, broker collateral charges as well as legal and marketing expenses.
(5) Sub-Fund liquidated on 12 December 2023.

(6) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.
Audit fees

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ireland serve as auditors to the ICAV. The aggregate emoluments of the auditors (including expenses) for year ended 31 December
2024 was USD 389,822 (31 December 2023: USD 341,042).

Audit fees: USD 389,822 (31 December 2023: USD 341,042).

There were no non-audit fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Ireland for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

In addition to that, PricewaterhouseCoopers Luxembourg received non-audit fees with respect to tax compliance and SFDR review in the amount of
USD 242,609 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: USD 192,767).
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6. Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The following tables details the breakdown of net realised and unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2024:

AC Asia Pacific ex
Japan Research

All Country
Research Enhanced

BetaBuilders China

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Enhanced Index Equity  Index Equity Active Aggregate Bond EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr
(ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (1) UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usop usb usop EUR EUR GBP
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments 182,691 (6,049) 2,553,542 (148,592) 45,456 (732,234)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 2,598,966 (666,463) 1,505,189 109,353 (660,761) 24,008
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives 1,266 - 2,032,781 - - -
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives (2,741) (40,759) (123,786) - - -
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency (1,549,000) (118,551) (375,413) 374 (165) 42
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or l0ss 1,231,182 (831,822) 5,592,313 (38,865) (615,470) (708,184)

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Us Equity us Small Cap UsS Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond
UCITS ETF Equity UCITS ETF 0-1yr UCITS ETF 0-3 Months UCITS ETF 1-3 yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usbp usb usb usb usop usb
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments 2,832,904 7,921,550 (82,592) 6,498 (350,247) (10,578,733)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 1,630,327 11,872,850 (295,103) (51,126) (222,319) 4,153,372
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives 22,522 107,709 (314,866,769) (61,965,518) (153,608) (62,260)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives (4,704) (109,803) (84,887,444) (12,560,267) (58,477) (998,049)
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency 202 (240) (18,665) (107,727) (183) (6,770)
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 4,481,251 19,792,066 (400,150,573) (74,678,140) (784,834) (7,492,440)
China A Research EUR Corporate Bond EUR Corporate

Carbon Transition

Carbon Transition

Enhanced Index

Climate Change

1-5 yr Research

Bond Research

China Equity (CTB)  Global Equity (CTB) Equity (ESG) Solutions Enhanced Index Enhanced Index
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF
uso usb usb usb EUR EUR
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments (218,490) 151,102,102 (1,780,987) 2,408,037 696,601 8,785
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 1,340,268 54,500,943 5,109,873 (490,517) 1,232,876 5,587,047
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives - 201,319 (9,358) - - 1,289,658
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives - (159,401) - - - 208,929
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency (43,564) (21,508,813) (895,894) (1,023,339) 2 3,650
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 1,078,214 184,136,150 2,423,634 894,181 1,929,479 7,098,069

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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6. Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Europe Research

Europe Research
Enhanced Index

Eurozone Research

EUR High Yield EUR Ultra-Short Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Enhanced Index GBP Ultra-Short
Bond Active Income Equity (ESG) Aligned Active Equity (ESG) Income
UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR GBP
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments - 3,003,116 15,695,235 44 8,067,363 164,227
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments (290,868) 790,293 (2,715,433) (229,653) 679,563 (448,318)
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives (40) (481,654) (3,031) - (119,405) 36,769
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives (4,575) (327,478) - - (816,864) (18,203)
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency (310) 784,120 18,656,566 (18,306) 50,366 486
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (295,793) 3,768,397 31,633,337 (247,915) 7,861,023 (265,039)
Global Emerging
Markets Research Global Equity Global High Yield Global Research
Global Aggregate Enhanced Index Glohal Equity Premium Income Corporate Bond Enhanced Index
Bond Active Equity (ESG) Multi-Factor Active Multi-Factor Equity (ESG)
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usbp usb usbp usb usbp usb
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments 1,410,457 (5,798,469) 15,184,609 3,680,603 6,228,857 163,478,667
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments (1,524,074) 100,589,128 5,125,414 (31,909) (4,738,246) 733,051,057
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives (2,616,936) (37,607) 69,754 (1,065,515) (621,915) (29,390,044)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives (1,110,448) (37) (17,580) 1,460,701 (595,030) (11,217,068)
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency (3,950,325) (66,789,752) (3,662,500) (5,182,655) (2,386,021) (113,084,845)
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (7,791,326) 27,963,263 16,699,697 (1,138,775) (2,112,355) 742,837,767
Global Research Japan Research
Enhanced Index Green Social Enhanced Index Nasdaq Equity UK Equity US Equity
Equity SRI Paris Sustainable Bond Equity (ESG) Premium Income Core Active
Aligned UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF  Active UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (4)
uso usb usb usb GBP uso
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments 6,777,424 284,218 7,405,599 120,832 1,945,393 464,180
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 17,555,032 (664,700) 22,216,395 (5,635,623) 6,682,624 1,204,446
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives (59,419) (72,957) (586,934) 3,341,883 136,849 (106,325)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives (47,586) (321,487) 474,864 5,176,050 (73,200) (85,171)
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency (4,439,635) (1,468,067) (15,148,327) 51 (1,697) 1,983
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 19,785,816 (2,242,993) 14,361,597 3,003,193 8,689,969 1,479,113

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
(3) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
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6. Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

US Research

US Research

usD Corporate

US Equity Premium us Growth Enhanced Index Enhanced Index us value Bond Research
Income Active Equity Active Equity (ESG) Equity SRI Paris Equity Active Enhanced Index
UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF (6) UCITS ETF Aligned UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (6) (ESG) UCITS ETF
usb usb usb usb usop usb
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments 55,053 675,431 445,716,834 17,235,754 705,286 (1,425,169)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments (662,191) 2,718,466 1,202,564,796 13,713,227 769,613 164,346
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives 17,020 (108,702) (6,995,960) (211,452) (104,105) (174,975)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives 129,125 (64,417) (4,103,704) (146,070) (40,711) (371,253)
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency 429 (543) (13,381) (8,645) (333) (745)
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (460,564) 3,220,235 1,637,168,585 30,582,814 1,329,750 (1,807,796)
usD Emerging uSD High Yield usD Ultra-Short
Markets Sovereign Bond Active Income
Bond UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (7) UCITS ETF
usb usb usop
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments (850,344) 155 151,017
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments (18,413,048) (239,988) 251,082
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives (19,874,991) - 57,651
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives (7,936,499) (80,224) (59,414)
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency (18,817) 44 (1,899)
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (47,093,699) (320,013) 398,437

(5) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.
(6) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(7) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

The following tables details the breakdown of net realised and unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2023:

AC Asia Pacific ex
Japan Research

BetaBuilders China

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Enhanced Index Equity Aggregate Bond EUR Govt Bond EUR Govt Bond UK Gilt 1-5 yr US Equity
(ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usbp usb EUR EUR GBP usbp
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments (311,580) 62,565 (1,217,359) (1,658,050) (925,370) 1,879,431
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 747,207 1,497,670 2,152,300 2,868,307 1,585,268 3,367,714
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives 16,564 2,366,048 - - - 19,962
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives 1,882 785,052 - - - 3,121
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency (137,476) (1,123,164) (68) (24) (25) 151
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or l0ss 316,597 3,588,171 934,873 1,210,233 659,873 5,270,379
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6. Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued)

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

BetaBuilders

Carbon Transition

us Small Cap UsS Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond UsS Treasury Bond US Treasury Bond China Equity (CTB)
Equity UCITS ETF 0-1yr UCITS ETF 0-3 Months UCITS ETF 1-3yr UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usb usb usop usop uso
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments 489,824 (1,898,025) 321 (2,270,360) (6,303,333) (110,210)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 9,905,038 5,131,845 152,612 3,151,416 7,200,084 (447,762)
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives 161,843 304,181,284 13,338,742 210,422 7,456,496 -
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives 11,416 72,802,808 5,641,735 57,530 914,310 -
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency 76 38,502 12,871 113 (822) (46,554)
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 10,568,197 380,256,414 19,146,281 1,149,121 9,266,735 (604,526)

Carbon Transition

China A Research
Enhanced Index

Climate Change

EUR Corporate Bond
1-5 yr Research

EUR Corporate
Bond Research

EUR Ultra-Short

Global Equity (CTB) Equity (ESG) Solutions Enhanced Index Enhanced Index Income
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF (ESG) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
usb usb usbp EUR EUR EUR
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments 8,627,876 (304,245) (467,363) (669,234) (4,483,135) (588,487)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 121,615,745 (3,492,061) 1,460,475 3,197,081 14,392,122 6,022,378
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives 291,524 - - - 233,856 120,584
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives (5,923) - - - 483,484 (492,372)
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency 4,850,800 (340,025) 219,926 (42) 70 (538,779)
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 135,380,022 (4,136,331) 1,213,038 2,527,805 10,626,397 4,523,324
Global Emerging
Europe Research  Eurozone Research Markets Research
Enhanced Index Equity Enhanced Index GBP Ultra-Short Global Aggregate Enhanced Index Global Equity
(ESG) Equity (ESG) Income Bond Active Equity (ESG) Multi-Factor
UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF UCITS ETF (1) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF
EUR EUR GBP usb usop usb
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments 3,297,582 7,853,935 (11,298) 346,785 (13,799,550) (732,664)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 52,708,718 11,107,204 1,310,623 1,710,487 71,564,607 12,981,175
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives - (19,326) 211,435 221,446 13,496 61,282
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives - 704,346 415,354 (98,721) 37 10,292
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency 9,043,466 (12,313) (627,500) 656,071 (640,796) 743,604
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or [0ss 65,049,766 19,633,846 1,298,614 2,836,068 57,137,794 13,063,689

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.
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6. Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued)

Global Equity Global High Yield Global Research Global Research Japan Research
Premium Income Corporate Bond Enhanced Index Enhanced Index Green Social Enhanced Index
Active Multi-Factor Equity (ESG) Equity SRI Paris Sustainable Bond Equity (ESG)
UCITS ETF (2) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF  Aligned UCITS ETF (3) UCITS ETF (4) UCITS ETF
usbp usb usbp usb usbp usb
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments 1,799 (11,722,476) 1,123,252 30,900 (303,029) 3,867,392
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 224,572 16,527,697 435,752,410 2,272,111 896,170 12,711,003
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives (113,156) 5,754,097 12,154,295 665 (403,385) 391,489
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives (33,742) 793,198 (471,505) 18,156 117,698 (34,709)
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency 115,208 1,394,973 23,773,483 286,884 807,617 (1,984,295)
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 194,681 12,747,489 472,331,935 2,608,716 1,115,071 14,950,880
RMB US Research US Research usSD Corporate
Ultra-Short UK Equity Enhanced Index Enhanced Index Bond Research USD Emerging
Income Core Equity (ESG) Equity SRI Paris Enhanced Index Markets Sovereign
UCITS ETF (5) UCITS ETF UCITS ETF  Aligned UCITS ETF (3) (ESG) UCITS ETF Bond UCITS ETF
uso GBP uso usbp usop uso
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments (127,012) (1,908,705) 11,530,430 48,953 (7,535,803) (23,962,167)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 41,982 1,738,463 744,885,215 1,094,781 9,526,505 43,274,576
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives - (33,426) 477,483 25,290 1,006,490 11,150,266
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives - 24,555 161,179 60,622 (284,264) (5,322,300)
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency (1,638,816) 7,316 1,355 845 7,720 922
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (1,723,846) (171,797) 757,055,662 1,230,491 2,720,648 25,141,297

usD Ultra-Short

Income
UCITS ETF
usbp
Net realised gain/(loss) on investments (587,633)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on
investments 2,351,418
Net realised gain/(loss) on derivatives (625,856)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives 77,352
Net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss)
on currency 3,138
Net gain/(loss) in fair value on financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through 1218.419

profit or loss

2) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.
3) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

4) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.
5) Sub-Fund liquidated on 12 December 2023.
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7. Transaction costs

Inorder to achieve its investment objective, each Sub-Fund incurs transaction costs in relation to trading activity on its portfolio as set out below. These costs

may include broker commissions, settlement fees, stamp duties, and financial transaction taxes.

For the year ended

For the year ended

Sub-Funds Currency 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF usb 96,268 58,377
All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF (1) usop 9,017 -
BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF usb 35,680 25,347
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF EUR 4,353 2,789
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF EUR - 130,018
BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF GBP 1,214 3,823
BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF usob 11,658 27,064
BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF usb 12,736 23,842
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1yr UCITS ETF usb 35,950 22,368
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF uso 48,081 26,731
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF usb 1,876 3,443
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF uso 17,103 26,357
Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF usop 70,278 36,965
Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF usb 369,568 608,209
China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF usb 88,847 79,677
Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF usbp 65,644 42,373
EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR 227 2,311
EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR 10,465 13,252
EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (1) EUR - -
EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF EUR - -
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR 2,604,260 1,512,929
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF (1) EUR 18,464 -
Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR 541,451 234,753
GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF GBP - 12,926
Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF (2) usb 196,026 1,213
Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF uso 2,177,136 1,099,520
Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF usb 48,164 143,588
Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (3) usop 304,263 5,194
Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF uso 42,938 52,182
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF usb 2,212,647 1,188,431
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (4) uso 265,525 20,852
Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF (5) usb 58,175 45,826
Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF uso 110,661 48,528
Nasdaq Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (6) usb 27,076 -
RMB Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF (7) uso - 73,695
UK Equity Core UCITS ETF GBP 923,646 737,618
US Equity Active UCITS ETF (8) usb 6,250 -
US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (6) uso 1,642 -
US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF (8) usb 22,438 -
US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF uso 428,718 261,278
US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (4) usb 71,118 736
US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF (8) usb 26,090 -
USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF uso 22,098 38,504
USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF usob 35,180 53,793
USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (9) usb - -
USD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF usop - 12,480

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
(2) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

(5) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.
(6) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.
(7) Sub-Fund liquidated on 12 December 2023.
(8) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(9) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.
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8. Share Capital

The authorised share capital of the ICAV is 500,000,000,002 Shares of no par value divided into 2 Subscriber Shares of no par value and 500,000,000,000
shares of no par value. The Directors are empowered to issue up to all of the Shares of the ICAV on such terms as they think fit. The Subscriber Shares entitle
the holders to attend and vote at any general meetings of the ICAV but do not entitle the holders to participate in the profits or assets of the ICAV except for a
return of capital ona winding-up. The Shares entitle the holders to attend and vote at general meetings of the ICAV and (other than the Subscriber Shares) to
participate equally in the profits and assets of the Sub-Fund to which the Shares relate, subject to any differences between fees, charges and expenses
applicable to different Share Classes. The ICAV may from time to time by ordinary resolution increase its capital, consolidate the Shares or any of theminto a
smaller number of Shares, sub-divide the Shares or any of them into a larger number of Shares or cancel any Shares not taken or agreed to be taken by any
person. The ICAV may by special resolution from time to time reduce its share capital in any way permitted by law. At a meeting of Shareholders, on a show of
hands, each Shareholder shall have one vote and, on a poll, each Shareholder shall have one vote for each whole Share held by such Shareholder.

The following table shows the number of shares in issue at the reporting date together with the movements during the year ended 31 December 2024:

Shares Outstanding

Shares Outstanding

at the Beginning Shares Shares at the End
of the year Subscribed Redeemed of the year

AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 979,760 800,000 (209,018) 1,570,742
Class USD (dist) 200,299 12,200 (197,500) 14,999
All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF (1)
Class CHF Hedged (acc) - 40,000 - 40,000
Class EUR (acc) - 82,071 - 82,071
Class EUR Hedged (acc) - 80,000 - 80,000
Class USD (acc) - 440,000 (2,080) 437,920
Class USD (dist) - 400,000 - 400,000
BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 292,875 271,290 (187,260) 376,905
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 320,698 347,627 (647,868) 20,457
Class USD (acc) 99,040 140,540 (214,578) 25,002
Class USD (dist) 245,161 21,300 (181,980) 84,481
Class USD Hedged (dist) 203,947 231,829 (308,038) 127,738
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 387,306 50,000 (269,500) 167,806
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 380,372 435,000 (657,500) 157,872
BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF
Class GBP (dist) 548,715 167,500 (330,000) 386,215
BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 374,726 335,118 (318,885) 390,959
Class USD (dist) 37,074 80,700 (37,734) 80,040
BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 236,543 2,570,525 (942,454) 1,864,614
Class USD (dist) 4,543,166 1,705,032 (562,495) 5,685,703
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1yr UCITS ETF
Class MXN Hedged (acc) 3,822,362 1,082,435 (274,212) 4,630,585
Class USD (acc) 4,329,801 5,491,073 (4,628,889) 5,191,985
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF
Class MXN Hedged (acc) 277,290 1,045,362 (110,615) 1,212,037
Class USD (acc) 2,710,723 3,526,288 (4,317,281) 1,919,730
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Class MXN Hedged (acc) 2,112 2,420 (1,224) 3,308
Class USD (acc) 924,363 571,076 (554,598) 940,841
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 1,793,488 486,933 (1,785,320) 495,101
Class USD (acc) 820,428 1,164,116 (1,721,947) 262,597

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Shares Outstanding

Shares Outstanding

at the Beginning Shares Shares at the End
of the year Subscribed Redeemed of the year

Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 200,000 80,000 - 280,000
Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (aco)t - 671,744 - 671,744
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 74,541 645,251 (606,368) 113,424
Class USD (acc) 30,622,319 9,266,760 (17,935,271) 21,953,808
China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 1,006,789 569,236 (397,521) 1,178,504
Class USD (dist) 418,515 207,198 (372,786) 252,927
Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 620,000 1,279,787 (360,000) 1,539,787
EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 1,044,577 1,319,322 (460,000) 1,903,899
EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 1,994,338 2,517,045 (902,304) 3,609,079
Class EUR (dist)f - 117,306 (3,664) 113,642
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 224,144 120,654 (143,078) 201,720
EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (2)
Class EUR (acc) - 1,780,000 (419,858) 1,360,142
Class EUR (dist) - 1,350,000 (139,220) 1,210,780
Class GBP Hedged (acc) - 725,000 - 725,000
EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 8,397,703 3,836,530 (4,053,642) 8,180,591
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 24,183,895 21,414,513 (3,484,478) 42,113,930
Class EUR (dist) 724,593 1,008,454 (452,375) 1,280,672
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF (2)
Class EUR (acc) - 209,000 - 209,000
Class EUR (dist) - 189,000 - 189,000
Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 882,025 99,319 (501,770) 479,574
Class EUR (acc) 4,366,792 9,132,544 (2,979,095) 10,520,241
Class EUR (dist) 8,745 135,644 (90,427) 53,962
GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Class GBP (acc) 487,787 254,011 (420,040) 321,758
Class GBP (dist) 1,238,095 565,830 (474,538) 1,329,387
Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc)t - 355,159 (18,516) 336,643
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 167,055 11,393,228 (2,060,233) 9,500,050
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 777,759 4,956,707 (2,758,029) 2,976,437
Class USD (acc) 2,548,459 4,753,260 (4,003,521) 3,298,198
Class USD (dist) 230,000 5,583,446 (4,956,522) 856,924
Class USD Hedged (acc) 240,479 569,305 (737,608) 72,176
Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (aco)t - 11,319 - 11,319
Class USD (acc) 40,674,605 13,005,529 (7,775,985) 45,904,149
Class USD (dist) 181,579 399,990 (5,904) 575,665

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Shares Outstanding

Shares Outstanding

at the Beginning Shares Shares at the End
of the year Subscribed Redeemed of the year

Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 4,400,000 2,000,000 (1,900,000) 4,500,000
Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 363,000 4,208,889 (2,031,399) 2,540,490
Class USD (dist) 336,999 14,804,161 (1,151,883) 13,989,277
Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 3,619 13,098 (5,200) 11,517
Class EUR Hedged (dist) 15,458 72,606 (26,681) 61,383
Class GBP Hedged (dist) 6,249,797 10,939,760 (1,247,358) 15,942,199
Class MXN Hedged (acc) 2,098 4,617 (800) 5,915
Class USD (acc) 385,728 5,623,515 (5,298,226) 711,017
Class USD (dist) 188,361 54,077 (66,787) 175,651
Class USD Hedged (acc) 463,687 121,729 (102,134) 483,282
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (aco)f - 6,387,366 (53,065) 6,334,301
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 12,689,780 12,819,145 (7,230,606) 18,278,319
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 6,591,921 3,270,685 (2,760,706) 7,101,900
Class USD (acc) 68,076,682 74,851,125 (20,452,730) 122,475,077
Class USD (dist) 4,966,150 15,799,596 (1,699,549) 19,066,197
Glohal Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 25,000 30,697 (18,432) 37,265
Class EUR (acc) 603,910 7,985,801 (1,149,321) 7,440,390
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 39,195 54,199 (63,687) 29,707
Class USD (acc) 906,762 3,649,726 (598,254) 3,958,234
Class USD (dist) 25,050 972,103 (193,103) 804,050
Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 98,330 122,498 (172,043) 48,785
Class USD (acc) 261,580 278,025 (236,379) 303,226
Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 37,983 40,605 (48,949) 29,639
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 50,847 900,259 (349,504) 601,602
Class JPY (acc) 368,959 7,012,275 (1,922,136) 5,459,098
Class USD (acc) 4,370,801 8,209,105 (3,289,992) 0,289,914
Class USD (dist) 281,759 1,160,780 (778,930) 663,609
Nasdaq Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (3)
Class USD (acc) - 348,999 (71,000) 277,999
Class USD (dist) - 33,243,672 (70,073) 33,173,599
UK Equity Core UCITS ETF
Class GBP (acc) 4,071,926 3,967,786 (1,292,622) 6,747,090
Class GBP (dist) 874,537 1,574,927 (337,111) 2,112,353
US Equity Active UCITS ETF (4)
Class EUR Hedged (acc) - 262,181 (94,180) 168,001
Class USD (acc) - 285,898 (62,399) 223,499
Class USD (dist) - 98,500 (19,801) 78,699
US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (3)
Class USD (acc) - 224,000 - 224,000
Class USD (dist) - 1,054,064 (70,000) 984,064

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
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Shares Outstanding

Shares Outstanding

at the Beginning Shares Shares at the End
of the year Subscribed Redeemed of the year

US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF (5)
Class EUR Hedged (acc) - 153,147 (43,384) 109,763
Class USD (acc) - 598,867 (139,029) 459,838
Class USD (dist) - 231,080 (11,692) 219,388
US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 303,166 585,452 (216,928) 671,690
Class EUR (aco)t - 40,596 (4,349) 36,247
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 391,013 2,534,924 (382,994) 2,542,943
Class USD (acc) 102,299,954 122,201,042 (24,142,038) 200,358,958
Class USD (dist) 7,630,899 9,531,834 (1,264,778) 15,897,955
US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 17,500 17,656 (14,178) 20,978
Class EUR (acc) 22,200 5,166,150 (641,825) 4,546,525
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 136,283 26,230 (54,030) 108,483
Class USD (acc) 343,744 13,216,102 (4,905,286) 8,654,560
Class USD (dist) 31,745 212,865 (182,699) 61,911
US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF (5)
Class EUR Hedged (acc) - 108,099 (30,831) 77,268
Class USD (acc) - 505,452 (68,732) 436,720
Class USD (dist) - 197,910 (8,161) 189,749
uSD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 73,258 16,439 (57,738) 31,959
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 251,520 63,919 (128,536) 186,903
Class USD (acc) 229,526 228,829 (308,420) 149,935
Class USD (dist) 26,569 42,023 (52,094) 16,498
USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 42,737 9,300 (40,685) 11,352
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 3,963,116 1,171,223 (1,944,635) 3,189,704
Class GBP Hedged (dist) 451,273 192,135 (78,172) 565,236
Class MXN Hedged (acc) 3,360 - (2,300) 1,060
Class USD (acc) 760,161 3,078,763 (2,672,247) 1,166,677
Class USD (dist) 856,718 2,071,456 (1,756,214) 1,171,960
uSD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (6)
Class CHF Hedged (dist) - 200,000 - 200,000
Class EUR Hedged (dist) - 205,000 - 205,000
Class GBP Hedged (acc) - 100,000 - 100,000
Class USD (acc) - 1,020,000 (5,013) 1,014,987
Class USD (dist) - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
usD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 1,234,848 3,437,030 (628,427) 4,043,451
Class USD (dist) 1,000,956 1,252,618 (1,179,276) 1,074,298

5) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
6) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

(
(
T Share Class launched in the current reporting year.
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8. Share Capital (continued)

The following table shows the number of shares in issue at the reporting date together with the movements during the year ended 31 December 2023:

Shares Outstanding

Shares Outstanding

at the Beginning Shares Shares at the End
of the year Subscribed Redeemed of the year

AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 780,000 227,658 (27,898) 979,760
Class USD (dist) 200,000 28,750 (28,451) 200,299
BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 212,848 219,421 (139,394) 292,875
Class GBP Hedged (acc)’ - 320,698 - 320,698
Class USD (acc) 279,579 74,262 (254,801) 99,040
Class USD (dist) 250,409 5,442 (10,690) 245,161
Class USD Hedged (dist) 136,398 95,038 (27,489) 203,947
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 588,306 137,000 (338,000) 387,306
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 179,372 778,500 (577,500) 380,372
BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF
Class GBP (dist) 403,915 184,000 (39,200) 548,715
BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 490,717 552,000 (667,991) 374,726
Class USD (dist) 41,340 19,000 (23,266) 37,074
BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 252,988 329,261 (345,706) 236,543
Class USD (dist) 587,017 4,126,579 (170,430) 4,543,166
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1yr UCITS ETF
Class MXN Hedged (acc)* 13,767,872 1,155,513 (11,101,023) 3,822,362
Class USD (acc) 7,819,338 4,138,935 (7,628,472) 4,329,801
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF
Class MXN Hedged (acc)* 586,000 211,980 (520,690) 277,290
Class USD (acc) 377,513 3,435,282 (1,102,072) 2,710,723
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Class MXN Hedged (acc)* 8,449 - (6,337) 2,112
Class USD (acc) 886,402 506,961 (469,000) 924,363
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 1,724,902 768,289 (699,703) 1,793,488
Class USD (acc) 625,455 1,448,112 (1,253,139) 820,428
Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 200,000 - - 200,000
Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 72,289 209,804 (207,552) 74,541
Class USD (acc) 7,028,281 24,898,831 (1,304,793) 30,622,319
China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 215,000 845,660 (53,871) 1,006,789
Class USD (dist) 210,179 254,988 (46,652) 418,515
Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 500,000 160,000 (40,000) 620,000
EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 237,579 1,046,999 (240,001) 1,044,577
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Shares Outstanding

Shares Outstanding

at the Beginning Shares Shares at the End
of the year Subscribed Redeemed of the year

EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 1,144,621 965,509 (115,792) 1,994,338
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 185,877 277,490 (239,223) 224,144
EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 11,980,203 6,229,500 (9,812,000) 8,397,703
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) 9,447,058 15,263,504 (526,667) 24,183,895
Class EUR (dist) 21,634 840,838 (137,879) 724,593
Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc)t - 897,404 (15,379) 882,025
Class EUR (acc) 3,586,274 3,154,843 (2,374,325) 4,366,792
Class EUR (dist) 183,759 77,900 (252,914) 8,745
GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Class GBP (acc) 249,797 707,591 (469,601) 487,787
Class GBP (dist) 954,456 753,130 (469,491) 1,238,095
Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF (1)
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 548,973 (381,918) 167,055
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 1,077,759 (300,000) 777,759
Class USD (acc) 4,005,000 (1,456,541) 2,548,459
Class USD (dist) 410,000 (180,000) 230,000
Class USD Hedged (acc) 330,095 (89,616) 240,479
Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 31,509,468 11,017,974 (1,852,837) 40,674,605
Class USD (dist) 144,986 55,356 (18,763) 181,579
Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 2,800,000 1,600,000 - 4,400,000
Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (2)
Class USD (acc) 426,000 (63,000) 363,000
Class USD (dist) 362,999 (26,000) 336,999
Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 2,995 4,624 (4,000) 3,619
Class EUR Hedged (dist) 13,739 24,854 (23,135) 15,458
Class GBP Hedged (dist) 23,778,496 6,947,862 (24,476,561) 6,249,797
Class MXN Hedged (acc)* 7,194 300 (5,396) 2,098
Class USD (acc) 650,569 3,677,934 (3,942,775) 385,728
Class USD (dist) 2,548 194,328 (8,515) 188,361
Class USD Hedged (acc) 131,215 507,952 (175,480) 463,687
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 1,323,967 16,162,026 (4,796,213) 12,689,780
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 4,909,944 3,904,405 (2,222,428) 6,591,921
Class USD (acc) 26,881,976 49,282,398 (8,087,692) 68,076,682
Class USD (dist) 158,865 5,440,466 (633,181) 4,966,150

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.
(2) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.
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As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

Shares Outstanding

Shares Outstanding

at the Beginning Shares Shares at the End
of the year Subscribed Redeemed of the year

Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (3)
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 25,000 - 25,000
Class EUR (acc) 660,450 (56,540) 603,910
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 51,525 (12,330) 39,195
Class USD (acc) 959,777 (53,015) 906,762
Class USD (dist) 27,250 (2,200) 25,050
Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF (4)
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 124,810 (26,480) 98,330
Class USD (acc) 378,181 (116,601) 261,580
Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 21,988 15,995 - 37,983
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 21,441 97,772 (68,366) 50,847
Class JPY (acc) 12,286 759,243 (402,570) 368,959
Class USD (acc) 2,233,597 3,958,845 (1,821,641) 4,370,801
Class USD (dist) 310,433 65,250 (93,924) 281,759
RMB Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF (5)
Class USD (acc) 285,158 2,000 (287,158) -
Class USD (dist) 253,911 1,023 (254,934) -
UK Equity Core UCITS ETF
Class GBP (acc) 224,100 4,184,365 (336,539) 4,071,926
Class GBP (dist) 215,900 744,772 (86,135) 874,537
US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 10,273 312,290 (19,397) 303,166
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 450,510 533,242 (592,739) 391,013
Class USD (acc) 50,736,108 68,769,059 (17,205,213) 102,299,954
Class USD (dist) 3,177,892 5,445,529 (992,522) 7,630,899
US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (3)
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 17,500 - 17,500
Class EUR (acc) 22,200 - 22,200
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 138,410 (2,127) 136,283
Class USD (acc) 360,000 (16,256) 343,744
Class USD (dist) 78,300 (46,555) 31,745
USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 222,295 237,669 (386,706) 73,258
Class GBP Hedged (acc) 194,941 70,769 (14,190) 251,520
Class USD (acc) 482,766 559,249 (812,489) 229,526
Class USD (dist) 17,054 20,064 (10,549) 26,569
USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) 121,165 73,545 (151,973) 42,737
Class EUR Hedged (acc) 3,021,716 1,867,555 (926,155) 3,963,116
Class GBP Hedged (dist) 79,208 452,957 (80,892) 451,273
Class MXN Hedged (acc)* 14,594 190 (11,424) 3,360
Class USD (acc) 596,384 2,617,825 (2,454,048) 760,161
Class USD (dist) 587,292 1,644,017 (1,374,591) 856,718
usD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) 889,758 1,086,944 (741,854) 1,234,848
Class USD (dist) 1,302,712 1,261,129 (1,562,885) 1,000,956

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

(4) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.

(5) Sub-Fund liquidated on 12 December 2023.

T Share Class launched in the current reporting year.

* Effective 20 June 2023, the shares in issue of the Share Class were consolidated on a ratio of 4 to 1.
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8. Share Capital (continued)

The capital of the ICAV is represented by the net assets attributable to holders of shares. The amount of net assets attributable to holders of shares can
change significantly on a daily basis as the ICAV is subject to daily subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion of shareholders. The ICAV’s objective when
managing capital is to safeguard the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the ICAV. Details of restrictions on redemptions

are outlined in Note 10.1 ().

9. Net asset value per share

The net asset value per share (the dealing NAV) is calculated by dividing the NAV of the portfolio attributable to each share class by the sharesin issue at the
Statement of Financial Position date, as detailed in the table below.

Net asset value
attributable
to holders of

Net asset value
attributable
to holders of

Net asset value
attributable
to holders of

redeemable Net asset redeemable Netasset  redeemable Net asset
participating value per  participating value per  participating value per
shares share shares share shares share
Currency As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (1)
Class USD (acc) usb 37,045,327 23.5846 21,328,014 21.7686 16,141,505 20.6942
Class USD (dist) usb 329,787 21.9873 4,153,562 20.7368 4,032,566 20.1628
All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF (2)
Class CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 852,448 21.3112 - - - -
Class EUR (acc) EUR 1,908,207 23.2507 - - - -
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 1,842,503 23.0313 - - - -
Class USD (acc) usb 10,543,394 24.0761 - - - -
Class USD (dist) usb 9,630,429 24.0761 - - - -
BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF (3)
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 40,134,160 106.4835 28,608,327 97.6810 19,755,759 92.8163
Class GBP Hedged (acc)f GBP 1,823,790 89.1524 25,877,503 80.6912 - -
Class USD (acc) usb 2,507,213 100.2805 9,482,458 95.7437 26,171,295 93.6097
Class USD (dist) usb 7,943,939 94.0323 22,713,888 92.6489 23,259,004 92.8841
Class USD Hedged (dist) usb 14,764,389 115.5834 21,686,711 106.3350 13,790,380 101.1040
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) EUR 16,881,600 100.6019 37,819,272 97.6470 55,527,642 94.3856
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) EUR 14,772,326 93.5715 35,019,508 92.0665 15,407,251 85.8955
BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF
Class GBP (dist) GBP 36,113,197 93.5054 52,072,722 94.8994 37,773,264 93.5179
BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) usb 21,588,254 55.2187 16,607,142 44.3181 17,139,263 34.9270
Class USD (dist) usb 4,099,194 51.2143 1,541,325 41.5743 1,374,454 33.2475
BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF (4)
Class USD (acc) usb 58,072,008 31.1443 6,463,216 27.3236 5,837,745 23.0752
Class USD (dist) usb 173,032,675 30.4329 122,401,229 26.9418 13,527,296 23.0441
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1 yr UCITS ETF
Class MXN Hedged (acc)* MXN 54,382,413,010 11,744.1777 40,230,133,381  10,524.9407 32,294,253,909 2,345.6242
Class USD (acc) usb 588,816,256 113.4087 466,750,672 107.7996 803,240,497 102.7249
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF
Class MXN Hedged (acc)* MXN 13,817,276,599 11,400.0452 2,831,863,190 10,212.6409 1,332,830,624 2,274.4550
Class USD (acc) usb 214,547,330 111.7591 287,925,974 106.2174 38,193,176 101.1705
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Class MXN Hedged (acc)* MXN 42,773,758  12,930.3984 24,763,856 11,725.3104 22,216,581 2,629.4924
Class USD (acc) usb 104,647,419 111.2275 98,913,803 107.0075 91,017,859 102.6824
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF
Class GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 37,196,104 75.1283 134,660,896 75.0832 125,600,763 72.8162
Class USD (acc) usb 26,471,615 100.8070 81,661,027 100.4530 60,396,718 96.5644

1) Sub-Fund launched on 15 February 2022.
2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
3) Sub-Fund launched on 17 March 2022.

(
(
(
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2022.
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9. Net asset value per share (continued)

Net asset value
attributable
to holders of

Net asset value
attributable
to holders of

Net asset value
attributable
to holders of

redeemable Net asset redeemable Net asset  redeemable Net asset
participating value per  participating value per  participating value per
shares share shares share shares share
Currency As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF (5)
Class USD (acc) usb 7,470,224 26.6794 4,481,855 22.4093 4,998,005 24.9900
Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (aco)’ EUR 17,619,136 26.2289 - - - -
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 4,157,872 36.6578 2,302,407 30.8878 1,845,366 25.5276
Class USD (acc) usb 909,241,317 41.4161 1,082,401,087 35.3468 201,107,418 28.6140
China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (6)
Class USD (acc) usb 22,764,754 19.3167 17,745,501 17.6258 4,352,530 20.2443
Class USD (dist) usb 4,631,397 18.3112 7,139,432 17.0590 4,180,183 19.8887
Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF (7)
Class USD (acc) usb 49,703,417 32.2794 18,380,835 29.6465 13,387,868 26.7757
EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) EUR 200,391,196 105.2531 105,233,975 100.7431 22,502,780 94.7170
EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) EUR 378,403,668 104.8477 199,987,993 100.2779 106,156,217 92.7436
Class EUR (dist)" EUR 11,451,066 100.7644 - - - -
Class GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 18,494,415 91.6836 19,380,996 86.4667 14,655,003 78.8425
EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (8)
Class EUR (acc) EUR 13,535,654 9.9516 - - - -
Class EUR (dist) EUR 12,049,252 9.9516 - - - -
Class GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 5,955,000 8.2138 - - - -
EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) EUR 868,129,372 106.1206 857,093,304 102.0628 1,179,193,758 98.7583
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (acc) EUR 1,768,049,292 41.9825 933,957,632 39.0224 314,620,566 33.3035
Class EUR (dist) EUR 50,954,104 39.7870 27,493,547 37.9434 708,804 32.7634
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF (8)
Class EUR (acc) EUR 5,077,581 24.2946 - - - -
Class EUR (dist) EUR 4,591,689 24.2946 - - - -
Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (9)
Class CHF Hedged (aco)’ CHF 11,837,720 24.6838 20,469,703 23.2076 - -
Class EUR (acc) EUR 343,937,413 32.6929 149,277,789 30.0552 89,406,986 24.9303
Class EUR (dist) EUR 1,628,241 30.1738 249,281 28.5055 4,493,839 24.4551
GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Class GBP (acc) GBP 36,395,829 113.1155 52,492,316 107.6132 25,581,837 102.4105
Class GBP (dist) GBP 134,313,171 101.0339 125,120,572 101.0589 95,450,157 100.0048
Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF (10)
Class CHF Hedged (aco)' CHF 3,049,607 9.0589 - - - -
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 97,710,966 10.2853 1,285,703 10.1193 - -
Class GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 26,921,837 9.0450 6,123,869 8.7765 - -
Class USD (acc) usb 35,439,738 10.7452 26,340,951 10.9225 - -
Class USD (dist) usb 9,067,940 10.5820 2,184,512 10.9226 - -
Class USD Hedged (acc) usp 799,007 11.0703 2,468,049 10.7083 - -

5) Sub-Fund launched on 6 December 2022.
6) Sub-Fund launched on 15 February 2022.
7) Sub-Fund launched on 14 June 2022.

8) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
9) Sub-Fund launched on 26 April 2022.

(
(
(
(
(
(10) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.
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9. Net asset value per share (continued)

Currency

Net asset value
attributable

to holders of
redeemable
participating
shares

Net asset
value per
share

As at 31 December 2024

Net asset value
attributable

to holders of
redeemable
participating
shares

Net asset
value per
share

As at 31 December 2023

Net asset value
attributable

to holders of
redeemable
participating
shares

Net asset
value per
share

As at 31 December 2022

Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (11)

Class EUR (aco)
Class USD (acc)
Class USD (dist)

Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc)

Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (12)
Class USD (acc)
Class USD (dist)

Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc)

Class EUR Hedged (dist)

Class GBP Hedged (dist)

Class MXN Hedged (acc)*

Class USD (acc)

Class USD (dist)

Class USD Hedged (acc)

Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR (aco)’

Class EUR Hedged (acc)

Class GBP Hedged (acc)

Class USD (acc)

Class USD (dist)

Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (13)
Class CHF Hedged (acc)

Class EUR (acc)

Class EUR Hedged (acc)

Class USD (acc)

Class USD (dist)

Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF (14)
Class EUR Hedged (acc)
Class USD (acc)

Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF (15)
Class CHF Hedged (acc)

Class EUR Hedged (acc)

Class JPY (acc)

Class USD (acc)

Class USD (dist)

Nasdaq Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (16)
Class USD (acc)
Class USD (dist)

RMB Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF (17)
Class USD (acc)
Class USD (dist)

EUR
usb
usb

usb

usb

CHF
EUR
GBP
MXN
usb
usb
usb

EUR
EUR
GBP

usb

CHF
EUR
EUR
uso
usp

EUR
usb

CHF
EUR
JPY

usb
usb

usb
usb

usb
usb

280,060
1,400,750,724
16,321,553

175,515,415

70,189,592
362,327,203

1,193,183

5,691,621
79,026,025
78,822,968
80,847,635
18,586,367
56,493,226

164,892,016
802,901,759
268,920,344
6,168,657,165
919,182,915

989,384
224,114,533
846,191
123,460,142
24,696,779

5,228,593
32,086,029

1,012,075
22,067,100
24,470,168,257
270,487,429
18,284,248

7,151,681
847,188,499

24.7425
30.5147
28.3525

39.0034

27.6284
25.9004

103.6019
92.7231
4.9570
13,325.9455
113.7070
105.8142
116.8950

26.0316
43.9265
37.8660
50.3666
48.2101

26.5500
30.1213
28.4846
31.1907
30.7155

107.1762
105.8156

34.1467
36.6806
4,482.4563
29.1162
27.5527

25.7256
25.5380

1,164,952,113
4,941,256

155,368,863

9,841,293
8,052,040

361,225
1,435,132
30,460,654
24,365,046
41,206,306
19,971,906
50,176,773

466,870,491
206,693,074
2,900,101,410
202,323,015

577,070
14,686,487
948,431
24,359,239
671,662

10,231,282
28,087,622

1,064,565
1,503,887
1,340,989,262
117,440,710
7,263,701

28.6408
27.2127

353111

25.5618
25.5620

99.8136
92.8408
4.8832
11,613.4633
106.8274
106.0299
108.0518

36.7911
31.3555
42.5676
41.1916

23.0828
24.3190
24.1977
26.8640
26.8129

104.0505
107.3768

28.0274
29.5767
3,704.8098
26.8269
25.7798

829,609,397
3,715,400

87,179,032

281,310
1,235,968
115,319,577
17,697,000
62,540,122
244,542
12,795,573

39,223,648
124,090,042
913,919,445
5,277,132

472,534
477,751
35,337,775
49,705,204
6,759,934

26,397,487
23,114,061

26.3289
25.6259

31.1354

93.9264
89.9606
4.8497
2,459.9666
96.1314
95.9741
97.5161

30.0342
25.2732
33.9760
33.2177

21.4905
22.2821
2,876.2636
22.2534
21.7758

92.5714
91.0321

(11) JPMorgan Funds - Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity Fund merged into JPMorgan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS

ETF on 20 May 2022.
(12) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.
(13) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

(14) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.
(15) Sub-Fund launched on 29 March 2022.
(16) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.

(

17) Sub-Fund launched on 1 March 2022 and liquidated on 12 December 2023.
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9. Net asset value per share (continued)

Net asset value
attributable
to holders of

Net asset value
attributable
to holders of

Net asset value
attributable
to holders of

redeemable Net asset redeemable Net asset  redeemable Net asset
participating value per  participating value per  participating value per
shares share shares share shares share
Currency As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
UK Equity Core UCITS ETF (18)
Class GBP (acc) GBP 207,987,604 30.8263 114,417,177 28.0990 5,855,314 26.1281
Class GBP (dist) GBP 60,358,533 28.5741 23,512,832 26.8860 5,563,421 25.7685
US Equity Active UCITS ETF (19)
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 4,667,335 27.7816 - - - -
Class USD (acc) uso 6,843,680 30.6206 - - - -
Class USD (dist) usb 2,409,815 30.6207 - - - -
US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (20)
Class USD (acc) usb 5,540,813 24.7358 - - - -
Class USD (dist) usb 24,194,809 24.5866 - - - -
US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF (19)
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 3,241,536 29.5321 - - - -
Class USD (acc) usb 14,936,314 32.4817 - - - -
Class USD (dist) usb 7,126,094 32.4817 - - - -
US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 35,451,446 52.7795 13,240,682 441112 371,047 36.1186
Class EUR (acc)f EUR 961,130 26.5161 - - - -
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 121,200,572 47.6615 15,212,060 38.9042 14,083,975 31.2623
Class USD (acc) usb 11,744,595,840 58.6178 4,817,372,349 47.0891 1,872,036,657 36.8975
Class USD (dist) usb 875,113,881 55.0457 339,557,027 44.4976 111,933,464 35.2226
US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (21)
Class CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 579,746 27.6359 409,531 23.4018 - -
Class EUR (acc) EUR 144,900,670 31.8706 539,315 24.2935 - -
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 3,218,302 29.6664 3,343,000 24.5298 - -
Class USD (acc) usb 289,208,001 33.4168 9,340,598 27.1731 - -
Class USD (dist) usb 2,060,012 33.2738 862,611 27.1731 - -
US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF (19)
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 2,055,838 26.6066 - - - -
Class USD (acc) usp 12,813,328 29.3399 - - - -
Class USD (dist) usb 5,567,223 29.3399 - - - -
uSD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 2,938,324 91.9404 6,712,941 91.6342 19,197,214 86.3592
Class GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 15,024,400 80.3861 19,862,270 78.9689 14,312,114 73.4177
Class USD (acc) usb 17,421,868 116.1961 26,124,131 113.8177 50,576,615 104.7642
Class USD (dist) usb 1,265,397 76.7000 2,108,055 79.3427 1,298,446 76.1373
USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF
Class CHF Hedged (acc) CHF 962,305 84.7696 3,704,851 86.6895 10,012,600 82.6361
Class EUR Hedged (acc) EUR 277,915,579 87.1290 344,413,471 86.9047 245,263,413 81.1669
Class GBP Hedged (dist) GBP 33,860,516 59.9051 28,146,728 62.3718 4,807,862 60.6992
Class MXN Hedged (acc)* MXN 12,183,266 11,493.6469 35,662,783 10,613.9235 33,221,672 2,276.3925
Class USD (acc) usb 120,458,889 103.2496 76,907,759 101.1730 55,037,554 92.2854
Class USD (dist) usb 93,650,370 79.9092 71,045,437 82.9274 46,951,411 79.9456
USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (22)
Class CHF Hedged (dist) CHF 1,754,643 8.7732 - - - -
Class EUR Hedged (dist) EUR 1,938,096 9.4541 - - - -
Class GBP Hedged (acc) GBP 790,153 7.9015 - - - -
Class USD (acc) usb 10,075,204 9.9264 - - - -
Class USD (dist) usb 9,926,437 9.9264 - - - -

(18) Sub-Fund launched on 14 June 2022.

(19) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(20) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.
(21) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

(22) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.
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9. Net asset value per share (continued)

Net asset value Net asset value Net asset value
attributable attributable attributable
to holders of to holders of to holders of
redeemable Net asset redeemable Net asset  redeemable Net asset
participating value per  participating value per  participating value per
shares share shares share shares share
Currency As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
USD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Class USD (acc) usb 474,709,936 117.4022 137,344,867 111.2241 94,200,113 105.8716
Class USD (dist) usb 108,674,813 101.1589 99,615,779 101.0347 131,007,620 100.5653

T Share Class launched in the current or prior reporting year.
* Effective 20 June 2023, the shares in issue of the Share Class were consolidated on a ratio of 4 to 1.

10. Financial risk management

10.1 Financial risk factors

The ICAV’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk); credit and
counterparty risk; and liquidity risk.

The Fund is also exposed to operational risks resulting from inadequate or failed processes or systems or due to external events that are neither market nor
credit-related. Operational risk is inherent in the Management Company’s activities and can manifest itself in various ways, including fraudulent acts,
business interruptions, and inappropriate behaviour of employees, failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations or failure of vendors to performin
accordance with their arrangements. To monitor and control operational risk, J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. group of companies (the “Firm”) maintains an
Operational Risk Management Framework designed to enable the Firm to maintain a sound and well-controlled operational environment.

The Management Company has a risk management process in respect of each Sub-Fund which enables it to accurately measure, monitor and manage the
various risks associated with the Fund.

(a) Market risk

Market risk represents the potential loss a Sub-Fund might suffer through holding market positions resulting from these main components: (i) price risk; (ii)
foreign currency risk; and (iii) interest rate risk.

(i) Price risk

The ICAV is exposed to bond and equity securities price risk and financial derivative instruments price risk. This arises from investments held by Sub-Funds
for which prices in the future are uncertain.

The Sub-Funds’ market price risk is managed through diversification and selection of securities and other financial instruments, subject to compliance with
the “Investment Restrictions” in the Prospectus and the UCITS Regulations.

The Sub-Funds are currently exposed to price risk due to their investments in equities, bonds and certain financial derivative instruments. The percentage of
the net assets held in these investments are disclosed in the respective Schedule of Investments. The sensitivity analysis assumes a change in the market
price of the equities and bonds while holding all other variables constant. In practice all other variables are unlikely to remain constant, and changes in some
of the variables may be correlated. In addition, as the sensitivity analysis uses historical data as a basis for determining future events, it does not encompass
all possible scenarios, particularly those that are of an extreme nature.

Based on historic movements and volatilities in these market prices, and management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, a 5% and 10%
movement in the market pricesis considered ‘reasonably possible’ overa 12 month period as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, respectively.

At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, had the fair value of investments increased by 5% and 10%, respectively, with all other variables held constant,
the net asset attributable to shareholders for each Sub-Fund would have increased as set out in the table below. An equal change in the opposite direction
would have decreased the net asset attributable to shareholders by an equal but opposite amount.

Price Risk Sensitivity Analysis

Currency 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF usb 1,860,693 2,530,955
All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF (1) usop 1,243,665 -
BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF usp 3,392,140 11,654,649
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF EUR 838,051 3,755,841
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF EUR 730,415 3,467,147
BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF GBP 1,792,984 5,174,845
BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF usb 1,279,301 1,806,221
BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF usob 11,425,613 12,848,611
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1yr UCITS ETF usb 162,659,929 283,899,301
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF usp 44,594,938 45,476,303
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF usb 5,303,395 9,982,698
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF usp 3,631,304 25,295,545
Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF usb 373,067 447,423
Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF usob 46,456,535 108,314,879

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Price risk (continued)

Price Risk Sensitivity Analysis

Currency 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF usb 1,359,585 2,469,796
Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF usb 2,445,651 1,807,771
EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR 9,888,327 10,402,822
EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR 20,312,260 21,973,818
EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (2) EUR 1,589,970
EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF EUR 37,629,167 78,193,758
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR 90,119,169 96,028,494
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF (2) EUR 480,065
Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF EUR 17,812,753 15,203,223
GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF GBP 7,793,527 14,888,711
Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF (3) usb 8,821,185 4,003,305
Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF usbp 70,635,511 116,960,437
Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF usb 8,743,423 15,486,663
Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (4) usp 21,383,190 1,785,708
Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF usob 12,990,818 15,079,976
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF usop 418,428,629 385,344,892
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (5) usp 18,899,133 4,270,432
Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF (6) usp 1,802,528 3,829,243
Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF usp 23,098,073 13,628,047
Nasdag Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (7) usb 42,080,288 -
UK Equity Core UCITS ETF GBP 13,167,532 13,627,237
US Equity Active UCITS ETF (8) usb 704,535
US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (7) usb 1,479,030
US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF (8) usp 1,244,286 -
US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF usb 637,820,720 517,430,641
US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (5) usop 22,229,034 1,489,356
US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF (8) usb 986,118
USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF usb 1,996,529 6,026,954
USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF usp 26,877,981 55,705,491
USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (9) usb 1,194,035
uSD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF usop 22,409,941 20,707,043

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
(3) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.
(5) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.

(6) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.
(7) Sub-Fund launched on 29 October 2024.
(8) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
(9) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

Index Tracking Risk

The Index Tracking Sub-Funds’ investment policies as described in the Prospectus will be to track the performance of the relevant Index and consequently,
none of the Sub-Fund, the Directors or the Management Company provides any warranty or guarantee for Index provider errors. Changes in the investments
ofany Sub-Fund and re-weightings of the relevant Index may give rise to various transaction costs (including in relation to the settlement of foreign currency
transactions), operating expenses or inefficiencies which may adversely impact a Sub-Fund’s tracking of an Index.

The Management Company employs a range of techniques designed to select those Index Securities which will create the representative sample that tracks
the performance of the Index as closely as possible, including optimisation and stratified sampling techniques. Tracking error limits are monitored daily.
(i) Currency risk

Since the instruments held by a Sub-Fund may be denominated in currencies different from its functional currency, the Sub-Fund may be affected
unfavourably by exchange control regulations or fluctuations in currency rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the investments of the EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF, the Nasdag Equity Premium Income
Active UCITS ETF and the US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF were acquired in the functional currency of the Sub-Fund, thus there is no foreign
currency exposure.

As at 31 December 2023, the investments of the EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF were acquired in the functional
currency of the Sub-Fund, thus there is no foreign currency exposure.
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)

The tables below summarise the Sub-Funds’ exposure to currency risk and the sensitivity of the Sub-Fund’s financial assets and liabilities to changes in
foreign currency movements at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The Investment Manager believes that a variation of 5% of the Sub-Fund’s base
currency against the non-base currency basket represents a reasonable estimate of how such currency exchange rates could vary. As at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023, had the relevant foreign exchange rates increased/decreased by 5%, with all other variable held constant, the net assets
attributable to shareholders for each Sub-Fund would have increased/decreased as set out in the tables below.

The table below summarises the Sub-Funds’ exposure to currency risk and the sensitivity of the Sub-Fund’s financial assets and liabilities to changes in

foreign currency movements as at 31 December 2024:

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “en;ggsts:z Non-rg;ggstﬁg currency Total shoEId currency
contracts move by 5%
AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD usb 36,363 5,719,482 5,755,845 287,792
CNH usb - 1,541,546 1,541,546 77,077
EUR usb 122 - 122 6
HKD usb 8,287 9,137,283 9,145,570 457,279
IDR usb 3,842 593,467 597,309 29,865
INR usb (9,457) 6,774,706 6,765,249 338,262
KRW usb 12,947 3,381,722 3,394,669 169,733
MYR usb - 393,753 393,753 19,688
NZD usb 222 37,068 37,290 1,865
PHP usb 221 259,853 260,074 13,004
SGD usb (13) 1,217,546 1,217,533 60,877
THB usb - 443,826 443,826 22,191
TWD usb 32,737 6,856,728 6,889,465 344,473
Total usb 85,271 36,356,980 - 36,442,251
All Country Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF (1)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD usb 300 324,701 1,642 326,643 16,332
CAD usb 1,062 676,646 1,815 679,523 33,976
CHF usb - 504,713 (26,946) 477,767 23,888
CNH usb - - 135 135 7
DKK usb - 156,380 450 156,830 7,842
EUR usb 50,405 1,790,840 (28,509) 1,812,736 90,637
GBP usb - 896,576 2,165 898,741 44,937
HKD usb - 90,722 421 91,143 4,557
INR usb - 452 452 23
JPY usb 1,345 1,194,375 5,849 1,201,569 60,078
KRW usb - 843 843 42
NzZD usb - 3,442 3,442 172
SEK usb - 130,407 267 130,674 6,534
SGD usb - 62,546 62,546 3,127
TWD usb - 657 657 33
Total usb 53,112 5,831,348 (40,759) 5,843,701
BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CNH usb - 599,561 599,561 29,978
CNY usb 69,098,660 - 69,098,660 3,454,933
EUR usb 2,116 (403,140) (401,024) (20,051)
GBP usb 1,371 (17,811) (16,440) (822)
Total usb 69,102,147 - 178,610 69,280,757

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “en)(()ng:ﬁ:z Non n;;ng:sg currency Total should currency
P P contracts move by 5%
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
usb EUR 6,876 6,876 344
Total EUR 6,876 - - 6,876
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
usb EUR 48 48 2
Total EUR 48 - R 48
BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR GBP 949 949 47
usb GBP 5,024 5,024 251
Total GBP 5,973 - - 5,973
BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 589 589 29
GBP usb 1 1
Total usb 590 - - 590
BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 1,201 1,201 60
Total usb 1,201 - - 1,201
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1yr UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 44,618 - 44,618 2,231
MXN usb 42,548 (35,631,552) (35,589,004) (1,779,450)
Total usb 87,166 - (35,631,552) (35,544,386)
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 10,526 10,526 526
MXN usp 3,960 (9,086,456) (9,082,496) (454,125)
Total usb 14,486 - (9,086,456) (9,071,970)
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 2,777 - 2,777 139
MXN usb 141 (27,834) (27,693) (1,385)
Total usb 2,918 - (27,834) (24,916)
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10. Financial risk management (continued)

10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg:ﬁ:z Non-n;)?gg;a}g currency Total shot?ld currency
contracts move by 5%
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 1,893 1,893 95
GBP usb (658,531) (437,045) (1,095,576) (54,779)
Total usb (656,638) - (437,045) (1,093,683)
Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CNH usb - 2,571,148 2,571,148 128,557
HKD usb 6,316 4,488,079 4,494,395 224,720
Total usb 6,316 7,059,227 - 7,065,543
Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD usb 49,714 18,433,036 3,915 18,486,665 924,333
CAD usb 114,077 47,522,829 6,511 47,643,417 2,382,171
CHF usb 395 25,309,870 3,103 25,313,368 1,265,668
DKK usb 45,537 5,040,753 465 5,086,755 254,338
EUR usb 214,139 68,004,698 (76,562) 68,142,275 3,407,114
GBP usb 43,477 33,349,805 1,451 33,394,733 1,669,737
HKD usb 2 2,771,252 - 2,771,254 138,563
ILS usb - 47,396 - 47,396 2,370
JPY usb 43,165 49,610,870 9,385 49,663,420 2,483,171
NOK usb 9,858 936,500 946,358 47,318
NZD usb (379) 950,776 950,397 47,520
SEK usb 1,039 6,514,294 396 6,515,729 325,786
SGD usb 1 1,254,116 1,254,117 62,706
Total uso 521,025 259,746,195 (51,336) 260,215,884
China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CNH usb 10 27,191,709 27,191,719 1,359,586
CNY usb 11,918 - 11,918 596
EUR usb 1,402 1,402 70
Total uso 13,330 27,191,709 - 27,205,039
Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD usb (27,126) 1,037,824 1,010,698 50,535
CAD usb 1,862 508,176 510,038 25,502
CNH usb - 1,294,973 1,294,973 64,749
DKK usb (17,558) 687,741 670,183 33,509
EUR usb (295,458) 11,720,291 11,424,833 571,242
GBP usb (41,999) 1,633,717 1,591,718 79,586
HKD usb - 240,244 240,244 12,012
JPY usb (108,286) 4,183,846 4,075,560 203,778
NOK usb (14,325) 582,667 568,342 28,417
SEK usb (38,355) 1,483,294 1,444,939 72,247
Total usb (541,245) 23,372,773 - 22,831,528
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “en)(()ng:s:z Non n;;ng:sg currency Total should currency
P P contracts move by 5%
EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
GBP EUR 84,092 210,933 295,025 14,751
usb EUR 1,150 - 1,150 58
Total EUR 85,242 - 210,933 296,175
EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (2)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
GBP EUR 1,097,504 (4,575) 1,092,929 54,646
Total EUR 1,097,504 - (4,575) 1,092,929
EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD EUR 5,967,238 157,696 6,124,934 306,247
CAD EUR 34 - 34 2
GBP EUR 21,891,081 (371,503) 21,519,578 1,075,979
usb EUR 2,914,942 (72,898) 2,842,044 142,102
Total EUR 30,773,295 - (286,705) 30,486,590
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CHF EUR 994 260,499,359 260,500,353 13,025,018
DKK EUR 217,645 80,653,352 80,870,997 4,043,550
GBP EUR 481,386 461,160,458 461,641,844 23,082,092
NOK EUR 17,079 17,079 854
SEK EUR - 67,074,205 67,074,205 3,353,710
usb EUR 34 9,755,951 9,755,985 487,799
Total EUR 717,138 879,143,325 - 879,860,463
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned Active UCITS ETF (2)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CHF EUR - 1,313,238 1,313,238 65,662
DKK EUR - 456,818 456,818 22,841
GBP EUR 222 2,134,000 2,134,222 106,711
NOK EUR 571 91,764 92,335 4,617
SEK EUR - 329,869 329,869 16,493
usb EUR 881 74,764 75,645 3,782
Total EUR 1,674 4,400,453 - 4,402,127
Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CHF EUR 1,319 (112,518) (111,199) (5,560)
usb EUR 3,970 1,465,558 - 1,469,528 73,476
Total EUR 5,289 1,465,558 (112,518) 1,358,329

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg:ﬁ:z Non-n;)?gg;a}g currency Total shot?ld currency
contracts move by 5%
GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR GBP 225,344 3,529 228,873 11,444
usb GBP 300,388 (3,054) 297,334 14,867
Total GBP 525,732 - 475 526,207
Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD usb 85,805 (42,429) (2,320) 41,056 2,053
BRL usp - - (21,036) (21,036) (1,052)
CAD usb 4,442,490 1,321 106,201 4,550,012 227,501
CHF usb 2,525 (104,058) (101,533) (5,077)
CLP usp - (26,631) (26,631) (1,332)
CNH usb - 255,445 255,445 12,772
CNY usb 20,632,496 20,632,496 1,031,625
CZK usb 474,687 8,716 483,403 24,170
DKK usb - (2,274) (2,274) (114)
EUR usb 43,133,842 28,500 (1,195,303) 41,967,039 2,098,352
GBP usb 7,478,753 (1,678) (236,326) 7,240,749 362,037
HKD usb 1,104 (o)) 1,103 55
HUF usb 465,801 30,577 496,378 24,819
IDR usb - (7,332) (7,332) (367)
ILS usb - 4,578 4,578 229
INR usb - - 7,057 7,057 353
JPY usb 7,112,868 (26,852) 349,885 7,435,901 371,795
KRW usb 94,757 (47,081) (34,643) 13,033 652
MXN usb 1,686,316 6,261 1,692,577 84,629
NOK usb - (1,708) (1,708) (85)
NZD usb - (58,753) (58,753) (2,938)
PEN uso - 991 991 50
PHP usb - (3,872) (3,872) (194)
PLN usb - 10,781 10,781 539
RON usb 1,013 (1,697) (684) (34)
SEK usb - (27,603) (27,603) (1,380)
SGD usb - (4,891) (4,891) (245)
THB usb - 1,641 1,641 82
TRY usb - 12,926 12,926 646
TWD uso - (6,095) (6,095) (305)
ZAR uso - (16,231) (16,231) (812)
Total usb 85,612,457 (88,219) (955,715) 84,568,523
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg:ﬁ:z Non-n;)(()gg;sg currency Total shot?ld currency
contracts move by 5%
Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AED usb - 21,786,250 - 21,786,250 1,089,313
BRL usb 788,682 58,865,105 - 59,653,787 2,982,689
CLP usb - 700,953 - 700,953 35,048
CNH usb - 51,763,759 - 51,763,759 2,588,188
CZK usb - 1,232,163 - 1,232,163 61,608
EUR usb 762 12,819,076 - 12,819,838 640,992
GBP usb 4 - - 4 -
HKD usb 164,832 317,106,034 - 317,270,866 15,863,543
HUF usb - 8,110,775 - 8,110,775 405,539
IDR usb 144,358 22,317,887 - 22,462,245 1,123,112
INR usb (1,205,051) 245,949,160 - 244,744,109 12,237,205
KRW usb 525,648 130,149,907 - 130,675,555 6,533,778
KWD usb - 1,451,035 - 1,451,035 72,552
MXN usb - 32,805,583 - 32,805,583 1,640,279
MYR usb - 12,617,073 - 12,617,073 630,854
PHP usb 13,287 5,865,648 - 5,878,935 293,947
PLN usb 86,537 8,606,686 - 8,693,223 434,661
QAR usb - 6,988,327 - 6,988,327 349,416
SAR usb 245 50,817,875 - 50,818,120 2,540,906
THB uso - 15,739,772 - 15,739,772 786,989
TRY usb - 13,488,624 - 13,488,624 674,431
TWD usb 1,125,381 271,241,479 - 272,366,860 13,618,343
ZAR usb 157 37,024,227 - 37,024,384 1,851,219
Total usb 1,644,842  1,327,447,398 - 1,329,092,240
Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD usb 4,249 3,104,612 - 3,108,861 155,443
CAD usb 49,132 14,400,180 - 14,449,312 722,466
CHF usb - 2,884,065 - 2,884,065 144,203
DKK uso 9,414 861,710 - 871,124 43,556
EUR usb 70,574 13,546,371 - 13,616,945 680,847
GBP usb 27,139 7,002,898 ) 7,030,037 351,502
HKD usb 8 1,822,796 - 1,822,804 91,140
JPY usb 26,656 11,202,329 - 11,228,985 561,449
KRW usb 1,097 1,596,979 - 1,598,076 79,904
NOK usb 31,687 1,033,097 - 1,064,784 53,239
NZD usb 1,037 158,468 - 159,505 7,975
SEK usb - 1,529,551 - 1,529,551 76,478
SGD usp 4 310,930 - 310,934 15,547
Total usb 220,997 59,453,986 - 59,674,983
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg:ﬁ:z Non-n;)?gg;a}g currency Total shot?ld currency
contracts move by 5%
Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD usb (4,953) 800,307 795,354 39,768
CAD usb 187 1,861,357 1,861,544 93,077
CHF usb (55,986) 9,991,895 9,935,909 496,795
DKK usb (5,942) 1,711,488 1,705,546 85,277
EUR usb (291,012) 60,158,340 59,867,328 2,993,366
GBP usb 1,379 4,106,361 4,107,740 205,387
HKD usb (16,205) 3,706,967 3,690,762 184,538
JPY usb (87,694) 44,506,434 44,418,740 2,220,937
NOK usb 1 1
NZD usb 25 - 25 1
SEK usb (1,412) 436,671 435,259 21,763
SGD usb (36,564) 6,121,106 6,084,542 304,227
Total usb (498,176) 133,400,926 - 132,902,750
Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CAD usb 60,358 (15,033) 45,325 2,266
CHF usb 788 (37,432) (36,644) (1,832)
EUR usb 45,759,450 382,220 46,141,670 2,307,084
GBP usb 75,759 (1,004,090) (928,331) (46,417)
MXN usb 1,929 (52,996) (51,067) (2,553)
Total usb 45,898,284 - (727,331) 45,170,953
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD usb 112,711 121,941,601 795,616 122,849,928 6,142,496
CAD usb 537,034 254,275,888 964,793 255,777,715 12,788,886
CHF usb 207,229 177,948,247 675,701 178,831,177 8,941,559
DKK usb 123,709 54,943,716 106,678 55,174,103 2,758,705
EUR usb 1,060,307 630,238,884 (14,192,883) 617,106,308 30,855,315
GBP usb 311,387 315,045,649 (2,916,764) 312,440,272 15,622,014
HKD usb - 34,356,713 (3,482) 34,353,231 1,717,662
JPY usb 504,227 447,563,967 2,395,741 450,463,935 22,523,197
NOK usb 5,641 5,641 282
NzD usb 156 1,290,299 - 1,290,455 64,523
SEK usb 523 45,810,741 38,097 45,849,361 2,292,468
SGD usb 8 22,370,494 5,330 22,375,832 1,118,792
Total usb 2,862,932  2,105,786,199 (12,131,173)  2,096,517,958
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg:ﬁ:z Non-n;)?gg;a}g currency Total shot?ld currency
contracts move by 5%
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD usb 70,332 8,067,089 2,402 8,139,823 406,991
CAD usb 63,430 16,136,945 2,820 16,203,195 810,160
CHF usb 715 9,300,339 (27,433) 9,273,621 463,681
DKK usb 3,442 2,934,666 389 2,938,497 146,925
EUR usb 76,605 32,995,414 (14,407) 33,057,612 1,652,881
GBP usb 24,699 11,893,817 878 11,919,394 595,970
HKD usb - 2,876,519 (10) 2,876,509 143,825
JPY usb 5,376 21,952,429 5,581 21,963,386 1,098,169
NOK usb 1,402 1,287,553 122 1,289,077 64,454
NZD usb (18) 126,933 126,915 6,346
SEK usb 367 1,764,579 134 1,765,080 88,254
SGD usb - 833,340 94 833,434 41,672
Total usb 246,350 110,169,623 (29,430) 110,386,543
Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
AUD usp 183,546 (8,339) (35,465) 139,742 6,987
CAD usb 272,900 7,659 (13,590) 266,969 13,348
CHF usb - (1,968) (1,968) (98)
CLP usb - (1,894) (1,894) (95)
CNH usb - (2,318) (2,318) (116)
Ccop usb 158,291 (1,165) 157,126 7,856
DKK usb 87,625 - 270 87,895 4,395
EUR usb 21,719,081 (34,648) (82,802) 21,601,631 1,080,082
GBP usb 1,106,552 (10,332) (7,093) 1,089,127 54,456
HUF usb 53 - - 53 3
IDR usb - - (1,028) (1,028) (51)
JPY usb 4,280 (433) (38,952) (35,105) (1,755)
KRW usb - (2,547) (2,547) (127)
MXN usb 88,880 1,168 90,048 4,502
NOK uso - (1,450) (1,450) (73)
NzZD usb 960 (7,764) (6,804) (340)
PEN usb 374,822 1,784 376,606 18,830
SEK usb 104,317 (1,654) 102,663 5,133
SGD usb - (1,236) (1,236) (62)
Total usb 24,101,307 (46,093) (197,704) 23,857,510
Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CHF usb 54 (24,259) (24,205) (1,210)
EUR usb 234,100 (377,466) (143,3606) (7,168)
JPY usb 6,482,849 461,961,456 821,203 469,265,508 23,463,275
Total usb 6,717,003 461,961,456 419,478 469,097,937
UK Equity Core UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR GBP 32,750 32,750 1,638
usb GBP 3,120 3,120 156
Total GBP 35,870 - - 35,870
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

) Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “en)(()ng:s:z Non n;;ng:sg currency Total should currency
P P contracts move by 5%
US Equity Active UCITS ETF (3)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 9,303 (85,171) (75,868) (3,793)
Total usb 9,303 - (85,171) (75,868)
US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF (3)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 8,934 (64,417) (55,483) 2,774)
Total usb 8,934 - (64,417) (55,483)
US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CHF usb 3,614 (1,108,838) (1,105,224) (55,261)
EUR usb 93,406 (2,399,844) (2,306,438) (115,322)
Total usb 97,020 - (3,508,682) (3,411,662)
US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CHF usp 665 (22,355) (21,690) (1,085)
EUR usb 72,974 (63,093) 9,881 494
Total usb 73,639 - (85,448) (11,809)
US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF (3)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 8,931 (40,711) (31,780) (1,589)
Total usb 8,931 - (40,711) (31,780)
USD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 1,137 (58,434) (57,297) (2,865)
GBP usb 170 (196,336) (196,166) (9,808)
Total usb 1,307 - (254,770) (253,463)
USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CHF usb 1,044 (32,816) (31,772) (1,589)
EUR usp 63,913 (5,581,792) (5,517,879) (275,894)
GBP usb (209,250) (435,780) (645,030) (32,252)
MXN usp 284 (7,842) (7,558) (378)
Total usb (144,009) - (6,058,230) (6,202,239)

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 18 January 2024.
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

) Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “en)(()ng:ﬁ:z Non n;;ng:sg currency Total should currency
P P contracts move by 5%
USD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (4)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
CHF usb (8,206) (49,121) (57,327) (2,866)
EUR usb (7,302) (28,037) (35,339) (1,767)
GBP usb (5,112) (3,066) (8,178) (409)
Total usb (20,620) - (80,224) (100,844)
usD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2024 were:
EUR usb 29,706 29,706 1,485
Total usb 29,706 - - 29,706

(4) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

The table below summarises the Sub-Funds’ exposure to currency risk and the sensitivity of the Sub-Fund’s financial assets and liabilities to changes in

foreign currency movements as at 31 December 2023:

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg;ﬁ:z Non-n;)(()ggstsgz currency Total ShOlE)|d currency
contracts move by 5%
AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
AUD usb 9,651 4,283,190 4,292,841 214,642
CNH usb - 1,292,234 1,292,234 64,612
CNY usb 1,505 - 1,505 75
EUR usb 14 - 14 1
HKD usb 2,266 6,102,923 6,105,189 305,259
IDR usb - 619,564 619,564 30,978
INR usb 2,138 3,655,664 3,657,802 182,890
KRW usb 21,198 3,273,952 3,295,150 164,758
MYR usb - 144,296 144,296 7,215
PHP usb - 141,031 141,031 7,052
SGD usb 794 809,395 810,189 40,509
THB usb 277 463,721 463,998 23,200
TWD usb 6,891 3,954,455 3,961,346 198,067
Total uso 44,734 24,740,425 - 24,785,159
BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CNH usb - (52,468) (52,468) (2,623)
CNY usb 118,296,100 - 118,296,100 5,914,805
EUR usb 102 230,175 230,277 11,514
GBP usb (29,010) 124,689 95,679 4,784
Total usb 118,267,192 - 302,396 118,569,588
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “en)(()ng:ﬁ:z Non n;;ng:sg currency Total should currency
P P contracts move by 5%
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
usb EUR 4,013 4,013 201
Total EUR 4,013 - - 4,013
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
usb EUR 3 3
Total EUR 3 - - 3
BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
EUR GBP 356 356 18
usb GBP 2,254 2,254 113
Total GBP 2,610 - - 2,610
BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
EUR usb 259 259 13
GBP usb 1 1
Total usb 260 - - 260
BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
EUR usb 21 21 1
Total usb 21 - - 21
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1yr UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
EUR usb 32,044 - 32,044 1,602
MXN usb 29,812 49,255,892 49,285,704 2,464,285
Total usb 61,856 - 49,255,892 49,317,748
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
EUR usb 6,119 - 6,119 306
MXN usb 1,366 3,473,811 3,475,177 173,759
Total usb 7,485 - 3,473,811 3,481,296
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
EUR usb 2,293 - 2,293 115
MXN usb 123 30,643 30,766 1,538
Total uso 2,416 - 30,643 33,059
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10. Financial risk management (continued)

10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg:ﬁ:z Non-n;)?gggsg currency Total shoEId currency
contracts move by 5%
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
EUR usb 19,970 - 19,970 999
GBP usb 4,801 561,004 565,805 28,290
Total usb 24,771 - 561,004 585,775
Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CNH usb - 1,540,339 1,540,339 77,017
HKD usb 560 2,387,958 2,388,518 119,426
Total usb 560 3,928,297 - 3,928,857
Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
AUD usb 42,211 23,956,163 (1,092) 23,997,282 1,199,864
CAD usb 153,767 61,934,747 (3,079) 62,085,435 3,104,272
CHF usb 883 33,518,838 (2,278) 33,517,443 1,675,872
DKK usb 13,272 5,612,852 (39) 5,626,085 281,304
EUR usb 68,074 94,889,440 (2,362) 94,955,152 4,747,758
GBP usb 84,201 46,609,277 (544) 46,692,934 2,334,647
HKD usb - 6,622,509 39 6,622,548 331,127
ILS usb 5 77,346 - 77,351 3,868
JPY usb 49,951 66,290,920 (3,898) 66,336,973 3,316,849
NOK usb 80 2,631,079 2,631,159 131,558
NZD usb (509) 1,466,853 1,466,344 73,317
SEK usb 1,080 8,515,981 (56) 8,517,005 425,850
SGD usb 1 1,200,729 1,200,730 60,037
Total usb 413,016 353,326,734 (13,309) 353,726,441
China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CNH usb - 24,690,693 24,690,693 1,234,535
CNY usb 9,097 7,263 16,360 818
EUR usb 2 - 2
Total uso 9,099 24,697,956 - 24,707,055
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

) Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “en)(()ng:s:z Non n;;ng:sg currency Total should currency
P P contracts move by 5%
Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CAD usb 3 289,289 289,292 14,465
CHF usb 1 1,439,139 1,439,140 71,957
CNH usb - 133,687 133,687 6,684
CNY usb 1) - (o)} -
DKK usb 169 186,587 186,756 9,338
EUR usb 7,551 5,868,343 5,875,894 293,795
GBP usb 2 818,715 818,717 40,936
JPY usb (1) 1,181,863 1,181,862 59,093
KRW usb 132 111,221 111,353 5,568
NOK usb - 18,683 18,683 934
SEK usb 1 493,854 493,855 24,693
Total usb 7,857 10,541,381 - 10,549,238
EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
GBP EUR 77,185 2,004 79,189 3,959
usb EUR 1,030 - 1,030 52
Total EUR 78,215 - 2,004 80,219
EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CAD EUR 34 34 2
GBP EUR 441 - 441 22
usb EUR 10,487,598 69,523 10,557,121 527,856
Total EUR 10,488,073 - 69,523 10,557,596
Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CHF EUR (1,436,269) 143,876,516 142,440,247 7,122,012
DKK EUR (409,974) 51,200,763 50,790,789 2,539,539
GBP EUR 215,652 239,206,562 239,422,214 11,971,111
NOK EUR 9,490 875,378 884,868 44,243
SEK EUR (425,472) 42,646,073 42,220,601 2,111,030
usb EUR 23,095 - 23,095 1,155
Total EUR (2,023,478) 477,805,292 - 475,781,814
Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CHF EUR 14 - 704,346 704,360 35,218
usb EUR 27,023 223,182 250,205 12,510
Total EUR 27,037 223,182 704,346 954,565
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg:ﬁ:z Non-n;)?gg;a}g currency Total shot?ld currency
contracts move by 5%
GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CAD GBP 295,370 - (6,095) 289,275 14,464
EUR GBP 866,097 - 1,032 867,129 43,356
usob GBP 2,998,754 - 23,741 3,022,495 151,125
Total GBP 4,160,221 - 18,678 4,178,899
Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF (1)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
AUD usb 355,602 33,574 5,496 394,672 19,734
BRL usb - - 4,650 4,650 233
CAD usb 815,468 3,329 217 819,014 40,951
CHF usb - - 5,263 5,263 263
CLP usb - - (860) (860) (43)
CNH usb - - 3,999 3,999 200
CNY usb 2,572,685 - - 2,572,685 128,634
CoP usb - - 613 613 31
CZK usb - - 127 127 6
DKK usb - - 504 504 25
EUR usb 11,492,625 (75,734) (54,825) 11,362,066 568,103
GBP usb 2,386,632 37,913 23,823 2,448,368 122,418
HUF usb - - (134) (134) (7)
IDR usb - - 1,187 1,187 59
ILS usb - - 552 552 28
INR usb - - 437 437 22
JPY usb 2,607,708 - (75,036) 2,532,672 126,634
KRW usb - - 2,402 2,402 120
MXN usb 610,992 - (9,134) 601,858 30,093
NOK usb - - 1,141 1,141 57
NZD uso - - 13 13 1
PHP usb - - 96 96 5
PLN usb - - 703 703 35
SEK usb - - (98) (98) (5)
SGD usb - - (591) (591) (30)
THB usb (13) - 6,525 6,512 326
ZAR uso - - (583) (583) (29)
Total usb 20,841,699 (918) (83,513) 20,757,268

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 11 October 2023.
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg:ﬁ:z Non-n;)(()gg;sg currency Total shot?ld currency
contracts move by 5%
Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
AED usb - 11,145,975 11,145,975 557,299
BRL usb 956,339 70,324,771 71,281,110 3,564,056
CNH usb - 62,348,440 62,348,440 3,117,422
CNY usb 1,593 - 1,593 80
EUR usb 1,078 3,846,121 3,847,199 192,360
GBP usb 4 - 4 -
HKD usb 17,033 222,427,587 222,444,620 11,122,231
HUF usb 986 5,593,446 5,594,432 279,722
IDR usb - 25,122,891 25,122,891 1,256,145
INR usb 74,837 168,769,873 168,844,710 8,442,236
KRW usb 932,833 159,286,934 160,219,767 8,010,988
KWD usb 181,470 2,600,881 2,782,351 139,118
MXN usb - 37,881,065 37,881,065 1,894,053
MYR usb - 12,902,275 12,902,275 645,114
PHP usb 5,091 2,653,720 2,658,811 132,941
PLN usb 23,694 4,155,163 4,178,857 208,943
QAR usb (32,154) 6,920,901 37 6,888,784 344,439
RUB usb - 7,129 7,129 356
SAR usb 265 46,256,329 46,256,594 2,312,830
THB usb 15,153 25,028,466 25,043,619 1,252,181
TRY usb - 3,467,703 3,467,703 173,385
TWD usb 321,455 185,980,988 186,302,443 9,315,122
ZAR usb 596 46,480,610 46,481,206 2,324,060
Total usb 2,500,273  1,103,201,268 37  1,105,701,578
Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
AUD usb 6,840 3,470,790 3,477,630 173,882
CAD usb 41,207 12,278,220 12,319,427 615,971
CHF usb - 2,670,482 2,670,482 133,524
DKK usb 6,661 1,056,932 1,063,593 53,180
EUR usb 69,879 13,604,233 13,674,112 683,706
GBP usb 33,158 6,797,269 6,830,427 341,521
HKD uso 17 1,811,105 1,811,122 90,556
JPY usb 26,367 10,601,242 10,627,609 531,380
KRW usb 7,372 1,941,577 1,948,949 97,447
NOK usb 35,424 1,273,503 1,308,927 65,446
NZD usb - 360,267 360,267 18,013
SEK usb 1 1,962,157 1,962,158 98,108
SGD usb 1,085 117,344 118,429 5,921
Total uso 228,011 57,945,121 - 58,173,132
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg:ﬁ:z Non-n;)?gg;a}g currency Total shot?ld currency
contracts move by 5%
Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF (2)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CAD usb (45,257) 320,536 275,279 13,764
CHF usb (109,957) 774,917 664,960 33,248
DKK usb (9,901) 75,620 65,719 3,286
EUR usb (333,633) 2,327,311 1,993,678 99,684
GBP usb (19,870) 142,146 122,276 6,114
HKD usb (39,614) 286,383 246,769 12,338
ILS usb 797 9,615 10,412 521
JPY usb (259,349) 1,967,454 1,708,105 85,405
NOK usb (2,410) 25,236 22,826 1,141
NZD usb (4,779) 33,476 28,697 1,435
SGD usb (32,425) 228,539 196,114 9,806
Total usb (856,398) 6,191,233 - 5,334,835
Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CAD usb 16,474 12,112 28,586 1,429
CHF usb 8 15,234 15,242 762
EUR usb 27,392,685 (60,783) 27,331,902 1,366,595
GBP usb 199,110 (128,719) 70,391 3,520
MXN usb 539 29,855 30,394 1,520
Total usDb 27,608,816 - (132,301) 27,476,515
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
AUD usb 63,415 70,882,543 (313,125) 70,632,833 3,531,642
CAD usb 207,647 113,439,087 (570,520) 113,076,214 5,653,811
CHF usb 1,460 101,564,074 (651,578) 100,913,956 5,045,698
DKK usb 52,545 36,225,955 (16,559) 36,261,941 1,813,097
EUR usb 236,627 340,711,586 1,622,565 342,570,778 17,128,539
GBP usb 348,956 169,850,379 787,593 170,986,928 8,549,346
HKD usb 1 21,101,984 2,837 21,104,822 1,055,241
JPY usb 270,196 233,617,640 (1,696,289) 232,191,547 11,609,577
NOK usb 7,799 623,669 631,468 31,573
NZD usb 1 - - 1 -
SEK usb 1,574 29,873,800 (76,466) 29,798,908 1,489,945
SGD usb - 10,146,094 (2,563) 10,143,531 507,177
Total usb 1,190,221 1,128,036,811 (914,105) 1,128,312,927

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 30 November 2023.
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “g;gg:ﬁ:z Non-n;)?gg;a}g currency Total shot?ld currency
contracts move by 5%
Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (3)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
AUD usb 14,868 1,482,347 (1,473) 1,495,742 74,787
CAD usb 4,215 1,796,935 (1,836) 1,799,314 89,966
CHF usb - 1,145,077 22,275 1,167,352 58,368
DKK usb 214 585,691 (93) 585,812 29,291
EUR usb 4,801 4,431,274 4,242 4,440,317 222,016
GBP usb 2,908 1,827,808 (315) 1,830,401 91,520
HKD usb - 297,332 8 297,340 14,867
JPY usb 909 2,612,559 (3,972) 2,609,496 130,475
NOK usb 361 179,135 (246) 179,250 8,963
SEK usb 673 478,042 (387) 478,328 23,916
SGD usb 1 227,258 (47) 227,212 11,361
Total usb 28,950 15,063,458 18,156 15,110,564
Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF (4)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
AUD usb 146,107 16,516 12,718 175,341 8,767
CAD usb 654,656 12,035 4,354 671,045 33,552
CHF usb (5) 2,159 2,154 108
CLP usb 214,402 152 214,554 10,728
CNH usb (8) 915 907 45
CoP usb 99,642 215 99,857 4,993
DKK uso 77,724 (25) 77,699 3,885
EUR usb 22,686,650 20,132 13,830 22,720,612 1,136,031
GBP usb 1,306,761 27,077 773 1,334,611 66,731
IDR usb - - 467 467 23
JPY usb 2,272 1,511 17,191 20,974 1,049
KRW usb - 144 144 7
MXN usb 313,841 (7,647) 306,194 15,310
NzZD usb 182,376 (1,366) 181,010 9,051
SEK usb 112,390 3,363 115,753 5,788
SGD usb (5) 731 726 36
PEN usb 294,476 (3,774) 290,702 14,535
Total usb 26,091,279 77,271 44,200 26,212,750
Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CHF usb 485 59,568 60,053 3,003
EUR usb 547 15,282 15,829 791
JPY usp 655,527 136,280,468 (130,236) 136,805,759 6,840,288
Total usb 656,559 136,280,468 (55,386) 136,881,641
RMB Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF (5)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CNH uspb 20,979 20,979 1,049
EUR usb 730 730 37
Total 21,709 - - 21,709

(3) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.
(4) Sub-Fund launched on 23 February 2023.
(5) Sub-Fund liquidated on 12 December 2023.
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

) Forward Impact on NAV
Currency “en)(()ng:ﬁ:z Non n;;ng:sg currency Total should currency
P P contracts move by 5%
UK Equity Core UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
EUR GBP 42,978 42,978 2,149
usb GBP 189 189 9
Total GBP 43,167 - - 43,167
US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CHF usb 158,755 560,764 719,519 35,976
EUR usb 65,298 34,258 99,556 4,978
Total usb 224,053 - 595,022 819,075
US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF (6)
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CHF usb 30 17,183 17,213 861
EUR usb 3 43,439 43,442 2,172
Total usb 33 - 60,622 60,655
uSD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
EUR usb 26,769 29,369 56,138 2,807
GBP usb 10,008 88,723 98,731 4,937
Total uso 36,777 - 118,092 154,869
USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
CHF usb 1,464 154,268 155,732 7,787
EUR usb 46,640 1,549,093 1,595,733 79,787
GBP usb (193,770) 131,236 (62,534) (3,127)
MXN usb 909 43,672 44,581 2,229
Total uso (144,757) - 1,878,269 1,733,512
usD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Net currency assets at 31 December 2023 were:
EUR usb 25,952 25,952 1,298
Total usb 25,952 - - 25,952

(6) Sub-Fund launched on 9 August 2023.
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is defined as the risk that the fair value of financial assets and liabilities and future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates.

As at 31 December 2024, all Sub-Funds, with the exception of the AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the All Country
Research Enhanced Index Equity Active UCITS ETF, the BetaBuilders US Equity UCITS ETF, the BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF, the Carbon
Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF, the Carbon Transition Global Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF, the China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF,
the Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF, the Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the Europe Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris
Aligned Active UCITS ETF, the Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced Index Equity
(ESG) UCITS ETF, the Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF, the Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF, the Global Research Enhanced Index Equity
(ESG) UCITS ETF, the Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF, the Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the
Nasdaq Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF, the UK Equity Core UCITS ETF, the US Equity Active UCITS ETF, the US Equity Premium Income Active UCITS
ETF, the US Growth Equity Active UCITS ETF, the US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the US Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris
Aligned UCITS ETF and the US Value Equity Active UCITS ETF are exposed to interest rate risk through their investments in liquidity instruments and bonds.
These securities are disclosed in the Schedules of Investments.

As at 31 December 2023, all Sub-Funds, with the exception of the AC Asia Pacific ex Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the BetaBuilders
US Equity UCITS ETF, the BetaBuilders US Small Cap Equity UCITS ETF, the Carbon Transition China Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF, the Carbon Transition Global
Equity (CTB) UCITS ETF, the China A Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the Climate Change Solutions UCITS ETF, the Europe Research
Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the Eurozone Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the Global Emerging Markets Research Enhanced
Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the Global Equity Multi-Factor UCITS ETF, the Global Equity Premium Income Active UCITS ETF, the Global Research Enhanced
Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF, the Global Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF, the Japan Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG)
UCITS ETF, the RMB Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF, the UK Equity Core UCITS ETF, the US Research Enhanced Index Equity (ESG) UCITS ETF and the US
Research Enhanced Index Equity SRI Paris Aligned UCITS ETF, are exposed to interest rate risk through their investments in liquidity instruments and bonds.

The Sub-Funds are also exposed to interest rate risk on cash balances and bank overdrafts, if any. The underlying collective investment schemes may face
interest rate risk; however, the Management Company monitors the exposure as part of their market risk analysis.

The Sub-Funds may also have indirect exposure to interest rate risk through their investments into ETFs, however, the Management Company monitors the
exposure as part of their market risk analysis.

The Sub-Funds may also have indirect exposure to interest rate risk through their investments into financial futures contracts and option contracts, whereby
the value of the underlying asset may fluctuate as a result of a change in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in one variable while holding all other variables constant. In practice this is unlikely to occur, and changes in
some of the assumptions may be correlated. As the sensitivity analysis uses historical data as a basis for determining future events, it does not encompass all
possible scenarios, particularly those that are of an extreme nature.

At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 had market interest rates strengthened by 0.5%, the Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable
participating shares of the Sub-Funds would have decreased as set out in the following tables. The Investment Manager believes that a variation of 0.5%
represents a reasonable estimate of how interest rates may have potentially varied.

A weakening of the interest rate would have resulted in an equal and opposite effect on the financial statements, assuming that all other variables remained
constant.

Short-term financial assets and financial liabilities are those with a residual maturity date of less than one year and long-term financial assets and financial
liabilities are those with a residual maturity date of greater than one year.

Interest rate risks analysis due to fair value and future cash flows as at 31 December 2024:

Floating Fixed Non-interest Sensitivity
Currency interest rate interest rate bearing* Total analysis of 0.5%
BetaBuilders China Aggregate Bond UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets usb 162,209 1,380,059 2,858,821 4,401,089
Long-term financial assets uso - 66,462,750 - 66,462,750
Short-term financial liabilities usb - - (1,614,735) (1,614,735)
Long-term financial liabilities usb - - - -
Total usb 162,209 67,842,809 1,244,086 69,249,104 2,022,869
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets EUR 8,528 - 115,239 123,767
Long-term financial assets EUR - 16,761,024 - 16,761,024
Short-term financial liabilities EUR - - (3,163) (3,163)
Long-term financial liabilities EUR - - - -
Total EUR 8,528 16,761,024 112,076 16,881,628 156,858
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10. Financial risk management (continued)

10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Floating Fixed Non-interest Sensitivity
Currency interest rate interest rate bearing* Total analysis of 0.5%
BetaBuilders EUR Govt Bond UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets EUR 9,845 - 1,093,243 1,103,088
Long-term financial assets EUR - 14,608,306 - 14,608,306
Short-term financial liabilities EUR - - (939,054) (939,054)
Long-term financial liabilities EUR - - - -
Total EUR 9,845 14,608,306 154,189 14,772,340 526,359
BetaBuilders UK Gilt 1-5 yr UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets GBP 16,576 - 4,144,048 4,160,624
Long-term financial assets GBP - 35,859,682 - 35,859,682
Short-term financial liabilities GBP - - (3,907,101) (3,907,101)
Long-term financial liabilities GBP - - - -
Total GBP 16,576 35,859,682 236,947 36,113,205 519,804
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-1yr UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets usb 178,648,574 3,287,068,284 339,055,480 3,804,772,338
Long-term financial assets uso - - - -
Short-term financial liabilities usb (13,685) (33,869,704) (566,607,466) (600,490,855)
Long-term financial liabilities uso - - - -
Total usb 178,634,889 3,253,198,580 (227,551,986) 3,204,281,483 4,292,596
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 0-3 Months UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets usb 81,925,734 904,554,769 168,359,062 1,154,839,565
Long-term financial assets usop - - - -
Short-term financial liabilities usb - (12,656,000) (263,079,942) (275,735,942)
Long-term financial liabilities usp - - - -
Total usb 81,925,734 891,898,769 (94,720,880) 879,103,623 489,652
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond 1-3 yr UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets usb 101,239 354,880 3,323,576 3,779,695
Long-term financial assets uso - 105,713,014 - 105,713,014
Short-term financial liabilities usb - - (2,787,001) (2,787,001)
Long-term financial liabilities usb - - - -
Total uso 101,239 106,067,894 536,575 106,705,708 992,902
BetaBuilders US Treasury Bond UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets uso 78,804 1,133,093 3,855,071 5,066,968
Long-term financial assets usb - 71,492,993 - 71,492,993
Short-term financial liabilities usb (171) - (3,503,121) (3,503,292)
Long-term financial liabilities usb - - - -
Total usb 78,633 72,626,086 351,950 73,056,669 2,215,568
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Floating Fixed Non-interest Sensitivity
Currency interest rate interest rate bearing* Total analysis of 0.5%
EUR Corporate Bond 1-5 yr Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets EUR 625,163 - 5,149,309 5,774,472
Long-term financial assets EUR 65,899,060 131,867,476 - 197,766,536
Short-term financial liabilities EUR - - (3,157,157) (3,157,157)
Long-term financial liabilities EUR - - - -
Total EUR 66,524,223 131,867,476 1,992,152 200,383,851 2,616,056
EUR Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets EUR 1,735,341 - 8,981,536 10,716,877
Long-term financial assets EUR 104,354,753 301,890,444 - 406,245,197
Short-term financial liabilities EUR - - (4,751,492) (4,751,492)
Long-term financial liabilities EUR - - - -
Total EUR 106,090,094 301,890,444 4,230,044 412,210,582 8,840,302
EUR High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (1)
Short-term financial assets EUR 605,199 94,070 551,414 1,250,683
Long-term financial assets EUR 8,189,951 23,515,374 - 31,705,325
Short-term financial liabilities EUR - - (168,337) (168,337)
Long-term financial liabilities EUR - - - -
Total EUR 8,795,150 23,609,444 383,077 32,787,671 430,294
EUR Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets EUR 141,014,389 500,391,657 4,342,584 645,748,630
Long-term financial assets EUR 117,772,730 109,336,360 - 227,109,090
Short-term financial liabilities EUR - - (4,732,555) (4,732,555)
Long-term financial liabilities EUR - - - -
Total EUR 258,787,119 609,728,017 (389,971) 868,125,165 1,911,938
GBP Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets GBP 30,301,161 82,047,609 1,827,402 114,176,172
Long-term financial assets GBP 4,044,707 53,865,700 - 57,910,407
Short-term financial liabilities GBP (109,790) - (1,262,941) (1,372,731)
Long-term financial liabilities GBP - - - -
Total GBP 34,236,078 135,913,309 564,461 170,713,848 562,537
Global Aggregate Bond Active UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets uso 15,393,136 - 7,755,668 23,148,804
Long-term financial assets usb 25,879,036 150,544,667 30,560 176,454,263
Short-term financial liabilities usb - - (16,110,625) (16,110,625)
Long-term financial liabilities usb - - - -
Total usb 41,272,172 150,544,667 (8,324,397) 183,492,442 5,808,398

(1) Sub-Fund launched on 10 December 2024.
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10. Financial risk management (continued)
10.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Floating Fixed Non-interest Sensitivity
Currency interest rate interest rate bearing* Total analysis of 0.5%
Global High Yield Corporate Bond Multi-Factor UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets uso 2,818,524 - 5,976,993 8,795,517
Long-term financial assets usb 8,646,009 251,170,358 - 259,816,367
Short-term financial liabilities usb - - (2,709,995) (2,709,995)
Long-term financial liabilities uso - - - -
Total usb 11,464,533 251,170,358 3,266,998 265,901,889 4,489,627
Green Social Sustainable Bond UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets usb 1,281,325 580,153 841,427 2,702,905
Long-term financial assets usb 8,595,387 26,875,010 - 35,470,397
Short-term financial liabilities uso - - (664,883) (664,883)
Long-term financial liabilities uso - - - -
Total usb 9,876,712 27,455,163 176,544 37,508,419 850,450
UuSD Corporate Bond Research Enhanced Index (ESG) UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets usb 694,096 - 1,513,132 2,207,228
Long-term financial assets uso 7,753,214 32,177,372 - 39,930,586
Short-term financial liabilities usob - - (1,593,604) (1,593,604)
Long-term financial liabilities uso - - - -
Total usb 8,447,310 32,177,372 (80,472) 40,544,210 1,359,656
USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets uso 3,331,805 4,871,129 14,639,846 22,842,780
Long-term financial assets usb 2,332,435 530,492,909 - 532,825,344
Short-term financial liabilities uso - (136,850) (9,617,443) (9,754,293)
Long-term financial liabilities uso - - - -
Total usb 5,664,240 535,227,188 5,022,403 545,913,831 18,291,004
usD High Yield Bond Active UCITS ETF (2)
Short-term financial assets usb 746,733 469,357 427,413 1,643,503
Long-term financial assets uso 203,884 23,207,456 - 23,411,340
Short-term financial liabilities usb - - (120,763) (120,763)
Long-term financial liabilities usb - - - -
Total usb 950,617 23,676,813 306,650 24,934,080 374,712
usD Ultra-Short Income UCITS ETF
Short-term financial assets usp 167,954,629 164,750,591 4,280,846 336,986,066
Long-term financial assets usb 128,860,328 126,116,724 - 254,977,052
Short-term financial liabilities usb - - (8,466,183) (8,466,183)
Long-term financial liabilities usb - - - -
Total usb 296,814,957 290,867,315 (4,185,337) 583,496,935 1,621,359

(2) Sub-Fund launched on 26 November 2024.

*The non-interest bearing category includes equities, payables, receivables